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Preface

New to This Edition
Coverage of the Latest Standards

Students need to begin understanding and applying standard changes to critical topics such as revenue recogni-
tion and leasing as early as possible in their college curriculum to be prepared for the CPA exam and practice
when they graduate. With this in mind, key second edition updates include:

* Chapter 10 incorporates ASU 2015-11, which changes the measurement of the market value for lower-
of-cost-or-market computations to net realizable value for all firms except those using LIFO or RIM.

* Chapter 14 incorporates ASU 2015-03, which changes the accounting method for debt issue costs under
U.S. GAAP and converges U.S. GAAP with IFRS. Debt issue costs are now netted with the debt, thus
changing the effective interest rate.

» Chapter 16 is significantly altered to incorporate ASU 2016-01, ASU 2016-13, and changes to IFRS 9.
The principal impact of these standards is to the subsequent measurement of equity investments and the
impairment of debt investments.

* Chapter 17 incorporates ASU 2015-17, which simplifies the presentation of deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities on the balance sheet. The deferred tax accounts are now reported only as noncurrent assets and
liabilities.

* Chapter 18 is a new chapter that incorporates the entirely new lease standards, ASU 2016-02, and IFRS 16.

* Chapter 19 incorporates ASU 2016-09, which allows companies the option of reporting actual forfeitures
in addition to the current method of estimated forfeitures.

Solving Teaching and Learning Challenges

Our textbook is based on the belief that success in today’s business environment requires an intuitive under-
standing of financial reporting and the ability to interpret and apply changing standards. In a world where there
are simply too many rules to memorize, a traditional rules-based teaching approach has become inefficient
and inadequate. Our goals for this textbook are aligned with the American Accounting Association’s Pathways
Commission, which seeks to correct misperceptions about the mechanical nature of accounting and to shift
focus to the importance of critical thinking by accounting decision makers, particularly when the business
context and related accounting rules require judgment.

We seek to develop the judgment and decision-making skills that accountants require to critically evaluate
financial accounting methods and the financial statements. Using the conceptual framework fundamentals as
a guide throughout, we emphasize solving accounting problems by applying standards, understanding how
business activities are reflected in the financial statements, and critically evaluating the trade-offs and assump-
tions of accounting methods.

Coverage Grounded in the Conceptual Principles

To apply what they learn in the classroom to their professional lives, students need a solid grounding in the
conceptual principles of financial reporting and the economic concepts underlying accounting. Thus, we open
the textbook with coverage of these foundational topics, including the conceptual framework. In each chapter,
sections called “The Conceptual Framework Connection” guide discussions and analyses by explicitly lay-
ing out the relevant conceptual underpinnings. For example, in the chapter on long-term operating assets, we
discuss the capitalization decision.

Focus on Judgment, Decision Making, and Critical-Thinking
Skills

Increasingly, the accounting profession and business world are looking for well-trained professionals with
strong problem-solving and critical-thinking skills.
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Judgment

To prepare students for future careers, we highlight the various judgments involved in all major topics in the
context of real-business situations. For example, in Chapter 3, we discuss the factors that Activision Blizzard,
a leading provider of interactive game services, considered when applying revenue recognition rules to its new
technology and virtual goods. Our goal is to develop students’ critical-thinking skills in assessing the assump-
tions, choices, and judgments that managers make when analyzing and reporting the business activities of a
company. For example, many rules govern impairments, but ultimately, reporting comes down to judgment
related to issues such as the expectation of future cash flows. Future career success depends on students’ under-
standing the importance and prominence of the many judgments that inform a final set of financial statements.

Real-World Business

We pair our focus on real business situations with meaningful real-company examples. We examine financial
statements from several high-profile firms—such as Johnson & Johnson, Netflix, Tesla, Amazon, Snap, Face-
book, General Electric, Ericsson, Target, Adidas, Nike, Novartis, Coca-Cola, Pepsi Bottling Group, Starbucks,
Walmart, and Ford Motor Company—in examples throughout the book.

In addition, our Practitioner Interviews feature question-and-answer-style exchanges with leaders in the
field that provide insights into topics from a practitioner perspective and timely viewpoints on the business
impact of rapidly evolving standards. Interviews profile executives at major firms—the Big Four accounting
firms and name-brand companies such as Microsoft—as well as members of standard-setting boards.

Problem-Solving Skills

We emphasize problem solving within the chapters with worked examples accompanying every important
concept. The consistent problem-solving methodology utilizes a problem/solution format and highlights the
logic guiding the process, fostering students’ ability to tackle problems on their own.

A variety of end-of-chapter exercises revolves around judgment and decision making. We include short
problems and time-intensive cases that emphasize building students’ ability to read and interpret authoritative
accounting literature.

Highlighting Key Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
Standards

The book’s central focus and grounding for each topic is U.S. GAAP. When IFRS diverges, we address the
key conceptual differences in separate sections, often working through examples that parallel the GAAP cov-
erage and providing tables with side-by-side comparisons of the GAAP and IFRS standards. With the aim of
preparing students to apply the latest standards, we highlight key differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP as
pertinent. Our approach allows the instructor flexibility in IFRS topics covered and the depth of coverage. End-
of-chapter summaries recap the main points for each section and contrast the U.S. GAAP and IFRS standards.

Presenting both sets of standards is important because the business world now operates in a global setting.
Given the large number of multinational firms and foreign subsidiaries in the United States and the mobility
of the workforce across international borders, students need to understand both IFRS and U.S. GAAP.

Reassessment of Coverage

We give fresh consideration to the necessary and proper content of an intermediate textbook. Due to changes
in the business world and in the authoritative accounting literature, some topics may warrant less coverage
while others have gained importance. This focused reconsideration of topical coverage will set students on a
trajectory for success in their accounting careers and on the CPA exam.

We have chosen to reassess coverage of topics based primarily on five criteria: (1) The topic is repeated
elsewhere in the normal accounting curriculum, (2) the topic is industry specific, (3) the topic covers transac-
tions/events that rarely occur, (4) the particular accounting method is not typically allowed under U.S. GAAP
or IFRS, and (5) the topic covers transactions/events that do not commonly occur and the accounting treatment
of the transaction is rule intensive.

By reassessing the coverage, we have made room for a number of topics not typically included in texts that
have gained importance in the field (for example, tax contingencies, and revaluations of long-term operating
assets under IFRS).
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Get Students Ready . . .

Accounting Cycle Tutorial =~~~ :

Accessed through MyLab Accounting by computer,
smartphone, or tablet, the Accounting Cycle Tutorial
provides a refresher on the
basics so students are ready for
intermediate-level work. This
updated version includes a new
comprehensive problem.

L]

(=),

firoounting
Cycle Tutorial

ETTPETPEPPRTP PP Time Value of Money Tutorial

: The Time Value of Money Tutorial in MyLab ensures that students
understand the basic theory and formulas of the TVM while helping
test their ability to apply the TVM in the measurement of financial
statement items. Students work through two sections. The first is to help

Time Value of
Money Tutorial

Roger Davis

TUTORIAL FROGRESS -

BesourtesGionsry | @

Worked Problem Videos

them understand the theory using
whichever method the instructor
chooses (manually, through Excel,
with tables, or via a calculator), and
the second is to give students the
opportunity to apply the theory by
giving them a number of scenarios
regarding each financial statement.

Worked Problem Videos provide step-by-step explanations of problems similar to those students will
encounter in the text, helping them to understand how to arrive at the correct answers themselves.

Concept Overview Videos

Concept Overview Videos are short videos focusing on key concepts available in MyLab Accounting
to further emphasize major concepts. These videos can be assigned as homework or used as part of

a flipped classroom strategy.
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To Be Decision Makers . . .

Conceptual Framework Connections ...........

Each chapter guides students through discussions and analysis
with a solid grounding in the conceptual framework fundamentals
of reporting relevant, useful, timely, and understandable financial

information.
THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK CONNECTION:
Usefulness and Limitations of the Income Statements
E m p h as i s on The income statements provide useful information to financial statement users in three ways:
1. Evaluate past performance. Income statements enable financial statement users to evalu-

------ JUdgment and ate the entity’s past performance. By disclosing separate components of revenues and
. - = - expenses, income statements provide useful information about the entity’s overall past
. D ecision M a kl n g performance (i.e., the earnings) and identify the main factors that influence performance.
: Income statements provide confirmatory value, which is an aspect of relevant information.
: Sections in each Chapter identify For example, investors are interested in whether companies meet or beat analysts’ forecasts
: key management decision pOthS, of nef income as indicated by the statement of net income. o
: . . 2. Predict future performance. Income statements have predictive value because they pro-
. and a unique full Chapter dedicated vide a basis for estimating future performance. Predictive value is an aspect of relevance.
. to judgment and research identi- For example, a firm with a trend of earnings growth over the last 10 years may continue
: . . that growth in the future.
: fies the assumptions, choices, and ) - . )
. . i ? 3. Assess risks or uncertainties of achieving future cash flows. Income statements provide
. financial statement 1mmpacts from information that is useful in assessing the risks or uncertainties of achieving future cash
: I‘CpOI‘tng business activities. f]o\fzs. Some items of income are more persistent in nature than others, making them str01'1g
. indicators of future cash flows. For example, revenue from normal sales tends to persist
. from year to year. However, a gain from the sale of a specialized piece of equipment is

JUDGMENTS IN ACCOUNTING
Inventory Costs

Judgment is crucial in determining the initial measurement of inventory. Deciding what costs
to include in inventory is often subjective, as indicated by the Codification’s statement that
“although principles for the determination of inventory costs may be easily stated, their appli-
cation . . . is difficult because of the variety of considerations in the allocation of costs and
charges.”6 As a simple example, consider the requirement that companies capitalize freight-in
costs into the inventory account whereas abnormal freight must be expensed. Deciding what
freight cost is normal versus what is abnormal requires subjective judgment. For example, if
an auto dealer pays freight for a shipment of vehicles delivered from the factory, it is a normal
part of the dealer’s business operations. In this case, the freight is considered part of the cost
of inventory because it was reasonable and necessary to have the inventory in place and ready
for sale. However, if sales begin to slow down and the dealer holds too much inventory, this
inventory may have to be shipped to alternate locations. This additional freight may be con-
sidered abnormal and expensed because it is not a reasonable and necessary cost and does not
represent a part of inventory value.

The decision to use the gross or net method of recording purchase discounts also affects
the balance in the inventory account. In Example 10.4, the final balance in the inventory
account is $4,960 using the gross method and $4,900 using the net method for the same three
transactions. Thus, the inventory balance is impacted by management’s choice of the method
to account for the discount.

Worked Examples .................................................. :

Bolster students’ problem-solving skills with EXAMPLE 15.4 Common Stock Issue Costs

mOdel prOblem SOluthnS fOr every ll'nportant PROBLEM: Piper Products decided to raise additional financing by issuing common stock. The

COIlCCpt. company received $4,000 in exchange for 1,000 shares of $1 par value common stock. Piper
paid an underwriter $200 in stock issue costs. What is the necessary journal entry to record

this transaction?

SOLUTION: The $200 of issue costs reduces Piper’s cash received from the sale of the stock.

Thus, it records the cash received at the net amount of $3,800, which is the $4,000 total pro-

ceeds less the $200 stock issue costs. The issue costs also reduce the additional paid-in capital

in excess of par—common by $200. The journal entry follows.

Account Current Year
Cash 3,800
Common Stock — $1 par 1,000

Additional Paid-in Capital in Excess of Par - Common 2,800
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To Think Like Accountants . . .

Financials

financial statement analysis.

-‘Focus on Real-Company

Disclosures and statements from well-
known companies provide a connection to
the application of accounting concepts and

January 28, 2017

From Financial Statement Notes:
NOTE 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Merchandise Inventories and Cost of Sales

EXHIBIT 10.11 Inventory Disclosures, Foot Locker, Inc., Financial Statements,

Merchandise inventories for the Company’s Athletic Stores are valued at the lower of cost or market
using the retail inventory method. Cost for retail stores is determined on the last-in, first-out (“LIFO")
basis for domestic inventories and on the first-in, first-out (“FIFO") basis for international inventories.
Merchandise inventories of the Direct-to-Customers business are valued at the lower of cost or market

using weighted-average cost, which approximates FIFO

The retail inventory method is commonly used by retail companies t
calculate gross margins due to its practicality. Under the retail inventg
applying a cost-to-retail percentage across groupings of similar items|
to-retail percentage is applied to ending inventory at its current ownel
cost of ending inventory on a department basis. The Company provid
ing prices when the inventory has not been marked down to market.|

NOTE 5: Merchandise Inventories

2016 2015
(in millions)

LIFO inventories $ 861 $ 847

FIFO inventories 446 438

Total merchandise inventories $1,307 $1.285

The value of the Company’s LIFO inventories, as calculated on a LIF
calculated on a FIFO basis.

Source: Foot Locker, Inc. January 28, 2017 Financial Statement. https://wwwj
data/850209/000085020917000003/f1-20170128x 10k htm, pages 44 and 52.

Inventory Disclosures: IFRS. IFRS inventory disclo:
under U.S. GAAP. Additionally, IFRS requires firms to report

Classification of Dividends, Interest, and Taxes: IFRS
IFRS differs from U.S. GAAP in the classification of the following items:

Cash receipts from interest and dividends
Cash payments for taxes

Cash payments for interest

Cash payments for dividends

Ea

As shown in Exhibit 6.8, U.S. GAAP requires companies to report the preceding items
in operating cash flows except for the payment of dividends. IFRS grants companies discre-
tion in clz ng these items as operating, investing, or financing activities as Exhibit 6.8
illustrates.

EXHIBIT 6.8 Classification of Dividends, Interest, and Taxes

Standard

Activities U.S. GAAP IFRS

Cash receipts from interest and Operating Operating or Investing

dividends

Cash payments for taxes Operating Operating activities, unless they
can be specifically identified with
Financing or Investing activities.

Cash payments for interest Operating Operating or Financing

Cash payments for dividends to Financing Operating or Financing

owners

Question-and-answer style exchanges
with leaders in the field provide insight
on topics from both standard-setter and
practitioner perspectives and timely
viewpoints on changing standards.
Assign the new discussion questions to
challenge students’ understanding and

critical-thinking skills.

Key IFRS

Differences

To prepare students for the
global business world, IFRS
material is highlighted in
separate chapter sections.
Side-by-side comparisons of
GAAP and IFRS standards
focus students on the key
differences.

Interview

BARBARA J. WIGHT [
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER [

material market deliveries, it might want to use LIFO for mate-
rials subject to inflation and FIFO for materials whose pricing
is stable or even in decline.

TAYLOR GUITARS »

3 Describe the most common components included in the unit
cost of inventory at Taylor.

Barbara J. Wight

Barbara Wight is Chief Financial Officer at Taylor Guitars, an
industry-leading guitar manufacturer whose instruments are
played by leading musicians worldwide. She directs all financial,
information technology, and legal affairs on behalf of the company
and oversees various aspects of operations management, multina-
tional ing, isitions, and i ional c i

Taylor states inventories at standard cost based on the expected
raw material costs, labor, and overhead. Our primary raw mate-
rial is wood.

At the beginning of each year, Taylor determines how many total
labor hours it will need to build the forecasted number of guitars
and allocates overhead (and labor) to each guitar based on the
calculated overhead and labor rate. The overhead rate times the
number of labor hours per guitar equals overhead applied to
each guitar unit. Taylor drives production based on a hybrid
model; we build to order and to a sales forecast of specific mod-
els to ensure that high-turnover models are in stock at all times.

4 What are the most significant judgments employed in the deci-
sion to write inventory down to market when applying the lower-
of-cost-ormarket rule?
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From the First Day of Class and into Their Careers

AN

Becker - - - -coiiiii

Auto-Graded Excel Projects

Using proven, field-tested technology, MyLab Accounting’s new auto-graded Excel
Projects allow instructors to seamlessly integrate Excel content into their course with- -

out having to manually grade spreadsheets. Students have the opportunity to practice :

important accounting skills in Microsoft Excel, helping them to master key concepts

and gain proficiency with Excel. Students simply download a spreadsheet, work liveon -

an accounting problem in Excel, and then upload that file back into MyLab Account- :
ing where they receive reports on their work that provide personalized, detailed feed-
back to pinpoint where they went wrong on any step of the problem.

BECKER

PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION®

Sample problems assignable in MyLab Accounting provide
an introduction to the CPA Exam format and an opportunity
for early practice with CPA exam style questions.

A\BE

Becker CPA Exam Review multiple-choice questions are available in
MyLab Accounting.

©Q Mo

00 M-

The following are held by YRT Corporation at December 31, Year |
Cash in checking account $15,000
Petty cash 250
Check from customer dated 01/31/Year 2 350
3-month certificate of deposit, due 01/15/Year 2 40,000
12-month certificate of deposit, due 02/28/Year 2 36,000
Cash in bond sinking fund account 60,000

YRT Corporation classifies investments with original maturities of three months or less as cash equivalents.
In its December 31, Year 1, balance sheet, what amount should YRT Corporation report as cash and cash
equivalents?

a. $15250 b, $55.250 c. $55600 d. $151.250

Fernandez Company had an accounts receivable balance of $150,000 on December 31, Year 2, and $175,000
on December 31, Year 3. The company wrote off $40,000 of accounts receivable during Year 3. Sales for Year
3 totaled $600,000, and all sales were on account.

Dovwnioad Staring
Matenals

Wark Project an your
Computer

Upload Compratea
s t

Submit Preject for
[ Grading

a. $575,000

‘The amount collected from customers on accounts receivable during Year 3 was:
b. $531,000

c. $600,000 d. $535,000

High-Quality and High-Quantity

End-of-Chapter Exercises

Keyed to learning objectives, the items here progress in difficulty to test

student understanding from the conceptual to multi-concept applied level.
Case exercises build students’ ability to apply judgment-based - - - -
analysis, read and interpret accounting literature, and analyze financial ~ :

statements.

Problem:

(314}

20

1. Present Value of an Ordinary Annuity, Future Value of an Ordinary Annuity. FA Manufacturers must
make several investment decisions related o its business operations. Interest is compounded annually. Ana-
lyze the following independent situations to help FA make a profitable investment.

. FA Manufacturers reported a $150.000 debt that matures in eight years. In order to accumulate sufficient
funds to pay for the debt, the company decided to make eight equal annual payments into a fund paying
5% interest. What amount must FA Manufacturers deposit into the fund at the end of each year so that
the company will be able to liquidate its debt?

On January 1, 2019, FA Manufacturers decided to purchase a piece of heavy machinery. FA agreed to

=

pay $50.000 on the date of purchase and would like to pay the remaining balance with six annual install-
give to the machinery?

ments of $20,000 ing at
) CASES Judgment Cases
. FA purchased a new machine and

payments start in one year. Given Jud

o

t Case 1: Balance Sheet

P7-2. Present Value, Present Value of an Of
tors needs to purchase a new truck. Tl

on the market. Boyne’s two alternativel

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash
Trading Securities at Fair Value
Accounts Receivable  net
Merchandise Inventory
Office Supplies
Prepaid Rent
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets:
Investments
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Land

First Things Computing, Inc.
Balance Sheet
As of December 31,2019

‘The CFO of First Things Computing, Inc. (FTC) prepared the following balance sheet as of December 31,2019,
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Instructor Teaching Resources

This program comes with the following teaching resources.

Supplements Available to Instructors at
www.pearsonhighered.com/gordon

Supplement Features

Instructor’s Manual
Created in collaboration with
Mary Cline from Rock Valley College

Regan Garey from Lock Haven University

Course Content

Tips for Taking Your Course from Traditional to Hybrid, Blended, or Online

Standard Syllabi for Intermediate Accounting—2-semester course

Standard Syllabi for Intermediate Accounting—3-semester course

“First Day of Class” student handouts include
e StudentWalk-Through to Set Up MAL

e Tips on How to Get an A in This Class

Chapter Content

Chapter Overview contains a brief synopsis and overview of each chapter.

Learning Objectives

Teaching Outline with Lecture Notes walks instructors through what material
to cover and what examples to use when addressing certain items within
the chapter.

IFRS Breakaways outline when IFRS diverges and addresses the key con-
ceptual differences in these separate sections.

Student Supplement to Teaching Outline can be printed for (or emailed to)
students. This outline will aid students in following the class and taking
notes.

e Assignment Grid indicates for each question, exercise, and problem the cor
responding learning objective, the estimated completion time, and availability
of Final Answer Questions and Worked Solutions in MyLab Accounting.

e Suggestions for Class Activities are organized by learning objectives, allow-
ing instructors to choose activities that fit with each day's discussions.

e Model answers to Interview Discussion Questions

Guidance on Incorporating IFRS Material offers instructors direction on how
to discuss the IFRS with their students.

Solutions Manual

Created by the textbook authors

N\

Contains solutions to all end-of-chapter questions, including short exercises,
exercises, and problems J
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Supplements Available to Instructors at
www.pearsonhighered.com/gordon

Supplement Features

Test Bank

Question Types

Created in collaboration with

Michael P. Griffin from University of Massachusetts
Dartmouth

Kate Demarest from Carroll Community College

True/False and multiple-choice questions, essays, and problems make up more
than 2,500 questions in this test bank. Most question types consist of both
conceptual and computational problems, to ensure that students understand
both the theory and the application. The Algorithmic test bank is available in
MyLab Accounting. Most computational questions are formulated with an
algorithm so that the same question is available with unique values. This offers
instructors a greater pool of questions to select from and will help ensure that
each student has a different test.

All questions include the following annotations:

e Difficulty level (1 for straight recall, 2 for some analysis, 3 for complex
analysis)

Type (multiple-choice and true/false questions, short-answer, essays, and
problems)

IFRS/GAAP indicator

Learning Objective reference

e AACSB learning standard (Ethical Understanding and Reasoning; Analyti-
cal Thinking Skills; Information Technology; Diverse and Multicultural Work;
Reflective Thinking; Application of Knowledge)

Computerized TestGen

TestGen allows instructors to:

e Customize, save, and generate classroom tests.

e Edit, add, or delete questions from the Test Item Files.
® Analyze test results.

e Organize a database of tests and student results.

PowerPoints

Created in collaboration with

Alisa Brink from Virginia Commonwealth University

Instructor PowerPoint Presentations mirror the organization of the text and
include key exhibits, worked examples, and lecture notes. Instructors can
download PowerPoint presentations that best match their teaching

style.

e [ecture Support Only presentations consist of the chapter outline mirror-
ing the text and include all main headings, key terms, key figures, and key

tables.

* Worked Examples Only presentations consist of selected worked examples
from the text for use as in-class demonstration problems.

e Combined presentations consist of both the lecture support and the exam-
ples organized to correspond to the text.

Modifying supplied PowerPoint presentations to correspond with classes can

be a time-consuming task. To aid in this task, instructors can download a table

of contents of the PowerPoint presentations. These documents will list the slide
numbers for chapter content for quick removal of content that will not be covered in
class.

Student PowerPoint Presentations are abridged versions of the Instructor
PowerPoint Presentations and can be used as a study tool or note-taking tool
for students.

The Image Library contains all image files from the text to assist instructors
in modifying our supplied PowerPoint presentations or in creating their own
PowerPoint presentations.

J
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MyLab Accounting For Students

http://www.pearson.com/mylab/accounting Online Homework and Assessment Manager

e Pearson eText e Dynamic Study Modules

* Accounting Cycle Tutorial e Help Me Solve This

* Time Value of Money Tutorial e Student PowerPoint Presentations
*  Worked Problem Videos * Directed Reading Packets

* Concept Overview Videos e Study Plan

* Auto-Graded Excel Projects e Flash Cards

Reach Every Student with MyLab Accounting

MyLab Accounting is the teaching and learning platform that empowers you to reach every stu-
dent. By combining trusted author content with digital tools and a flexible platform, MyLab
personalizes the learning experience and improves results for each student.

Deliver Trusted Content

You deserve teaching materials that meet your own high standards for your course. That’s why we
partner with highly respected authors to develop interactive content and course-specific resources
that you can trust—and that keep your students engaged.

Empower Each Learner

Each student learns at a different pace. Personalized learning pinpoints the precise areas where
each student needs practice, giving all students the support they need—when and where they need
it—to be successful.

Teach Your Course Your Way

Your course is unique. So whether you’d like to build your own assignments, teach multiple
sections, or set prerequisites, MyLab Accounting gives you the flexibility to easily create your
course to fit your needs.

Improve Student Results

When you teach with MyLab, student performance improves. That’s why instructors have chosen
MyLab for over 20 years, touching the lives of over 50 million students.


http://www.pearson.com/mylab/accounting
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BECKER

PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION®

Study Smart.

Make better use of your study time
Specially designed Adapt2U pre-assessment
provides a recommended study path. Plus,
short lectures fit your busy schedule.

Track your progress

Study planner and progress tests track
performance, so you can focus on where
you need the most help while building
your confidence.

Develop higher-order skills thinking
Interactive simulations and videos move
you from memorization to conceptual
thinking - essential for the new CPA Exam.

Learn what’s needed

Course materials relevant to the exam are
regularly updated, so you have the most
up-to-date content.

|
&

When you choose Becker Professional Education to help prepare you to pass
the new CPA Exam, you gain access to a fully integrated CPA Exam Review course.

Make the process easier

Now taking notes, highlighting text, searching
for key words and controlling video speed are
more intuitive.

Choose from 3 flexible course formats
Online, LiveOnline or Live classroom format
with nearly 200 locations worldwide; plus,

every format offers the same course materials.

Our NEW LiveOnline format is

for you if you prefer to learn in the
comfort of your home but thrive
on a structured schedule with
real-time access to engaging and
knowledgeable instructors.

The Becker Difference

MORE THAN ALL TOP

100

1 MILLION

Candidates Have
Prepared for the CPA Exam
with Becker

© 2017 Becker Professional Education Corporation. All rights reserved.
Becker Professional Education 3005 Highland Parkway, Downers Grove, IL 60515-5799

Accounting Firms Use
Becker for Their Staff

MORE THAN OVER

2K

Firms, Organizations
and Government
Bodies Use Becker

90%

Watt Sells Award Winners
from 2005-2015 Have
Prepared with Becker

00600
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The Financial Reporting

Environment

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

@ Define financial accounting and describe the demand for
financial information, including the role of general-purpose
financial statements, the information needs of financial
statement users and other parties, and the factors that
influence financial reporting.

@ Discuss the role of financial accounting standard setters in

the United States and internationally.

Detail the standard-setting process.

Explain three recent trends in standard setting: principles-

based, rules-based, and objectives-oriented standards; the

asset/liability approach; and fair value measurements.

(A1 c)

Introduction

WELL-DEVELOPED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
ENABLE WORLDWIDE capital markets to function effec-
tively by providing credibility to published financial infor-
mation used by investors, creditors, and others. Transparent
financial information included in the financial statements

Andrew Burton/Getty Images

allows these parties to make rational investment and credit
decisions that direct capital to corporations that develop new
products and technology, create employment, and encourage
growth and development.

Consider Twitter, Inc., the social networking company,
which raised capital of over $2.09 billion by issuing 80.5
million shares of stock in its initial public offering. Investors
subsequently traded over 194 million shares of Twitter’s
stock valued at $8.2 billion during the first month after the
initial public offering.! These investors based their decisions
on the financial information provided by Twitter. The capital
provided by such investments fuels the overall economy and
directs capital to its most productive uses.

Multiple factors in the overall accounting environment
influence economic decisions at the firm level. For exam-
ple, user groups such as investors and creditors impact
the demand for accounting information and influence the
standard-setting bodies. Financial reporting encompasses
much more than the financial statements: Other key ele-
ments include the footnotes to the financial statements,
the letter to the owners, management’s discussion and
analysis, the auditors’ report, the management report, and
press releases. Financial statement users rely on all cate-
gories of financial information to make rational economic
decisions.

In this chapter, we first define financial accounting and
discuss the demand and supply of financial information. We
identify the economic entities that prepare financial infor-
mation as well as the users of financial information. We then
explore factors that shape accounting information. We also
overview the historical development of the U.S. and inter-
national standard-setting bodies and discuss the standard-
setting processes. We conclude the chapter with a review of
recent trends in standard setting. €€

1Twitter, Inc. is traded on the New York Stock Exchange. It made its
initial public offering on November 7, 2013.
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@ Define financial
accounting and
describe the
demand for financial
information, including
the role of general-
purpose financial
statements, the
information needs of
financial statement
users and other
parties, and the factors
that influence financial
reporting.

Overview of Financial Reporting

Financial accounting is the process of identifying, measuring, and communicating financial
information about an economic entity to various user groups within the legal, economic, political,
and social environment. This definition contains four major elements:

1. Financial information

2. Economic entity

3. User groups

4. Legal, economic, political, and social environment

We will examine these elements in the following sections of the chapter.

Financial Information

Financial information falls into two categories: information that is or that is not governed by rules
set forth by the accounting standard-setting bodies. Firms prepare the financial statements and the
footnotes to the financial statements (also referred to as footnote disclosures) based on accounting
standard setters’ rules. In contrast, the letter to the owners, management’s discussion and analysis,
the auditors’ report, the management report, and press releases are not governed by the accounting
standarzd-setting bodies, although they are regulated to some degree by other authoritative
bodies.

Demand for Financial Information. The form, content, and extent that firms provide
financial information is based on market participant demand. Financial accounting provides infor-
mation that enables users to evaluate economic entities and make efficient resource allocation
decisions based on the risks and returns of a particular investment. This process directs capital
flows to their most productive uses. In this way, the demand for financial information is linked to
the allocation of scarce resources, as illustrated in Exhibit 1.1.

EXHIBIT 1.1 Demand for Financial Information

_— ; o Economic
User Decisions regarding Information is TS [l
—> risks and rewards of ——>  required to aid in —> ) .
groups . " : financial
resource allocation decision making . )
information

Capital is a scarce resource. How do investors and creditors make decisions regarding the
amount of capital to invest in a given entity? Accountants report the economic performance and
financial position of the firm so that potential debt and equity investors can adequately assess the
risks and returns of investing in the entity. Similarly, lenders can use the financial statements to
assess the potential for payment. For example, a bank limited in the number of loans that it can
make would clearly prefer to lend to a business that has been profitable over the last five years
rather than one that has not.

Transparent and complete financial statements aid investors in assessing the amounts and
timing of future cash flows, as well as the uncertainty of cash flow realization. However, financial
statement users should be aware that performance-based compensation can create an incentive for
managers to strategically manage—or to misreport—financial statements. Compensating manag-
ers based upon reported net income provides a financial incentive to inflate net income. For
example, when the Securities and Exchange Commission found that the Computer Sciences
Corporation (CSC) committed accounting fraud that increased net earnings in 2010 and 2011,

%For a discussion of the financial statements and many of these other items, see Chapters 5 and 6.
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CSC’s CEO agreed to pay back $3.7 million of compensation he received based on the fraudulent
earnings.3 Financial accounting standards seek to limit this type of management behavior. Most
managers faithfully report their financial statements, but it is important for standard setters and
auditors to be aware of incentives to alter net income.

Sources of Financial Information. The financial reporting process generates a signifi-
cant amount of financial information that yields the four basic financial statements, as well as the
footnote disclosures. In the chapters that follow, we examine the theory, rationale, and principles
underlying the four basic financial statements:

* The balance sheet (also referred to as the statement of financial position)

« The statement of comprehensive income®

* The statement of cash flows
* The statement of shareholders’ equity

Published financial statements are called general-purpose financial statements because
they provide information to a wide spectrum of user groups: investors, creditors, financial ana-
lysts, customers, employees, competitors, suppliers, unions, and government agencies. Although
considered general purpose, most financial information is provided to satisfy users with limited
ability or authority to obtain additional information, which includes investors and creditors. The
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), which is the body responsible for promulgating
U.S. GAAP, identifies investors, lenders, and other creditors as the primary users of the financial
statements.

Financial statements are the culmination of the financial reporting process. These financial
statements, along with the accompanying footnote disclosures, are the primary source of publicly
available financial information for investors and creditors. None of the other sources of financial
information—such as management forecasts, press releases, and regulatory reports—provide as
much information as the financial statements.

The term financial information includes more information than the financial statements. The
financial statements include the four basic financial statements and the related footnotes. However,
financial information also includes items such as:

e A letter to the shareholders

* A formal discussion and analysis of the firm by the management of the firm
* Management report

* Auditors’ report

* Financial summary

Therefore, the general-purpose financial statements and the related footnotes are subsets of
financial information. The financial statements and the footnotes are governed by U.S. GAAP,
which may not always be the case for all components of financial information.’

Economic Entity

The second element in the definition of financial accounting involves the economic entity for
which the financial statements and other financial information are presented. An economic entity
is an organization or unit with activities that are separate from those of its owners and other enti-
ties. Financial information always relates to a particular economic entity. Economic entities can
be corporations, partnerships, sole proprietorships, or governmental organizations. Also, economic

3https://www.sec.gov/news/pressrelease/2015-111.html

“Entities may report comprehensive income either in one combined statement or in two statements—the statement of
net income and the statement of comprehensive income.

>We discuss these other types of financial information more extensively in Chapter 6.
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entities may be privately held or publicly held.® If the entity is publicly held, then its equity can
be bought and sold by external parties on stock exchanges.

The management of a particular economic entity prepares its financial information, including
the financial statements. While the management of the entity may also use the financial informa-
tion to some extent, they are better classified as preparers than users of financial information.’

Financial Statement User Groups

The third element in the financial accounting definition involves identifying the primary user
groups that demand financial information. Some users employ accounting information to make
economic decisions for their own benefit while other users employ accounting information to
make economic decisions for the benefit of others or to assist others in making investment or
credit decisions. Exhibit 1.2 lists the user groups.

EXHIBIT 1.2 User Groups

Users Description
Equity Investors Shareholders of the company
Creditors and Other Debt Investors Entities including banks and other financial institutions that lend

money to the company either through a private agreement or
through a public debt offering

Competitors Companies that produce the same service or product

Financial Analysts Individuals employed at investment banks, commercial banks,
and brokerage houses that use financial information to provide
guidance to individuals and other entities in making investment
and credit decisions

Employees and Labor Unions Individuals that work for the company and the organizations that
represent the employees’ interests

Suppliers and Customers Organizations that provide the necessary inputs for the products
or services produced by the entity and companies or individuals
that purchase the goods or services from the entity

Government Agencies Agencies representing the government that are in charge of
reviewing and/or regulating the company

Equity Investors. Equity investors are the shareholders of the company. That is, an equity
investor purchases a percentage ownership of the company. Equity investors include individuals,
other corporations, partnerships, mutual funds, pension plans, and other financial institutions that
expect to receive a return on their investment either through dividends (i.e., distributions of cash
or other assets to owners) or in the form of an increase in the price of their equity shares.

Equity investors use financial information to determine a company’s ability to generate earn-
ings and cash flow, as well as to make an assessment of the potential risks and returns of their
investments. Equity investors also use financial information to assess the ability of the entity to
pay dividends and to grow over time. Firm growth in earnings and cash flow are important for
the investor to sell his or her investment at a gain.

®In this text book, we focus primarily on publicly traded entities. We use examples from the financial statements issued
by manufacturing, retail, and service entities. We will not focus on financial statements from specialized industries
such as insurance, banking, and other regulated industries.

"Managers of economic entities use accounting information for internal decision making as detailed in cost and mana-
gerial accounting courses.
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Creditors and Other Debt Investors. Creditors and other debt investors are entities,
including banks and other financial institutions, that lend money to the company. Debt can either
be public or privately held. In the case of publicly traded debt, market participants invest in the
entity’s debt—specifically, the entity’s bonds. In the case of privately held debt, companies obtain
capital directly from lenders, such as commercial banks. Creditors typically receive a return on
their investment in the form of interest income. However, in the case of public debt, they may also
receive a return in the form of an increase in the price of the bonds.

Creditors use financial information to determine whether the principal and interest on their
loans will likely be paid by debtors when due. Creditors are also concerned with the priority of
claims against the assets of the debtor company. Some lenders have priority over others when
determining the order of repayment. Finally, creditors can use financial information to assess the
entity’s current and future profitability and growth prospects.

Competitors. Competitors use financial information to determine their market position rela-
tive to the reporting entity. Companies analyze a competitor’s financial information to identify
its strategy and determine if it is possible to successfully compete with the company. An analysis
of a competitor’s financial information enables a financial statement user to identify that entity’s
objectives, assumptions, overall business strategy, and capabilities. For example, a pharmaceutical
company would be interested in any increases in a rival’s research and development expenses that
could indicate new and competing products in the future.

Financial Analysts. Financial analysts employed at investment banks, commercial banks,
and brokerage houses use financial information to provide guidance to individuals and other enti-
ties in making investment and credit decisions. Analysts use various techniques to estimate the
value of an entity based on information obtained from the annual report and other publicly avail-
able information, as well as from interviews with company officers and outside industry or eco-
nomic experts. Some financial analysts are equity analysts who follow an industry or certain
companies and provide their opinions or recommendations on a regular basis. These reports result
in a recommendation as to whether investors should buy or sell the stock of that company. For
example, in the first quarter of 2017, there were 39 analyst recommendations issued for Twitter—4
of which were buys, 27 were holds, and 8 were sells or underperforms.8 Financial analysts act as
market intermediaries in that they are trained to examine an extensive volume of financial data
and reduce it to a manageable amount of information for use by investors.

Employees and Labor Unions. Employees and labor unions use financial statements to
assess the economic performance and liquidity of entities employing members of the union. For
example, the United Auto Workers represents employees in the automobile industry. Financial
statement information can be useful during the negotiation of new labor agreements and com-
pensation contracts.

Suppliers and Customers. Suppliers and customers use financial statements to determine
a company’s financial position. For suppliers, it is critically important to assess the company’s
ability to pay for goods and services provided. A company’s financial condition indicates the
quality of its products and its ability to honor warranties to potential customers. General Motors
(GM) lost many prospective customers when it was in bankruptcy during the economic crisis of
2008. In this case, auto buyers were concerned that GM would not be in business long enough to
fulfill its warranty obligation to its customers.

Government Agencies. Government agencies review the financial statements of publicly
traded companies for a variety of reasons. For example, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission may
review publicly available financial information to identify a potential monopoly or an entity in
violation of antitrust laws.

8See http://www.nasdaq.com/symbol/twtr/recommendations
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Other Parties Involved in the Preparation
and Use of Financial Information

Another important group involved in the financial reporting process is the preparers themselves.
Financial statement preparers are the companies that issue the financial statements.

In addition to preparers and users of the financial statements, other parties involved in the
financial reporting process include:

e Auditors

* Accounting standard setters such as the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the Inter-
national Accounting Standards Board

* Regulatory bodies such as the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board

* Professional organizations such as the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Auditors can be external or internal. External auditors are independent of the company and
are responsible for ensuring that management prepares and issues financial statements that comply
with accounting standards and fairly present the financial position and economic performance of
the company. Because external auditors are independent parties, they lend a significant amount of
credibility to the financial statements. Internal auditors are employees of the company serving in
an advisory role to management and providing information regarding the company’s operations
and proper functioning of its internal controls.

Accounting standard setters develop and promulgate accounting concepts, rules, and guide-
lines that provide information that is relevant and faithfully represents the economic performance
and the financial position of the reporting entity. The Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), the primary standard setter in the United States, promulgates U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP). The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
sets International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). We discuss the standard setters’ role and
the standard-setting process in more depth later in the chapter.

Regulatory bodies protect investors and oversee the accounting standard-setting process.
In the United States, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulates publicly
traded companies.9 Privately held companies are not required to comply with the SEC’s regula-
tions. The SEC gives the FASB the authority to issue U.S. GAAP. In addition, the SEC reviews
the filings of public companies in the United States. The Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (PCAOB) sets auditing standards and oversees the audits of public companies in the
United States.

Professional organizations such as the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA) are also involved in the financial reporting process. The AICPA is the national pro-
fessional association for Certified Public Accountants (CPAs) in the United States. The AICPA
prepares and grades the Uniform CPA Examination. This organization also supports accounting
professionals throughout their careers by providing training, professional skills development, and
other resources.

Exhibit 1.3 summarizes the various groups involved in the financial reporting process.

Legal, Economic, Political, and Social Environment

Financial reporting takes place in a complex and dynamic world: Financial statement users’ infor-
mation needs change as business evolves. So, it is natural that environmental factors—legal, eco-
nomic, political, and social—shape and influence the financial reporting process. The environment
is the fourth element of the financial accounting definition. Financial accounting interacts with its
environment in both a reactive and a proactive fashion.

Reactive Factors. Financial accounting reacts to pressure (lobbying) from various groups
and changes in its environment. Accounting theories and procedures evolve to meet the dynamic
changes and demands from the environment. For example, FASB made changes in the accounting

°A company is regulated by the SEC if it has either debt or equity that is publicly traded.
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EXHIBIT 1.3 Parties Involved in the Financial Reporting Process in the United States

Public Company Financial Accounting Securities and Exchange
Accounting Oversight Standards Board = <«— Commission (SEC) 9
Board (PCAOB) (FASB)
Professional Financial Statement
o External
Organizations > | Auditors Preparers
(such as the AICPA) (the Company)
—d
Financial
Statements

¢ ] I ] ¢
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Unions Customers (e.g., IRS, FTC)
Investors

for off-balance sheet subsidiaries following the discovery of the massive fraud scheme at Enron
in the early 2000s.

In addition, accounting conforms to economic conditions, legal standards, and social values.
Today, accounting disclosures highlight a company’s policies regarding pollution control, com-
munity service, and diversity in business. For example, in the letter to shareholders in Johnson &
Johnson’s 2015 annual report, CEO Alex Gorsky highlighted Johnson & Johnson’s “legacy of
caring through strategic partnerships,” as shown in Exhibit 1.4.

EXHIBIT 1.4 Johnson & Johnson Company’s 2015 Letter to the Shareholders
Discussion of Corporate Philanthropy

We understand the important role Johnson & Johnson plays in the world, and we continue to build
on our 130-year legacy of caring through strategic philanthropy with hundreds of partner organizations
worldwide. Our corporate philanthropy includes work with Operation Smile®—helping to provide safe
surgeries for facial deformities in children; Save the Children®—providing care to tens of millions of
children around the world in resource limited and crisis situations, including long-term support for
Syrian refugees; and the Elizabeth Glaser Pediatric AIDS Foundation®—eliminating HIV infections

in children around the world. We also partner with global health agencies and non-governmental
organizations to battle some of the most deadly epidemics of our generation, like our commitment
and partnership to rapidly develop a vaccine for Ebola. Through these commitments, we envision a
world where everyone has the means to be healthy and can thrive. We are committed to using our
capabilities, expertise, resources and partnerships to fulfill our role in making the world a better,
healthier place for generations to come.

Source: Annual Report, 2015 Johnson and Johnson.

The development of accounting standards is also a political process that is heavily influenced
by the various groups within the reporting environment. Lobby groups include investors, creditors,
financial analysts, the financial community, academics, accounting organizations, and industry
associations.

Proactive Factors. Financial accounting is proactive in that it can change or influence its
environment by providing feedback information that is used by organizations and individuals to
reshape the economy. Accounting information is used to efficiently allocate resources throughout
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the economy by directing capital flows to their most productive uses. For example, start-up capital
is needed to develop new technology such as solar power and electric vehicles.

Accounting standards can also influence managerial behavior. For example, expensing
research and development costs may slow investment in research during economic downturns
because this accounting treatment results in lower earnings figures.

Role of Standard Setters

Standard setters work diligently to develop concepts, rules, and guidelines for financial reporting
that will satisfy the requirement to accurately present the economic performance and financial
position of the firm. These standards are designed to encourage transparent and truthful reporting.
Publicly traded entities must follow the rules and guidelines set forth by the standard setters to
maintain public trust and to ensure the efficient functioning of capital markets. The FASB pro-
mulgates accounting standards in the United States, and the IASB issues global accounting stan-
dards, called International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The Importance of Understanding International Accounting Standards

Although U.S. GAAP and IFRS are converged in many areas, some differences still remain.
Throughout the text, we present the U.S. GAAP standards in detail and highlight pertinent differ-
ences with IFRS. Why is it important for an accountant in the United States to learn international
accounting standards? There are several reasons:

» U.S. companies operate subsidiaries outside of the United States. Many of these subsidiar-
ies report under IFRS in their home countries. Accountants must convert the subsidiaries’
financial statements to U.S. GAAP when preparing consolidated financial statements. For
example, Johnson & Johnson operates in over 60 countries throughout the world.

* Non-U.S. companies operate in the United States and prepare their financial statements using
IFRS. Consequently, if you are working at or auditing an international firm, you will likely
see IFRS. For example, GlaxoSmithKline is a worldwide pharmaceutical company based in
the United Kingdom with 18% of its employees in the United States and a U.S. headquarters
in Philadelphia.

e The SEC permits the use of [FRS-based financial statements by international companies with
shares trading on U.S. stock exchanges.!® U.S. accountants and auditors often assist these
non-U.S. companies in preparing U.S. regulatory reports. As of September 2016, these com-
panies represented a worldwide market capitalization in excess of $7 trillion across more than
500 companies.”

* The SEC promotes high-quality, globally accepted accounting standards. U.S. accountants
and auditors need a working knowledge of IFRS to implement global standards in companies
and perform audits.

* Many U.S. accountants now spend time working outside of the United States. IFRS is required
or permitted in over 130 countries worldwide. Exhibit 1.5 presents a map that highlights the
countries that require IFRS in red (as of May 2016).

* The accounting profession has determined that a working knowledge of IFRS is important
for today’s accountant. For example, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
tests IFRS on the CPA exam.

To ensure that you are prepared to meet these challenges, we address both U.S. GAAP and
IFRS in this text. We introduce accounting practices in the United States first. We then compare
U.S. GAAP to IFRS in sections with green headings, focusing on similarities and differences.
Where there are differences, we cover IFRS at the same level of detail as used for U.S. GAAP.

10The SEC eliminated the requirement that foreign issuers reconcile their financial statements from IFRS (or other
accounting standards) to U.S. GAAP in 2007. To be clear, U.S. companies may not use IFRS in their financial
statements. U.S. GAAP is required for U.S. companies.

See Source: https://www.sec.gov/news/statement/white-2016-01-05.html
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EXHIBIT 1.5 Global Usage of IFRS

[ IFRS required for all or most domestic publicly accountable entities

[] IFRS permitted

|:| IFRS not currently in use

Source: Based on “The Global Financial Reporting Language,” May 2016, IFRS Foundation table on p. 5.
http://www.ifrs.org/Use-around-the-world/Documents/The-Global-Financial-Reporting-Language-May-2016.pdf

The Standard-Setting Process

We previously established that the FASB sets accounting standards in the United States and the
IASB sets global accounting standards. The standard-setting processes are similar for the two
Boards but there are some important differences that we will highlight.

Standard Setting

We begin with the history of U.S. standard setting, the structure of the standard-setting body, and
the process of standard setting.

History of Standard Setting. U.S. financial reporting standard setting began with the
1934 Securities Exchange Act, which gave the SEC the power to promulgate accounting standards
for all publicly traded firms. The SEC delegated its standard-setting power to the private sector,
prompting the accounting profession to establish the first U.S. standard-setting board. The Com-
mittee on Accounting Procedures (CAP) was formed in 1939 as a subcommittee of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) to reduce the number of accounting methods
used in practice. Prior to the formation of the CAP, there were significant inconsistencies in the
form and content of financial statements. For example, some companies would provide only a
balance sheet while others would report only an income statement. During its tenure, the CAP
produced 51 standards, referred to as Accounting Research Bulletins (ARBs or Bulletins).

The CAP accomplished its goal of reducing accounting alternatives and was replaced in 1959
by the Accounting Principles Board (APB). The APB, another subcommittee of the AICPA, issued
pronouncements known as Opinions and Statements. The APB’s primary objective was to respond
to existing and emerging problems in financial reporting. The APB issued 31 APB Opinions and
four APB Statements.

The APB was criticized for being slow to develop accounting standards and inactive on
several controversial issues. The part-time board members were all CPAs still affiliated with their
employers. As a result, board members were not viewed as independent. Further, the APB did not
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develop standards in anticipation of changes in the accounting environment. Rather, the Board
simply responded to long-existing, controversial accounting issues. Due to these criticisms, the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) replaced the APB in 1973.

The FASB is a more independent board than the APB. The seven members employed as full-
time board members must sever all relationships with outside entities. In addition, board mem-
bers of the FASB do not have to be accountants or CPAs—the members can join the board from
industry, education, and public service. Members on the board have represented a broad range of
constituencies, including members from the corporate world, the accounting profession, the invest-
ment community, government, and academia. The FASB is not a subcommittee of the AICPA and
is not affiliated with any professional organization.

The FASB currently issues Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) as part of the Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC).12 The Accounting Standards Codification (often referred to as
the Codification) is the single source of GAAP in the United States and includes all pronounce-
ments issued by any of the standard-setting bodies that have not been superseded.13

Exhibit 1.6 presents the history of U.S. standard setting as well as pronouncements issued
by each group.

EXHIBIT 1.6 History of Accounting Standard Setting in the
United States

Congress Creates the SEC
and the SEC Delegates Standard-Setting
Authority to the Private Sector

1934
Committee on Accounting Financial Accounting
Accounting Principles Board Standards Board
Procedures (CAP) (APB) (FASB)
1939-1959 1959-1973 1973—present
Accounting APB Opinions Accounting
Research and APB Standards
Bulletins Statements Updates

The Standard-Setting Structure. As illustrated by Exhibit 1.7, the FASB is part of a
larger organizational structure that also includes the

* Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF)
* Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)
* Financial Accounting Standards Advisory Council (FASAC)
* Governmental Accounting Standards Advisory Council (GASAC)
* Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF)
e Private Company Council (PCC)
The FAF is responsible for the oversight, administration, and finances of the FASB. The FAF

obtains funds primarily through the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB),
which assesses charges known as accounting support fees against issuers of equity securities based

>The primary pronouncements of the FASB were originally called Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS).

3We discuss the Codification in depth in Chapter 3.
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EXHIBIT 1.7 Standard-Setting Organizational Structure in the
United States

Financial Accounting Foundation

Emerging I
Issues Task v ¥
Force (EITF) ; A A _
Financial Accounting Governmental Accounting
Standards Board Standards Board
. (FASB) (GASB)
Private
Company T T
Council (PCC)
Financial Governmental
Accounting Standards Accounting Standards
Advisory Council Advisory Council

on their market capitalization.]4 Other sources of funds include publications, subscriptions, and
contributions from state and local governments for the GASB.

The GASB sets standards for state and local governmental units. The FASAC exists to advise
FASB on technical issues and the GASAC serves as an advisory board to the GASB.

The EITF was formed in 1984 to assist the FASB by addressing issues that are not as broad
in scope as those found on the FASB’s agenda. For example, EITF agenda items often include
industry-specific issues. The EITF is made up of 13 representatives, including preparers, audi-
tors, and financial statement users. The group reaches an EITF Consensus when three or fewer
members object to a proposed position that has been exposed for public comment. Although the
FASB members do not vote on the consensus at the EITF meetings, all consensus decisions must
be approved by a majority of the FASB members before they become a part of U.S. GAAP.

In 2012, the PCC was established to set accounting standards for U.S private companies.
Before this time, if a private company was required to present financial information according to
U.S. GAAP, it followed the same rules as public companies with minor exceptions. Now the PCC
is responsible for determining whether modifications to existing U.S. GAAP standards are war-
ranted for private companies, and, if so, it has the responsibility of developing, deliberating, and
voting on these modifications. However, the FASB retains the authority to make the final decision
as to incorporating these changes into U.S. GAAP for private companies.

Standard-Setting Process. FASB follows a seven-step process to issue a final
standard.

Step 1: Identification of an issue. FASB identifies a financial reporting issue based on recom-
mendations from analysts, government agencies, or other market participants.

Step 2: Decision to pursue. After consultation with FASB members and others as appropriate,
the FASB Chairperson decides whether to add the issue to the technical agenda.

Step 3: Public meetings. Once added to the technical agenda, the Board holds public meetings
where it deliberates the various issues identified by the FASB staff.

Step 4: Exposure Draft. The Board issues an Exposure Draft (ED), which is intended to solicit
input from financial statement preparers, auditors, and users of the financial
statements. '

“Market capitalization is the total value of a company’s equity shares. It is equal to the market price per share multi-
plied by the total number of equity shares outstanding.

13See http://www.fasb.org/cs/ContentServer?site=FASB&c=Page&pagename=FASB%2FPage%2FSectionPage&
cid=11761573079309.

16The Board may also issue a Discussion Paper to obtain input earlier in the project.
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Step 5: Public roundtables. The Board may hold public roundtables to discuss the ED, if needed.

Step 6: Redeliberation. The FASB staff analyzes the comment letters received from preparers,
financial statement users and auditors, public roundtable discussions, and any other infor-
mation. The Board then redeliberates the issue.

Step 7: Publication of the final standard. The Board issues an Accounting Standards Update
(ASU), which is the final standard. It requires a majority vote of the Board to issue a new
standard. The ASU will then be incorporated into the body of the Accounting Standards
Codification that makes up U.S. GAAP.

IFRS Standard Setting

We will now discuss the history of global standard setting, the structure of the standard-setting
body, and the process for global standard setting.

History of Global Standard Setting: IFRS

Until recently, most countries established their own accounting standards. For instance, France,
Germany, and Australia each had its own GAAP. The GAAP of each nation varied due to the
country’s specific needs for accounting information. Factors such as the country’s sources of
capital, its culture, tax laws, or other regulations influenced the development of their accounting
standards. Given almost 200 countries in the world and almost as many sets of different GAAP
standards, global investors and creditors struggled to compare accounting standards when analyz-
ing companies and making investment and credit decisions.

Recognizing the need for comparable accounting information internationally, the professional
accounting organizations from 10 countries formed the International Accounting Standards Com-
mittee (IASC) in 1973.!7 At that time, the IASC consisted of up to 16 part-time volunteer members
setting International Accounting Standards (IAS). Companies in each country could adopt IAS
on a voluntary basis. However, the IASC was criticized for allowing highly flexible accounting
standards. As a result, most major developed countries continued to require the use of their own
standards.

As global business relationships continued to grow, the need for a comparable and rigorous
international set of accounting standards became apparent. In the 1990s, the IASC initiated an
improvement project to develop a cohesive and uniform set of “core accounting standards” to meet
the needs of investors in cross-border offerings and exchange listings. Shortly after this improve-
ment project was completed, the International Organization of Securities Commissions (I0OSCO)
endorsed IAS for use in cross-border stock offerings and listings, allowing companies to report
under IAS within their jurisdictions and on their exchanges.

Around the same time, the IASC began to recognize the limitations in its existing organiza-
tional structure. As a result, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) replaced the
IASC in 2001. The IASB now promulgates standards called International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

The TASB also developed a set of accounting standards to address the needs of private
companies, called IFRS for small- and medium-sized entities (IFRS for SMEs). IFRS for SMEs
is based on IFRS but eliminates certain costly reporting requirements that are designed to pro-
vide information to external financial statement users. IFRS for SMEs was developed because
some countries require all public and private companies to prepare financial statements under
IFRS. These countries can then allow private companies the option to use the less costly IFRS
for SMEs.

The original 10 countries were Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, the United
Kingdom, Ireland, and the United States. Other countries subsequently joined the committee.
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Committee to develop AICPA positions on financial reporting matters. He also
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company financial reporting efforts.

1 What is the role of effective financial reporting in enabling finan-
cial statement users to make rational economic decisions?

For users—the ultimate customers of financial reporting—
financial statements are a critical information source for invest-
ing and lending decisions. Imagine you are the sole owner of
the Bank of Your Town and are considering whether to loan
money to a local business. Before parting with your cash, you
would ask questions such as: How does the business’s profit
and cash flow look? Are the numbers the business provided
trustworthy and developed using accounting practices consis-
tent with how other businesses in the same industry report?

Useful and reliable financial statements allow investors and
lenders to make smart capital allocation decisions. The notion
of “efficient and effective” allocation of capital helps drive
capitalist economies and societies to greater standards of
living. An inefficient and wasteful allocation would reward
poorly run entities until they ultimately flounder or go bust.
Consequently, funding would not be available for well-run
businesses that could grow, employ people, and improve their
communities.

2 What is AICPAs general role in the accounting environment and
the standard-setting process?

The AICPA is the world’s largest member association repre-
senting the CPA profession, with more than 418,000 members
in 143 countries, and a history of serving the public interest
since 1887. AICPA members represent many areas of prac-
tice, including business and industry, public practice, govern-
ment, education, and consulting. Student membership is free.

The AICPA sets ethical standards for the profession and U.S.
auditing standards for private companies; nonprofit organiza-
tions; and federal, state, and local governments. It develops
and grades the Uniform CPA Examination, offers specialized
credentials, builds the pipeline of future talent, and drives
professional competency development to advance the vitality,
relevance, and quality of the profession. The AICPA’s Finan-
cial Reporting Executive Committee (FinREC) serves as the
official voice on all GAAP matters, advocating for sound exter-
nal financial reporting practices related to private and public
companies, not-for-profit entities, and employee benefit plans.

3 What is AICPASs role in improving the effectiveness of financial
reporting?

The AICPA routinely interacts with regulators, standard set-
ters, and all participants in the financial reporting process to
identify and solve issues and contribute to policy development.
AICPA is not an accounting standard setter; rather, it identi-
fies issues needing authoritative FASB resolution or weighs
in publicly on what good accounting practices might be under
various circumstances.

4 What are the key areas in which accounting professionals and
financial statement users look to the AICPA for guidance?

The key areas related to GAAP as set by FASB are:

1. The AICPA’s industry accounting and audit guides, although
not GAAP, are often viewed as a bible for their particu-
lar industry. We help professionals understand and apply
accounting standards to unique or significant transactions
within their industries.

2. The AICPA’s accounting and valuation guides, also not
GAAP, help bridge any language barriers between account-
ing/auditing staff and valuation specialists when tackling
complex fair value measurements.

3. The AICPA issued revenue recognition accounting guidance
based on FASB’s newly effective standard that replaced the
prior industry-specific GAAP. Our new accounting guide
helps upwards of 16 industries understand and apply the
newly effective standard to their particular circumstances.
Because every entity has revenue, and professionals have
been challenged for many years to determine when to rec-
ognize it, companies, auditors, and regulators will give this
standard front and center attention for many years to come.

Discussion Questions
1. Discuss the role that the AICPA will play in your account-
ing career as a student and when you join the profession.

2. How would you characterize the current relationship
between the FASB and the AICPA?
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Exhibit 1.8 presents the history of international accounting standard setting.

EXHIBIT 1.8 History of International Accounting
Standard Setting

Countries come together to
develop international standards

Countries formed

|
¢ )

International International

Accounting Standards Accounting
Committee (IASC) Standards Board

(IASB)

1973-2001 20071-present

International International
Accounting Financial Reporting

Standards (IAS) Standards (IFRS)

The Global Standard-Setting Structure: IFRS

As illustrated by Exhibit 1.9, the IASB is part of a larger organizational structure that also includes:

* The IFRS Foundation

* The Monitoring Board

* The IFRS Advisory Council

* The IFRS Interpretations Committee

The IFRS Foundation oversees the IASB and is responsible for financing the IASB’s opera-
tions. Unlike funding for the FASB, the IASB relies on contributions from companies and other
parties that have an interest in promoting international accounting standards. The Monitoring
Board was formed in 2009 to enhance the public accountability of the IFRS Foundation while
still allowing for independence in the standard-setting process.

The Monitoring Board oversees the IFRS Foundation, participates in nominating individ-
uals to serve as foundation trustees, and approves appointments. The IFRS Advisory Council
advises the IASB and the IFRS Foundation on many issues, including the IASB’s agenda and the

EXHIBIT 1.9 International Accounting
Organizational Structure

Monitoring Board

!
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@ Explain three recent
trends in standard
setting: principles-
based, rules-based,
and objectives-
oriented standards;
the asset/liability
approach; and fair
value measurements.

implementation of standards. The IFRS Interpretations Committee is the interpretative body of
the IASB, similar to the EITF in the United States.

The TASB is composed of 14 members who are appointed by the IFRS Foundation’s board
of trustees. At least 11 members serve full time, and no more than 3 can be part-time members.
To ensure broad and diverse international representation, the IASB is composed of:

* Four members from the Asia/Oceania region

* Four members from Europe

* Four members from the Americas

* One member from Africa

* One member appointed from any area, subject to maintaining overall geographical balance

The IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRSIC) develops interpretations of standards that
must be approved by the IASB. Whenever the need arises, the IFRS Interpretations Committee
forms working groups, which are task forces for individual agenda projects. The IASB will also
normally form working groups or other types of specialized advisory groups to advise on major
projects; an example is the Emerging Economies Group.

Standard-Setting Process: IFRS

The IASB follows a similar process to the FASB’s standard-setting process, so we discuss it only
briefly here.

When a topic is identified, the Board considers the nature of the issues, seeks input from its
constituents, and prepares an exposure draft. After receiving comments on the exposure draft, the
IASB may modify the proposed standard before approving a final standard.

Unlike the FASB, the IASB is required to carry out a post-implementation review of each
new standard or significant change to an existing standard. The review focuses on controversial
issues identified during the development stage, unexpected costs, and implementation problems.
This review is normally carried out up to two years after the new standard has been in effect.

Standard Setting as a Political Process

The issuance of new standards and changes in existing standards can have significant effects on an
entity’s reported net income. In turn, these income effects impact the flow of capital throughout
the economy.

At the company level, managers have incentives to oppose changes in standards or new stan-
dards that reduce their company’s reported net earnings. On the financial statement user level, a
new standard or a change in existing standards should provide better and more transparent finan-
cial information that will assist users in making more effective investment and credit decisions.

Standard setters address the concerns of both the managers and financial statement users by
employing the standard-setting processes we described in the previous section. These processes
rely on the information gathered and opinions of users, managers, and auditors along with com-
ments obtained from responses to exposure drafts and public roundtables. The standard-setting
bodies analyze this information to gauge the economic consequences of the proposed standard
and to assess the improvements in the quality of the financial information disseminated to the
market. Standard setters address this trade-off between the income effects and the value of finan-
cial information, reaching a balance before issuing the final standard.

Trends in Standard Setting

We conclude the chapter by introducing three current trends in standard setting, that we will
explore further in later chapters:

* A move toward a less rules-based (or a more principles-based) system as found in Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards

* A move toward standards that are focused on the asset/liability approach

* A move toward measuring balance sheet items at fair value rather than historical cost
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Rules- versus Principles-Based Standards

Both the U.S. GAAP and IFRS systems of accounting standards are based on principles and rules.
A principles-based standard relies on theories, concepts, and principles of accounting that are
linked to a well-developed theoretical framework. A rules-based standard contains specific,
prescriptive procedures rather than relying on a consistent theoretical framework. For example,
assume your parents tell you that you must maintain a GPA of at least 3.0 to receive a car at gradu-
ation. This is a rules-based standard. Now assume your parents tell you they will buy you a new
car at graduation if you do well in school. This is an example of a principles-based standard. The
SEC uses the term objectives-oriented standard to refer to a standard that is somewhere between
a pure principles-based standard and a pure rules-based standard.'®

Principles-Based Standards. Pure principles-based standards exhibit the following
characteristics:

* Provide a clear discussion of the accounting objective related to the standard.

* Involve few, if any, exceptions.

e Involve no tests (referred to as bright-line tests) that require meeting a pre-established
numerical threshold.'”

* Provide insufficient guidance to implement the standard.

* Involve a significant amount of interpretation in application.

With pure principles-based standards, comparability across entities is often lost due to the
extensive amount of preparer judgment required. In addition, preparers and auditors worry that
regulators will not support the judgment used when reporting under a principles-based system,
even judgments made honestly without intent to bias. Finally, the lack of application guidance can
make it difficult to enforce principles-based reporting requirements in practice.

Rules-Based Standards. Unlike principles-based standards, rules-based standards may not
relate to a consistent theoretical framework. In addition, pure rules-based standards:

* Contain numerous exceptions to the types of firms and industries that are covered by the
standard.

e Contain numerous bright-line tests.

» Result in inconsistencies between standards.

* Contain detailed application guidance.

* Do not rely on extensive use of professional judgment.

As is the case with pure principles-based standards, pure rules-based standards also result in
implementation problems. At times, reporting entities may circumvent rules and are therefore able
to override the intent of the standard. A system of rules-based standards is difficult to interpret
from a user perspective. Rules-based standards tend to result in an environment where financial
reporting is viewed as an act of compliance rather than a process of disseminating transparent
financial information to investors and creditors.

Objectives-Oriented Standards. An SEC report studying rules-based and principles-
based standard setting indicated that an objectives-oriented standard is optimal.?? Similar to
principles-based standards, objectives-oriented standards are derived from and are consistent with

18See Study Pursuant to Section 108(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption by the United States
Financial Reporting System of a Principles-Based Accounting System, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
July 2003 for a thorough discussion of principles and rules-based standards. The full text of the study is available at
http://www.sec.gov/news/studies/principlesbasedstand.htm.

19For example, a rule specifying that a material item is 10% or more of net income is a bright-line test.

20Study Pursuant to Section 108(d) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 on the Adoption by the United States Financial
Reporting System of a Principles-Based Accounting System, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, July 2003.
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a high-quality theoretical framework and clearly stated accounting objectives. However,
objectives-oriented standards include a sufficient level of rules to provide detail and structure,
resulting in the consistent application of accounting standards across entities and across time.
An objectives-oriented standard would minimize exceptions to a particular standard and reduce
the number of bright-line tests used in its implementation. Many of the existing standards in both
U.S. GAAP and IFRS qualify as objectives-oriented standards.

U.S. GAAP and IFRS: Rules versus Principles. Neither U.S. GAAP nor IFRS fits
perfectly into a rules- or principles-based approach. The greatest difference between the two
standards is that U.S. GAAP contains many more rules than does IFRS.%! Although U.S. GAAP
includes more rules than IFRS, it is not purely rules based. Similarly, IFRS is not purely principles
based. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS base standards on their respective conceptual frameworks,
which we discuss in more detail in Chapter 2. Exhibit 1.10 shows the placement of U.S. GAAP
and IFRS standards on the rules-based and principles-based continuum.

EXHIBIT 1.10 Rules versus Principles

I I >
Pure rules- U.S. GAAP IFRS Pure principles-
based approach based approach

Asset/Liability Approach

The next trend relates to the interrelationship between the balance sheet and income statement.
When a firm reports an event on the income statement, the transaction typically also changes a
balance sheet account. For example, if a firm reports revenue, it also increases the balance in
accounts receivable or cash.

Although the two financial statements are interrelated, which set of accounts is dominant—
the revenues and expenses on the income statement or assets and liabilities on the balance sheet?
For example, in a typical sales transaction, an accountant will increase accounts receivable and
revenue. But how does the accountant decide whether to record the transaction?

1. Recording based on revenue recognition criteria involves an income statement approach.

2. Basing the decision on whether an economic resource is received and it meets the definition
of an asset, such as accounts receivable, is an asset/liability (balance sheet) approach.

In FASB’s early years, it tended to focus on an income statement approach. However, in
recent years, it has shifted to the asset/liability approach.??

Fair Value Measurements

Another trend in standard setting is the movement toward the use of fair value measurements as
a viable alternative to historical cost. Fair value is the amount at which an asset (or liability) could
be bought (or incurred) or sold (or settled) in a current transaction between willing parties.23
Twenty years ago, firms reported very few items on the balance sheet at fair value. Today, firms
use fair values to measure some balance sheet accounts. For example, firms must report some
investments in equity securities that have a readily determinable fair value and some investments
in debt at fair value, as opposed to historical cost. We discuss fair value measurements more
extensively in Chapter 2.

2t is likely that the considerable number of rules in U.S. GAAP were written in an attempt to protect preparers and
auditors from potential, excessive litigation in the U.S. reporting environment.

22FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (Norwalk, CT: FASB,
1992), which is now codified as FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, provides an example of the trend toward the use
of the asset/liability approach. Prior to this standard, the profession employed an income statement approach when
accounting for income taxes but now uses a balance sheet approach.

23See FASB ASC—Master Glossary.
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Summary by Learning Objectives

In the following, we summarize the main points by learning objective. Throughout the chapter, we
discuss the accounting and reporting of U.S. GAAP and IFRS side-by-side. The following table
also highlights the major similarities and differences between the standards.

factors that influence financial reporting.

o Define financial accounting and describe the demand for financial information, including the role of general-
purpose financial statements, the information needs of financial statement users and other parties, and the

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Financial accounting is the process of identifying, measuring,
and communicating financial information about an economic
entity to various user groups within the political, social, legal,
and economic environment.

Financial reporting aids investors, lenders, and other creditors
in assessing the amounts and timing of future cash flows,

as well as any uncertainty regarding those cash flows when
making investment and credit decisions.

General-purpose financial statements provide information to
a wide spectrum of user groups: investors, creditors, financial
analysts, insurance companies, unions, government agencies,
and such.

Financial statement users include equity investors, creditors,
financial analysts, employees, labor unions, suppliers, debt
investors, competitors, government agencies, and customers.

Environmental factors such as legal, economic, political, or
social factors impact the financial reporting process.

Financial accounting is reactive when it reacts to pressure
(lobbying) from various groups and changes in its environment.

Financial accounting is proactive in that it can change or
influence its environment by providing feedback information
that is used by organizations and individuals to reshape the

Qconomy.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

@ Discuss the role of financial accounting standards setters in the United States and internationally.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is the
accounting standard setter in the United States.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
Kestablishes International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

» |IFRS is required or permitted in over 130 countries
worldwide. U.S. GAAP is required for U.S. companies.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

@ Detail the standard-setting process.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

In the United States, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) sets Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).
In setting standards, the FASB follows a seven-step process:

Step 1: Identification of an issue.
Step 2: Decision to pursue.

Step 3: Public meetings.

Step 4: Exposure Draft.

Step 5: Public roundtables.

Step 6: Redeliberation.

Qtep 7: Publication of the final standard.

» The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issues
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).The IASB
has a similar process as the FASB, and it conducts a post-
implementation review after an IFRS is issued.

e Explain three recent trends in standard setting: principles-based, rules-based, and objectives-oriented
standards; the asset/liability approach; and fair value measurements.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Principles-based standards are standards consistent with a
theoretical framework. Rules-based standards do not rely on

a consistent theoretical framework but rather contain more
specific, prescriptive rules. Objectives-oriented standards refer
to standards that are somewhere between pure principles-
based and pure rules-based.

When deciding if a transaction should be recorded, the asset/
liability approach bases the decision on whether an asset or liability
should be reported on the balance sheet rather than if revenue or
expenses should be recognized on the income statement.

Fair value measurement, contrasted with historical cost, reports
Qome items on the balance sheet at fair value.

» We often think of U.S. GAAP as being more rules based
than IFRS, but it is not purely rules based. Nor is IFRS purely
principles based.

J

MyLab Accounting

Go to http://www.pearson.com/mylab/accounting for the following Questions, Brief Exercises,
Exercises. They are available with immediate grading, explanations of correct and incorrect
answers, and interactive media that acts as your own online tutor.

1 The Financial Reporting Environment

Which items are included in the definition of financial information? Is this concept synonymous with the

What is the purpose of generating financial statements and who are the primary users of this information?

Questions
(1) Q1-1.
term financial statements? Explain.
(1) Q1-2.
0 Q1-3. How is the allocation of capital linked to the demand for financial reporting?
0 Q1-4. What are the roles and responsibilities of an external auditor?
9 Q1-5. What is the function of the accounting standard setters?
@ Q1-6. Can U.S. companies listed on U.S. stock exchanges use IFRS?
9 Q1-7. Who does the FASB consult in the standard-setting process?
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09 Q1-8. Is the promulgation of financial accounting standards a political process? Explain.
0 Q1-9. How does a principles-based standard differ from a rules-based standard?
0 Q1-10. Inrecent years, what has been the FASB’s approach to standard setting?
Brief Exercises
0 BE1-1. General-Purpose Financial Statements. Describe what is meant by the term “general-purpose financial
statements.” Discuss what group(s) benefit(s) from general-purpose financial statements.
0 BE1-2. Financial Reporting Definition. What is the definition of financial accounting?
(1) BE1-3. Financial Statement Users and Other Parties Involved in Financial Reporting. Match the financial state-
ment users and other parties involved in the use of and preparation of financial information with their role.
Financial Statement Users
and Other Parties Role
Equity Investors 1. Are banks and other financial institutions that lend money to
the company.
— Creditors 2. Use financial statements to determine whether to conduct
. ) business or purchase products from a company.
Financial Analysts ] o i ] } .
3. Use financial information to determine their market position
Employees and Labor Unions relative to the reporting entity and to attempt to identify
future strategies of the reporting entity.
__ Suppliers and Customers 4. Are independent of the company and responsible for
) ensuring that management prepares and issues financial
____ Government Agencies statements that comply with accounting standards and fairly
. present the financial position and economic performance of
Competitors the company.
. 5. Use financial information to review and analyze reported
External Auditors . ;
results of the companies they cover and make investment
Internal Auditors EEETIMEMEEL RS,
6. Are employees of the company serving in an advisory role
Regulatory Bodies to management. They provide information to management
regarding the company'’s operations and proper functioning
Professional Organizations of its internal controls.

7. Review the financial statements of publicly traded companies
for a variety of reasons that are in the public interest.

8. Use financial information during negotiation of new labor
agreements and compensation contracts.

9. Support accounting professionals throughout their careers by
providing training, professional skills development, and other
resources.

10. Are shareholders of the company.

11. Protect investors and oversee the accounting and auditing
standard setting processes.

0 BE1-4. Financial Statement Users. Identify at least four different types of financial statement users and discuss
why each would use the financial statements.

0 BE1-5. Parties in the Financial Reporting Process. Identify at least three types of parties in the financial reporting
process and discuss why each would be interested in the financial statements.

0 BE1-6. Economic Entity. What is an economic entity?

9 BE1-7. Standard-Setting Process. Briefly explain how the financial statement preparers, users, and other interested
parties are involved in the standard-setting process for U.S. GAAP.

9 BE1-8. Standard-Setting Process. What is the standard-setting process followed by FASB?
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Exercises

1]
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BE1-9.

BE1-10.
BE1-11.
BE1-12.

E1-3.

E1-4.

E1-5.

FASB’s Standard-Setting Process. Order the steps in the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s standard-
setting process from 1 to 7.

The Board issues an Exposure Draft (ED), which is intended to solicit input.

After consultation with FASB members and others as appropriate, the FASB Chairperson decides
whether to add the issue to the technical agenda.

The FASB staff analyzes the comment letters received, public roundtable discussions, and any
other information. The Board then redeliberates the issue.

The Board may hold public roundtables to discuss the ED, if needed.

The Board issues an Accounting Standards Update (ASU), which is the final standard. It then
incorporates the ASU into the Accounting Standards Codification that makes up U.S. GAAP.

A financial reporting issue is identified either by requests of financial statement users or by some

other means.

The Board holds public meetings where it deliberates the various issues identified by the FASB staff.

IASB’s Standard-Setting Process. What is the composition of the IASB’s membership?
SEC’s Role. What is the SEC’s role in standard setting, both historically and currently?

Characteristics of a Principles-Based or Rules-Based Accounting System. Identify whether the items
below are characteristics of a principles-based (P) or rules-based (R) accounting system:

_____ Provides a clear discussion of the accounting objective related to the standard
Contains detailed application guidance
__ Contains numerous exceptions to the types of firms and industries that are covered
__ Involves no bright-line tests
Contains numerous bright-line tests
Involves a significant amount of interpretation in application
Involves few, if any, exceptions
Provides insufficient guidance to implement the standard
Would not rely on extensive use of professional judgment

Results in inconsistencies between standards

Financial Accounting. Define financial accounting and describe the four main elements in that definition.

Factors That Influence Financial Reporting. Alicia O’Malley, a sociology major, is considering changing
her major to accounting. Alicia is having some doubts because she fears that accounting and financial report-
ing are concerned only with numbers and are isolated from society. Convince Alicia to major in accounting by
explaining how accounting interacts with its environment. In your answer, include a discussion of proactive
and reactive factors.

Convergence of Accounting Standards, IFRS. Vikram Patel, one of your friends from high school who is a
finance major, is surprised that you are learning about international accounting. Explain why it is important
for an accountant in the United States to learn International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

History of Standard Setting in the United States. Joe Choi, a history major, is considering transferring to

your school of business to study accounting. Joe is having some doubts because he is uncertain if there is

any room for history in accounting. Convince Joe to major in accounting by providing a history of standard

setting in the United States. In your response, address the following items:

a. When did financial reporting standard setting begin in the United States?

b. Who had initial authority to set accounting standards?

c. Which organizations were delegated the authority to set standards? Comment on the types of standards
issued and concerns with the standard-setting process under each organization.

d. Who currently sets accounting standards in the United States? What is the structure of the organization?
What types of standards are issued?

Rules- versus Principles-Based Accounting. Provide the key characteristics of rules-based standards and
principles-based standards.
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E1-6.

E1-7.

Asset/Liability Approach. Consider the following comment: “Accounting standards have always focused
on the asset/liability approach and still do today.” Do you agree or disagree with this comment? Explain your
answer.

Rules- versus Principles-Based Accounting. Review the following statements and indicate if the statement
is referring to a principles-based or a rules-based accounting standard.

Statement: An accountant will use a particular accounting Principles-Based or Rules-Based
standard only if . .. Accounting Standard
a. ...the length of a contract covers substantially all of the useful a.

life of a plant asset.

b. ...the number of new common shares a firm issues is equal to  b.
20% of the previously outstanding shares.

c. ...a corporation owns over 50% of the voting shares of an C.
affiliate company.

d. ...a corporation has the ability to control the operating and d.
financing activities of an affiliate company.

e. ...itis more likely than not that a company'’s tax position will be e.
sustained upon examination by the Internal Revenue Service.

f. ... the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows from the use  f.
of a plant asset is less than its carrying value.
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LEARNING OBJECTIVES

€ Explain what a conceptual framework is and why it is impor-
tant in accounting standard setting.

@ Define the objective of financial reporting.

@ Describe the qualitative characteristics of financial informa-

tion, including the fundamental and enhancing characteris-

tics of financial reporting.

Identify the elements of financial reporting.

Demonstrate an understanding of recognition and measure-

ment in financial reporting including general recognition

principles, revenue and expense recognition, and accrual

accounting.

(@ Explain the assumptions used in financial reporting.

Introduction

@0

CHAPTER 1 PROVIDED A DETAILED DISCUSSION of the
environment of financial accounting and the standard-setting
process. Companies apply standards that are based on a concep-

tual framework that sets forth the theory of financial reporting.

Given diverse economic transactions, complex operating
environments, and diverse industries, the standard setters
require a logical and consistent basis for the development
of the accounting standards. A conceptual framework pro-
vides a structure for developing new standards or revising
existing standards. The framework ensures that standard
setters develop all portions of the authoritative literature on
a uniform basis that can be justified by a well-defined theo-
retical foundation. Companies then apply the authoritative
literature in preparing their financial statements.

Consider two companies that generate revenues in differ-
ent ways like Facebook, Inc., the social media company, and
Johnson & Johnson, the consumer healthcare, pharmaceu-
tical, and medical device company. Facebook generates its
revenues from advertising and fees for virtual currency and
digital goods. Johnson & Johnson manufactures and sells
a diverse range of healthcare products. Whereas Facebook
primarily provides services and Johnson & Johnson manu-
factures and sells goods, both companies determine their
costs associated with providing these services and goods
based on the authoritative literature, which is grounded in
the conceptual framework. Studying the conceptual frame-
work of accounting will prepare you to understand the foun-
dation of the guidance and associated financial reporting.

The conceptual framework defines the objective of
financial reporting as providing financial information that
is useful in making decisions about resource allocation.
It identifies characteristics associated with high-quality
financial information. The conceptual framework also
defines the elements of the financial reporting system, such
as assets and liabilities, and specifies the recognition and
measurement criteria to be used in practice. Therefore,
when investors and creditors analyze financial statements
of companies such as Facebook or Johnson & Johnson,
they understand how the financial statements were prepared,
what each financial statement contains, and what each line
item on the statements represents.

13
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We will discuss the purpose of a conceptual framework in
the first part of this chapter. The FASB and the IASB cur-
rently have two separate conceptual frameworks, which are
partially converged. The two boards have converged to the
same objective of financial reporting and the same qualitative

characteristics. Other areas such as elements and recognition,
measurement, and the reporting entity are not converged.
For these areas, we will discuss similarities and differences
between U.S. GAAP and IFRS. «

© GExlainwhataconcep- Qwverview of the Conceptual Framework

tual framework is and

A conceptual framework sets forth theory, concepts, and principles to ensure that accounting

why it is important in

standards are coherent and uniform. The conceptual framework states that a purpose of the con-

accounting standard ceptual framework is to assist standard setters in developing and revising accounting standards.
setting. However, the conceptual framework does not override accounting standards.

Conceptual Framework Components
In this chapter, we will examine the following conceptual framework components:

* Objective of financial reporting

e Characteristics associated with high-quality financial information

* Elements of the financial reporting system

» Recognition and measurement criteria

Throughout the rest of the text, we refer to this discussion of the conceptual framework.
Sections in the text called “The Conceptual Framework Connection” provide a structure to guide
our discussions and analyses by explicitly establishing the relevant conceptual underpinnings.

Exhibit 2.1 illustrates the relationship among the conceptual framework components.
Specifically, the exhibit shows how the objective of financial reporting flows through to the quali-
tative characteristics, elements, measurement and recognition, and constraints, leading to financial
standards for preparing financial statements. In this way, the financial statements are designed to
meet the objective of financial reporting.

EXHIBIT 2.1 Conceptual Framework’s Role in Standard Setting

Objective of
Financial

/ Reporting \

Fi ial Qualitative
St |?anC|at Characteristics
BN (Primary and
Enhancing)
Financial Elements of
Reporting Financial
Standards Statements
Recognition
Constraints and

<*——— Measurement
Concepts
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Exhibit 2.1 also illustrates the use of the conceptual framework in developing new standards
and justifying existing standards. When developing new standards, the standard setters first deter-
mine if the proposed standard meets the objective of financial reporting. Next, the information
provided by the new standard must possess the qualitative characteristics that make accounting
information useful. The standard setters then consider the elements of the financial statements
affected and the recognition and measurement concepts used to support the new standard. Before
deciding to issue a new standard, the standard setters weigh constraints such as the cost and benefit
of issuing the new standard, which may deter requiring the new standard. If the standard is issued,
companies must disclose the changes in the financial statements.

The FASB is currently revising the conceptual framework. Exhibit 2.2 summarizes FASB’s
six-topic project initiated to revise its conceptual framework. The first topic on the objective of
financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics has been completed. The FASB is currently
working on Elements, Measurement, Presentation, and Disclosure. The other topic is inactive.
At the current time, FASB and IASB are working independently on the conceptual framework.

EXHIBIT 2.2 FASB Conceptual Framework Project

Topic Status

Topic 1: Objective and Qualitative Characteristics Completed’

Topic 2: Elements Active—No Exposure Draft Issued
Topic 3: Measurement Active—No Exposure Draft Issued
Topic 4: Reporting Entity Inactive

Topic 5: Presentation Active—Exposure Draft Issued
Topic 6: Disclosure Active—Exposure Draft Issued

Source: http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/FASBContent_C/ProjectUpdatePage&cid=900000011090

Exhibit 2.3 provides a detailed overview of the current conceptual framework. In the following
sections, we will discuss the concepts statements that comprise the current conceptual framework.

EXHIBIT 2.3 Overview of the Conceptual Framework

Objective of Financial Reporting

v

v v

Qualitative Characteristics of Principles of Recognition and

Financial Reporting

Elements of Financial Reporting Measurement in Financial Reporting

v

Fundamental
Characteristics

| |
' v v v v

Enhancing Point-in-time Period-of-time Recognition Bases of
Characteristics Elements Elements Principles Measurement

IThe FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, “Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting—Chapter 1, The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting and Chapter 3, Qualitative
Characteristics of Useful Financial Information” (Norwalk, CT: Financial Accounting Foundation, 2010). Statement
of Financial Accounting Concepts Statement No. 8 superseded the sections of the existing conceptual framework
covering the objective and qualitative characteristics of financial reporting. The IASB issued its own pronouncement,
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (London, UK: International Accounting Standards Board, 2010).


http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/FASBContent_C/ProjectUpdatePage&cid=900000011090

Interview

PAUL PACTER,
FORMER MEMBER OF
IASB »

Paul Pacter

Paul Pacter is a former member of the IASB. Prior to joining the Board, he
served concurrently as its Director of Standards for Small- and Medium-sized
Entities and also as Director in the Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Global IFRS
Office. Paul Pacter left the IASB in December, 2012.

1 How does a conceptual framework assist in the development
of future accounting standards and reduce the possibility of
non-comparable accounting treatments or creating conflicting
accounting standards?

A common goal of the IASB and the FASB—and their
constituents—is for their standards to be based on an agreed
set of fundamental concepts rather than being a collection of
current practices. Fundamental concepts start with agreement
on the objective of financial reporting—who uses financial
statements, for what kinds of decisions, and what information
is relevant to those decisions? These concepts define the basic
building blocks of a financial report (what is an asset, liability,
income, and expense?) and the general principles for recogniz-
ing, measuring, and presenting them. A conceptual framework
enables accounting standard setters to develop a high-quality
and internally consistent body of standards, thereby ensuring
that an entity’s financial report meets the needs of users.

Without agreement on a conceptual framework, each IASB
member would approach an accounting issue with his or
her own personal conceptual framework. As board members
changed, the underlying concepts would change, resulting in
ad hoc, inconsistent, and possibly conflicting standards.

2 How effective is the current conceptual framework at assisting
auditors and preparers of financial information in dealing with
events and transactions not covered by a specific accounting
pronouncement?

No matter how good a framework is, it will never be a machine
where you input some accounting question and out comes a
clear accounting answer. Developing and applying accounting
standards consistent with the framework always requires judg-
ment. The framework provides standard setters with guidance
and direction to exercise those judgments. Although it gives
some guidance to a preparer or auditor of financial statements,
it is less useful to them.

26

The TASB has taken the conceptual framework to a higher level
than FASB. IAS 8, our standard on accounting policies, sets out a
hierarchy of accounting policies: To assert that you comply with
IFRS, you must follow all our standards. If no standard directly
addresses your accounting question, then you must develop a pol-
icy that results in the most relevant and reliable information, draw-
ing an analogy with an existing standard. If you cannot do that,
it is mandatory to look to the conceptual framework. So under
IFRS, the conceptual framework becomes a part of the standards.

3 Why is knowledge of accounting important to be an effective
businessperson, particularly in light of the recent global financial
turmoil?

A business entity that raises capital from investors and credi-
tors must be accountable to them, providing essential informa-
tion about its performance, condition, and prospects through
accurate and understandable financial accounting. It is also
accountable to other constituents—vendors, employees, gov-
ernments, and the community at large.

Capital providers want transparency. When they understand
and have confidence in the financial figures, a company’s abil-
ity to obtain the capital it needs—priced fairly relative to the
risks that the capital provider assumes—improves. Ultimately,
the economy in which it operates improves.

Accounting’s role is to report faithfully and without bias the results
of transactions and other economic events and conditions—both
positive and negative—that affect a business entity. For example,
obligations that meet the definition of a liability should be on the
balance sheet. Impairments of assets that have already happened
should be recognized as losses, even if there is cause for optimism
that the situation may turn around.

4 \What critical issues face the accounting profession today? What
advice might you offer to future accountants?

The number one challenge for financial reporting is to stay
relevant to the needs of investors, lenders, creditors, and other
financial statement users. The information must be useful for
capital allocation and pricing decisions. That is why govern-
ments and regulators require publicly traded companies (and
often private companies as well) to publish accurate financial
statements. We accountants must never lose sight of the impor-
tant public interest in our work.

Discussion Questions

1. Discuss several components of the current conceptual
framework that provide guidance and direction to accoun-
tants when exercising judgment.

2. Discuss the meaning of Paul Pacter’s statement, “We
accountants must never lose sight of the important public
interest in our work.”
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@ Define the objective of
financial reporting.

@ Describe the qualita-
tive characteristics of
financial information,
including the funda-
mental and enhancing
characteristics of
financial reporting.

Conceptual Framework: IFRS

The TASB’s objective and qualitative characteristics are identical to U.S. GAAP. However, they
differ in the descriptions of elements of financial reporting and principles of recognition and
measurement in financial reporting. The IASB is also currently revising its framework.

The Objective of Financial Reporting
According to the conceptual framework, the objective of financial reporting is:

To provide financial information about the reporting entity that is useful to existing and
potential investors, lenders, and other creditors in making decisions about providing
resources to the entity. Those decisions involve buying, selling, or holding equity and
debt instruments and providing or settling loans and other forms of credit.”

The conceptual framework indicates that the primary users of financial information are the
investors, lenders, and other creditors who cannot demand information from the entity.3 For
instance, if Bank of America extends credit to Johnson & Johnson, the bank can demand any
information needed to approve the loan. However, an individual investor in Johnson & Johnson’s
publicly traded debt usually cannot obtain additional information from the entity to help assess
the amount, timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows. Investors also require financial informa-
tion to form an opinion about a company’s future cash flows and earnings—and many of the
standard-setting board’s decisions are based on this need.

The Qualitative Characteristics of Financial
Information

The objective of financial reporting is to provide useful information for decision making by inves-
tors, lenders, and other creditors. What characteristics make financial information useful? The
conceptual framework divides the qualitative characteristics into fundamental characteristics and
enhancing characteristics, and discusses the cost constraint on providing information.

Fundamental Characteristics

Fundamental characteristics are those basic characteristics that distinguish useful financial
information from information that is not useful. The FASB identifies the two fundamental char-
acteristics as relevance and faithful representation.

Relevance. Financial information is relevant if it is capable of making a difference in decision
making by exhibiting the following attributes:

* Predictive value
* Confirmatory value
e Materiality

Information has predictive value if decision makers can use it as an input into processes that
help forecast future outcomes. For example, companies report sales revenue each year. Financial
statement users may use the prior year’s revenues to predict future revenues. Both BMW and
Porsche, German automobile manufacturers, reported sales increases in their earnings announce-
ments for fiscal 2015. By highlighting the increase in sales, the companies implicitly benchmarked
the current sales against past sales. The sales from prior years can then be useful to investors in
forecasting future revenues in periods beyond 2015.

%From the FASB’s Concepts Statement No. 8, Paragraph OB2, and the IASB’s Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting, Paragraph OB2.

3If the objective were to provide information to a different group (e.g., regulators), then the boards would arrive at
different reporting requirements.



18

Chapter 2

Information has confirmatory value if it provides feedback about prior evaluations. For
example, financial statement users will often compare reported net income to prior earnings fore-
casts. Consider Johnson & Johnson, which beat or exceeded analysts’ forecasted earnings per
share in the fourth quarter of 2016, by reporting earnings per share of $1.58.

The concept of materiality also determines the relevance of information. Information is
material if reporting it inaccurately or omitting it would affect financial statement users’ deci-
sions. The materiality of an item can depend on its size or nature. The conceptual framework does
not specify a quantitative threshold for the materiality of an item nor does it identify the specific
nature of items that would be considered material. Rather, whether an item is material depends on
the company and its financial reporting. Preparers and auditors must use professional judgment
to determine the materiality of an item.

As an example of materiality varying with size, consider a $5,000 loss incurred when a
computer is damaged. For a small start-up consulting firm, the loss could be material—that is, it
could affect a financial statement user’s decision such as extending credit to the firm. For a large,
profitable consulting firm, a $5,000 loss would likely be immaterial. The planned disposition of
a major operating segment is an example of an item that is material by its nature. Even though
there is no quantifiable amount that would be reported in the financial statements, not informing
financial statement users of the planned disposition could affect their assessment of the company’s
future performance and their decisions about investing in or extending credit to the company.

Faithful Representation. The second qualitative characteristic, faithful representation,
indicates whether financial information depicts the substance of an economic event in a manner
that is

e Complete
e Neutral
e Free from error

The depiction of an economic event is considered complete if it includes all information—
both descriptions and explanations—necessary for the financial statement user to understand the
underlying economic event. For example, a company reports a balance of long-lived assets on
its balance sheet. From this one amount, a financial statement user cannot fully understand the
company’s investment in its long-lived assets. A complete depiction of a company’s long-lived
assets includes a description of the nature of the assets, the balance by type, and a description of
the depreciation method used for each type. For example, Johnson & Johnson reported $15,905
million of net property, plant, and equipment on its January 3, 2016, balance sheet, represent-
ing about 12% of its total assets. It presents its property, plant, and equipment in more depth in
its footnotes to the financial statements to provide a more complete depiction of the company’s
property, plant, and equipment. In the footnote, Johnson & Johnson includes the amount of each
major class of property, plant, and equipment such as the $22,511 million of machinery and equip-
ment. After the table, Johnson & Johnson includes other information on its property, plant, and
equipment such as the amounts of capitalized interest expense and depreciation expense. Exhibit
2.4 presents note 4 from Johnson & Johnson’s 2015 annual report.

In its financial statement notes, Johnson & Johnson also states that its property, plant, and
equipment are reported at cost. The company indicates that it depreciates plant and equipment
using the straight-line method and provides estimated useful lives. Further, the company identi-
fies and reports the historical costs of four different categories of property, plant, and equipment.
Johnson & Johnson also reports the total accumulated depreciation on these assets.

Information is neutral if it is free from bias in both the selection and presentation of financial
data. For example, assume that Haster Incorporated has three lawsuits pending at the end of the
year. It discloses information only about the lawsuit that it expects to have a favorable outcome but
not the two for which it expects unfavorable outcomes. This biased reporting does not faithfully
represent the firm’s financial position.

Information is reported free from error when there are no mistakes or omissions in the
description of an event or in the process used to produce the financial information. However, the
information need not be accurate in all respects. Specifically, firms report a significant amount of
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EXHIBIT 2.4 Johnson & Johnson Property, Plant and Equipment Note Excerpt,
January 3, 2016, Financial Statements

NOTE 4: Property, Plant and Equipment

At the end of 2015 and 2014, property, plant and equipment at cost and accumulated depreciation were:

(Dollars in Millions) 2015 2014
Land and land improvements $ 780 $ 833
Buildings and building equipment 9,829 10,046
Machinery and equipment 22,511 22,206
Construction in progress 3,528 3,600
Total property, plant and equipment, gross $ 36,648 $36,685
Less accumulated depreciation (20,743) (20,559)
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 15,905 $16,126

The Company capitalizes interest expense as part of the cost of construction of facilities and
equipment. Interest expense capitalized in 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $102 million, $115 million, and
$105 million, respectively.

Depreciation expense, including the amortization of capitalized interest in 2015, 2014, and 2013, was
$2.5 billion, $2.5 billion, and $2.7 billion, respectively.

Upon retirement or other disposal of property, plant and equipment, the costs and related amounts of
accumulated depreciation or amortization are eliminated from the asset and accumulated depreciation
accounts, respectively. The difference, if any, between the net asset value and the proceeds are
recorded in earnings.

Source: Annual Report, 2015 Johnson and Johnson

financial information based on estimates. For example, companies estimate the amount of receiv-
ables that will ultimately become uncollectible. Because the amount of uncollectible receivables
is an estimate, the actual amount could be different.

Enhancing Characteristics

Even if information is relevant and representationally faithful, it may not be the most useful data
available for decision making. The FASB identifies the following four enhancing characteristics
that help distinguish more useful information from less useful information:

* Comparability

* Verifiability

e Timeliness

e Understandability

Comparability. Investors and creditors must be able to compare entities in making capital
allocation decisions. Comparability allows financial statements users to identify and understand
similarities and differences among several entities. Accounting standards often allow alternative
methods, such as straight-line or accelerated depreciation, and require estimates, like the useful
lives of long-lived assets. A company’s financial information is useful if financial statement users
can compare it with similar information from another company, companies in its industry, or to
its prior year. For example, the requirement to disclose the useful lives of long-lived assets allows
financial statement users to compare the aircraft fleets of American Airlines and Delta Airlines.
American uses a 16- to 30-year useful life for its fleet whereas Delta uses a longer 20- to 32-year
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@ Identify the elements
of financial reporting.

useful life.* The differing useful lives imply that American has aircraft with a shorter useful life
and probably has different types of planes in its fleet than Delta.

Verifiability. Verifiability means that a group of reasonably informed financial statement
users are able to reach a consensus decision that reported information is a faithful representation
of an underlying economic event. For example, two independent accountants would agree that a
company owes $100,000 to a commercial bank by examining the loan agreement.

Timeliness. Timely information is available to financial statement users early enough to
make a difference in decision making. In the United States, public companies prepare financial
statements every quarter and annually. Imagine trying to make an investment decision if financial
statements were issued only every five years: You would possess outdated information irrelevant
to decision making in the current period. Generally, older information is less useful than more
recent information.

Understandability. Information is understandable to reasonably informed financial state-
ment users when financial statements classify, characterize, and clearly present all information.
Because many companies are incredibly complex, it is very important to distill the vast amounts
of financial data into a manageable report for users to read and understand. As an example of how
financial statements are organized to aid understandability, companies separate current and non-
current assets on their balance sheets. As a result, financial statement users can better understand
a company’s current and long-term resources.
We summarize the qualitative characteristics in Exhibit 2.5.

Cost Constraint

Providing all relevant and representationally faithful information available is costly. As a result,
the conceptual framework stipulates that standard setters should compare the cost of requiring
information to the benefits derived from presenting this information when developing accounting
standards. Standard setters consider costs for both financial statement reporters and users.

A company consumes a significant amount of resources in collecting, processing, verifying,
and communicating its financial results. New standards or significant revisions of existing stan-
dards require companies to increase training, update accounting systems, and renegotiate existing
contracts based on updated accounting information. On the other hand, if the information required
under a new standard is not provided to the users, they incur costs in obtaining or estimating that
information on their own.

To illustrate, assume that standard setters are considering requiring that retail stores report
the sales and operating profit generated by each store by month. This information may be useful
to investors and financial analysts. However, the cost of providing such detailed store-by-store
information every month can be greater than its benefits. As a result, the information will not be
required.

Elements of Financial Reporting

The second phase of the conceptual framework project builds on the objective of financial report-
ing and characteristics of financial information. This section provides a discussion of the elements
of financial reporting, which are the building blocks of the financial statements.

The two groups of elements are point-in-time elements and period-of-time elements.

1. Point-in-time elements represent resources, claims to resources, or interests in resources as
of a specific point in time and appear on the balance sheet (statement of financial position).
For example, accounts receivable and accounts payable are point-in-time elements.

“Sources: http://d11ge852tjjqow.cloudfront.net/CIK-0000027904/082dbd71-0d08-4ce4-b155-3f7bb2018395.pdf; http://
phx.corporate-ir.net/phoenix.zhtml?c=117098 &p=irol-reportsannual
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http://phx.corporateir.net/phoenix.zhtml?c=117098&p=irol%E2%80%90reportsannual
http://d1lge852tjjqow.cloudfront.net/CIK%E2%80%900000027904/082dbd71%E2%80%900d08%E2%80%904ce4%E2%80%90b155%E2%80%903f7bb2018395.pdf
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2. Period-of-time elements represent the results of events and circumstances that affect an
entity during a period of time and appear on the income statement, statement of comprehen-
sive income, or statement of shareholders’ equity. Sales revenue, depreciation expense, and
dividends declared are examples of period-of-time elements.

Elements
We begin by examining the point-in-time elements.

Point-in-Time Elements. U.S. GAAP identifies the three point-in-time elements, which
represent resources, claims to resources, and interests in resources as of a point in time such as a
specific balance sheet date. The point-in-time elements are:

1. Assets
2. Liabilities
3. Equity
Exhibit 2.6 presents the U.S. GAAP definitions of each element.

EXHIBIT 2.6 Definitions of Point-in-Time Elements

Element Definition

Assets Probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by a particular
entity as a result of past transactions or events

Liabilities Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present obliga-
tions of a particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other enti-
ties in the future as a result of past transactions or events

Equity The net assets or residual interest in the assets of an entity that remains
after deducting its liabilities.

Source: FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements,” Paragraphs
25, 35,49

Assets are probable future economic benefits resulting from some past event. In addition to
the asset definition, U.S. GAAP identifies three enhancing characteristics of an asset:)

1. “It embodies a probable future benefit that involves a capacity, singly or in combination with
other assets, to contribute directly or indirectly to future net cash inflows,

2. A particular entity can obtain the benefit and control others’ access to it, and

3. The transaction or other event giving rise to the entity’s right to or control of the benefit has
already occurred.”

The future economic benefit from an asset is the cash flows generated from its use. For
instance, an account receivable is an asset because it generates cash upon collection. Control-
ling an asset means that no other entity can use or access it without permission. For example,
another entity does not have the right to use another company’s plant and equipment unless
these assets are under a lease agreement. Finally, the asset arises out of an event or transaction
that has already occurred. An account receivable usually arises when a completed sale transac-
tion occurs.

U.S. GAAP defines liabilities as probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from
present obligations of a particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in

SFinancial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial
Statements” (Stamford, CT: FASB, 1985), Paragraph 26.
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the future as a result of past transactions or events. U.S. GAAP also identifies three characteristics
that enhance the definition of a liability:6

1. “It embodies a present duty or responsibility to one or more other entities that entails settle-
ment by probable future transfer or use of assets at a specified or determinable date, on
occurrence of a specified event, or on demand,

2. The duty or responsibility obligates a particular entity, leaving it little or no discretion to
avoid the future sacrifice, and

3. The transaction or other event obligating the entity has already happened.”

These characteristics indicate that a liability will result in a future sacrifice, which can be the
transfer of an asset such as cash or the use of an asset to fulfill the obligation. For example, salaries
payable are a liability because the entity must pay its employees cash in the future in exchange
for services they have already provided to the company.

Equity, or net assets, is the difference between assets and liabilities. This residual interest in a
company’s assets remains after the claims of creditors have been satisfied and therefore represents
the ownership interest. The amount of equity is the cumulative result of investments by owners,
comprehensive income, and distributions to owners.

Period-of-Time Elements. Period-of-time elements represent the results of events and
circumstances that occur between two balance sheet dates. The point-in-time and period-of-time
element groups interrelate or are said to articulate. Period-of-time elements will change point-
in-time elements (i.e., assets, liabilities, and equity). For example, revenues will increase equity
and expenses will decrease equity. Dividends declared will decrease equity. Another example is
accounts receivable increasing when a sale is made on account. Salaries payable increases when
employees have not yet been paid for work performed but equity is decreased.
In the conceptual framework, U.S. GAAP identifies seven period-of-time elements:

. Investments by owners
. Distributions to owners
. Revenues

. Gains

. Expenses

. Losses

~N O AW N

. Comprehensive income

The first two elements, investments by owners and distributions to owners, represent transac-
tions with owners. Investments by owners include the issuance of stock. Dividends are an example
of distributions to owners. The remaining five elements relate to business activities occurring
during the period.

Revenues and expenses are changes in equity that arise in the ordinary course of business.
Gains and losses also change equity but are not considered part of normal operations. For example,
Target Corporation owns some of the stores it operates. Target records depreciation expense on
the buildings as part of its operating income. Now assume that Target sold one of its stores. It
would have a gain or loss on the sale measured as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the building’s carrying value. Target did not include the gain or loss in normal operations and it
would not classify it as revenue or expense. Rather, it would recognize the amount as either a gain
or loss on disposal.

Comprehensive income includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting
from investments by owners and distributions to owners. As a result, comprehensive income
includes net income and other gains or losses currently not recognized on the traditional income
statement. For example, if a company invests in certain debt securities and the fair value of these
shares declines, the equity of the company decreases. The decline in equity is part of other

®FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements,” Paragraph 36.
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comprehensive income and may not be included on the traditional income statement.” The FASB’s
definition and summary of the period-of-time elements are in Exhibit 2.7.

EXHIBIT 2.7 Period-of-Time Elements

Element Definition

Investments by Owners Increases in equity of a particular business enterprise resulting from
transfers to it from other entities of something valuable to obtain
or increase ownership interests (or equity) in it. Assets are most
commonly received as investments by owners, but that which is
received may also include services or satisfaction or conversion of
liabilities of the enterprise.

Distributions to Owners Decreases in equity of a particular business enterprise resulting
from transferring assets, rendering services, or incurring liabilities by
the enterprise to owners. Distributions to owners decrease owner-
ship interest (or equity) in an enterprise.

Revenues Inflows or other enhancements of an entity's assets or settlements
of its liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or produc-
ing goods, rendering services, or other activities that constitute the
entity’'s ongoing major or central operations.

Gains Increases in equity (net assets) from an entity’s peripheral or inci-
dental transactions and from all other transactions and other events
and circumstances affecting the entity except those that result from
revenues or investments by owners.

Expenses Outflows or other consumption of assets or incurrences of liabilities
(or a combination of both) from delivering or producing goods, ren-
dering services, or carrying out other activities that constitute the
entity’'s ongoing major or central operations.

Losses Decreases in equity (net assets) from an entity’s peripheral or inci-
dental transactions and from all other transactions and other events
and circumstances affecting the entity except those that result from
expenses or distributions to owners.

Comprehensive Income The change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from nonowner
sources. It includes all changes in equity during a period except
those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to
OWnNErs.

Source: FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements”

Elements: IFRS

In this section, we discuss similarities and key differences in the elements under U.S. GAAP
and IFRS.

Point-in-Time Elements. IFRS identifies the same three point-in-time elements as
U.S. GAAP:

1. Assets
2. Liabilities
3. Equity

"We discuss the distinction between net income and comprehensive income in Chapter 5.
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The definitions of these elements differ slightly in IFRS. Companies usually identify the same
assets and liabilities under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, however, so we do not explore the details
of the IFRS definitions.®

Period-of-Time Elements. IFRS identifies four period-of-time elements:

1. Performance

2. Income (includes both revenues and gains)

3. Expenses (includes both expenses and losses)
4. Capital maintenance adjustments

IFRS explicitly identifies performance, or profit, as a separate element. In contrast, profit is
the result of adding revenues and gains and subtracting expenses and losses under U.S. GAAP.
Where U.S. GAAP identifies revenues and gains as separate elements, the income element in
IFRS encompasses both revenues and gains as both increase equity. Similarly, where U.S. GAAP
identifies expenses and losses as separate elements, the expense element under IFRS encompasses
both expenses and losses as both decrease equity. Exhibit 2.8 illustrates the links between these
definitions under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

EXHIBIT 2.8 Links between Revenues, Gains, Income, Expenses, and Losses
under U.S. GAAP and IFRS

U.S. GAAP Elements IFRS Elements

Revenues
\ Income
Gains /
Expenses
\’ Expenses
Losses /

Unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS determines capital maintenance adjustments from period to period.
IFRS defines capital maintenance adjustments as restatements or revaluations of reported
amounts of assets and liabilities that companies usually report in other comprehensive income.
The concept of capital maintenance relates to how a company seeks to assess changes in its equity.
Capital is maintained when the amount of equity in the current year is at least as much as it was
in the prior year.” Because capital maintenance assesses changes in equity, it is linked to how profit
is determined. There are two concepts of capital maintenance:

» Financial capital maintenance

* Physical capital maintenance

80ne exception in assets and liabilities reported under U.S. GAAP and IFRS is related to the accounting for research and
development costs. Under U.S. GAAP, companies expense all research and development costs. U.S. standard setters
view the probable future economic benefits of research and development as so uncertain that research and development
cannot be considered an asset. International standard setters also view research costs as uncertain and require
companies to expense them under IFRS. However, companies can record development costs as an asset under IFRS
when certain conditions are met. The difference in treating development costs as an asset is not due to a difference in
the definition of an asset under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Rather, it is attributable to differences in the interpretation of
what is a probable future benefit. We discuss the accounting for research and development costs in Chapter 11.

9We exclude distributions to and contributions from owners during the period in determining whether capital has been
maintained.
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@ Demonstrate an under-
standing of recognition
and measurement in
financial reporting,
including general
recognition principles,
revenue and expense
recognition, and
accrual accounting.

Under the concept of financial capital maintenance, capital is viewed as the financial
amount, or money amount, invested in a company. A company earns profit only if the financial
amount, or dollar amount, of the equity at the end of the period is higher than it was at the begin-
ning of the period. For example, financial capital is maintained and a profit is earned when the
ending balance of equity is $750,000 higher than the beginning balance.

Under the concept of physical capital maintenance, capital is viewed as the productive
capacity of a company, such as units of output per day. A company earns a profit if its productive
capacity is greater at the end of the period than it was at the beginning of the period. The concept
of physical capital maintenance relies on current cost measurement and is consistent with the
revaluation or restatement of long-lived operating assets and liabilities. For example, physical
capital is maintained and a profit is earned when the output of goods produced is 200,000 units
higher in the current year than in the prior year. IFRS allows a company to determine the concept
of capital maintenance that is most appropriate for its business.

Finally, also note that unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS does not treat transactions with the owners
as separate elements.

Principles of Recognition and Measurement

The use of the accrual basis, rather than the cash basis, is a distinguishing feature of financial
accounting. We discuss the underlying principles of accrual accounting in this section that include:

* General recognition
* Revenue and expense recognition
e Bases of measurement

General Recognition Principles

Recognition is the process of reporting an economic event in the financial statements. Recognized
events are included in a line item on the financial statements as opposed to in the notes to the
statements. '

Companies should recognize items when (and only when) they have met the following four
criteria.

1. The item meets the definition of one of the elements of the financial statements. For example,
before a company records an asset, the item must meet the definition of an asset.

2. The item is measurable. Events that are relevant to decision making are recognizable only if
the firm can measure them. Consider an entity that has been sued. In the early stages of the
lawsuit, it may not be possible to reliably estimate the amount of the potential obligation.
Therefore, it does not report a liability on the balance sheet.

3. The item must be reliable. This notion is similar to the faithful representation characteristic
discussed earlier in that reliable financial information depicts the substance of an economic
event in a manner that is complete, neutral, and free from error.

4. The item is relevant. That is, it must allow financial statement users to make rational economic
decisions.

An item could meet all four of the above criteria and still not be recognized due to the
cost-benefit constraint or a materiality threshold. Similar to the cost constraint that standard set-
ters apply when setting accounting standards, companies use the cost-benefit constraint when
determining when to recognize an item in the financial statements. The cost-benefit constraint
requires that the expected benefits from recognition exceed the costs of recognition. Reporting the
individual wages and salaries for 2,500 employees worldwide in a company may be more useful

1RASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of
Business Enterprises” (Stamford, CT: FASB, 1984), Paragraph 6.
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in certain analyses than simply reporting total wage and salary expense on the income statement.
However, the cost of providing that information will probably exceed its benefit.

The materiality threshold requires that an item be recognized in the financial statements if
its omission or misstatement would significantly influence the judgment of a reasonably informed
statement user. Materiality can apply to a numerical value or a nonquantifiable concern. For
example, a company facing an antitrust violation has no amounts to report because the litigation
is still in process. However, the firm must disclose the litigation to ensure its financial statements
are transparent.

Revenue and Expense Recognition

The financial markets’ emphasis on reported earnings makes revenue and expense recognition
principles important. Recall from our earlier discussion that Johnson & Johnson beat analysts’
forecasts in the fourth quarter of 2016. The ability to report earnings in line with or higher than
forecasts can be critical to a company’s stock price. The intent of the revenue and expense recogni-
tion principles is to recognize revenue and expenses in the appropriate time period.

The revenue recognition principle in the conceptual framework states that a company should
recognize revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned:

1. An item is realized or realizable when a company exchanges a good or service for cash or
claims to cash.

2. Revenues are considered earned when the seller has accomplished what it must do to be
entitled to the revenues.'!"1?

A new revenue standard, which public companies can start adopting in 2017, is not com-
pletely aligned with the conceptual framework. That is, the new revenue standard indicates that
the overarching principle of revenue recognition is the notion of the transfer of control of the
goods or services. Five steps are applied to determine the timing and measurement of revenue:

. Identify the contract with the customer.

. Identify the separate performance obligations in the contract.

. Determine the transaction price.

. Allocate the transaction price to separate performance obligations.

N AW N =

. Recognize revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied.

We expect that FASB will align the conceptual framework with the new standard when it
rewrites the framework.

Expense recognition principles are used to determine the period when a company reports
an expense on the income statement. Firms recognize expenses when:

1. The entity’s economic benefits are consumed in the process of producing or delivering goods
or rendering services.

2. An asset has experienced a reduced (or eliminated) future benefit, or when a liability has been
incurred or increased, without an associated economic benefit.

Therefore, a company reports an expense when economic benefits are consumed. There are
three main approaches to determine when to report an expense:
* Match with revenues
* Expense in period incurred
» Systematically allocate over periods of use

See FASB’s Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial
Statements of Business Enterprises,” Paragraph 83 for a complete definition.

>Whereas FASB’s Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5 outlines requirements to recognize revenue,
FASB’s Accounting Standards Update 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Norwalk, CT: Financial
Accounting Foundation, 2014) updates the guidance on when to recognize revenue.
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The approach used depends on the type of expense. For example, some expenses—such as
cost of goods sold—consume inventory when used and are matched with their related revenues.
Specifically, firms match the cost of goods sold expense directly with the sales of inventory dur-
ing the same period. Firms can also record expenses in the period in which they are incurred. For
example, the salary of a staff accountant is recorded in the period worked. Finally, firms system-
atically allocate some expenses over the periods during which the related asset provides benefits.
For example, a firm depreciates (i.e., expenses) a building over the periods that it will provide a
benefit to the entity.

Commonly, firms reduce an asset or increase a liability when expected future cash flows
change. For example, in the period that a company determines it can no longer sell certain inven-
tory, it will record a loss on the income statement and write the inventory down on the balance
sheet. Exhibit 2.9 summarizes these examples.

EXHIBIT 2.9 Examples of Expense Recognition

When to Recognize the

Related Balance Sheet Expense on the Income Approach to Recognize
Income Statement Line Item  Line Item Statement Expense
Cost of goods sold Inventory Upon sale of inventory Match with revenue
Loss on inventory Inventory When inventory value declines Loss in period incurred

obsolescence

Supplies expense

Depreciation expense

or becomes obsolete

Supplies Upon use in operations and Expense in period incurred
consumption of supplies

Accumulated depreciation Over time with use in produc- Systematically allocate over
tion and consumption of future periods of use
economic benefit

Salary and wages expense Salaries and wages payable Recognize in the period ser- Expense in period incurred

vices are performed

Bases of Measurement

After a company determines that it should recognize an item, it has to measure the item.'? For
example, when a company purchases inventory from a supplier, it also incurs freight costs to have
the inventory shipped to its stores. The company recognizes inventory as an asset. It measures the
value of the inventory asset as the purchase price plus the freight costs and reports that amount
on the balance sheet.

The initial measurement of elements in the financial statements and their subsequent measure-
ment are both pertinent to financial reporting. U.S. GAAP identifies five measurement bases used
in financial reporting.'*

1. Historical cost is the amount of cash (or equivalent) that the firm paid to acquire the asset.
In the case of a liability, historical cost is the amount of cash (or equivalent) that the firm
received when it incurred the obligation. The historical cost of an asset may be adjusted for
depreciation or amortization.

2. Current cost is the amount of cash (or equivalent) that would be required if the firm acquired
the asset currently.

3. Current market value is the amount of cash (or equivalent) that the firm would receive by
selling the asset in an orderly liquidation. Liabilities may also be measured at current market
value.

13The information included in this section is currently under review. The FASB is developing a revised concepts
statement on measurement. An exposure draft has not yet been issued.

YFASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of
Business Enterprises,” Paragraph 67.
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4. Net realizable value is the amount of cash (or equivalent) to be received in exchange for
an asset, less the direct costs of disposal. In the case of a liability, it is the amount of cash
(or equivalent) expected to be paid to liquidate the obligation, including any direct costs of
liquidation.

5. Present value of future cash flows results from discounting net cash flows the firm expects
to receive on the exchange of an asset or to pay to liquidate a liability. ">

The historical cost approach results in the general policy that firms initially record assets (and
liabilities) at cost and maintain them at cost until selling, consuming, or otherwise disposing of
them. Historical cost is the agreed-upon acquisition price arrived at objectively through an arms-
length transaction. An arms-length transaction involves a buyer and seller who are independent
and unrelated parties, each bargaining to maximize his or her own wealth. Although historical
costs are unrelated to current market values, firms continue to use historical cost information for
most assets and in most industries. The use of historical cost is justified because it is objective
and subject to verification.

The current cost, current market value, net realizable value, and present value of future cash
flows measurement bases are all consistent with fair value reporting.'® There are times when fair
value is observable, such as for a publicly traded equity security. When fair value is not directly
observable—for example, an equity security that is not publicly traded—management uses
judgment-based models to determine its fair value.

Fair Value Measurement and the Fair Value Hierarchy. The trend toward mea-
suring financial assets and liabilities at fair value discussed in Chapter 1 impacts the amounts
reported on the balance sheet. In order to improve user confidence in fair value measurements
reported, the FASB requires disclosures that indicate the reliability of the inputs used in all fair
value measures reported on the financial statements. This disclosure takes the form of a fair value
hierarchy that provides three levels of reliability from the most to the least objective inputs used
in the fair value measurement process.
Exhibit 2.10 presents the three levels of the fair value hierarchy.

EXHIBIT 2.10 Fair Value Hierarchy

Level Inputs Used in the Measurement Process

Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for an identical asset or liability. A publicly traded
equity security is classified in this level.

Level 2 Inputs other than the quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability. For example, a building could be valued using a price per
square foot obtained from transactions in a comparable building in a similar
location.

Level 3 Unobservable inputs to value the asset or liability. For example, to measure the
fair value of a private equity investment, a company might perform an analy-
sis that relies on the present value of the expected future cash flows of that
investment.

Source: FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement” (Norwalk, CT:
FASB, 2006), Paragraphs 22-31

Ideally, companies would measure all financial assets and liabilities using Level 1 inputs, but
that is not possible. Nonetheless, companies should use the highest level of reliability possible
when determining fair values of financial assets or liabilities.

SUnder U.S. GAAP, the present value measurement attribute is discussed in much greater length in the FASB’s
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in Accounting
Measurements” (Norwalk, CT: FASB, 2000).

1SFASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 7, “Using Cash Flow Information and Present Value in
Accounting Measurements,” Paragraph 7.
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The standard setters’ decision as to whether a particular asset or liability should be measured
at fair value often trades off the relevance of information provided with the ability of the infor-
mation to be a faithful representation of the value of the asset or liability. For example, fair value
is more relevant than historical cost, but it is typically a less faithful representation in terms of
measuring the economic event than is historical cost.

However, U.S. companies generally do not report their nonfinancial assets such as equipment
or land at market or appraisal values or adjust them for inflation. An exception is when an asset
is impaired. For declines in fair value, firms are required to write down, or reduce, asset values.!”
In most industries, nonfinancial assets are not valued above initial cost.

Recognition and Measurement: IFRS

In this section, we discuss major differences in recognition and measurement between U.S. GAAP
and IFRS.

General Recognition Principles. IFRS also has four recognition criteria. Notice that
the first three recognition criteria are similar to U.S. GAAP:

1. The item meets the definition of one of the elements.

2. The item is measurable.

3. The measurement of the item must be reliable.

4. It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to or from the company.

To illustrate the fourth criterion, assume management determines it is probable that the com-
pany will collect an estimated amount of receivables, resulting in an economic benefit to the
company. Management should not include any receivables unlikely to be collected as assets by
establishing an allowance for uncollectible accounts. This fourth criterion is used instead of rel-
evance under U.S. GAAP.

The IFRS cost-benefit constraint and materiality constraint are similar to U.S. GAAP. We
summarize the U.S. GAAP and IFRS recognition criteria in Exhibit 2.11.

EXHIBIT 2.11 General Recognition Principles

An item is recognized in the financial statements if it is:

An element of the financial statements Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
Measurable Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
Reliable Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
Relevant Not included in IFRS

Not included in U.S. GAAP

Cost-benefit constraint

Materiality constraint

Probable that any future economic benefit associated with the
item will flow to or from the company

Recognition is subject to the:
Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Source: FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial
Statements of Business Enterprises” and IASB, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

TWe discuss accounting for long-lived asset write-downs, impairments, in Chapter 12.
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Revenue and Expense Recognition. Under the current IFRS conceptual framework,
firms recognize revenue when they meet both of the following criteria:

1. An increase in future economic benefits related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a
liability has occurred.

2. The revenue can be measured reliably.18

Similar to U.S. GAAP, the IASB’s recently adopted new revenue standard is not completely
aligned with the IFRS conceptual framework.!® The IASB adopted the same new revenue standard
as the FASB, applying the notion of the transfer of control of the goods or services for revenue
recognition. We expect that IASB will align the conceptual framework with the new standard when
it rewrites the framework.

Firms recognize expenses in the income statement when both of the following criteria are met:

1. A decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a
liability has occurred.

2. The expense can be measured reliably.?”

Firms recognize expenses simultaneously with an increase in liabilities or a decrease in assets.
For example, salaries payable is increased when a company recognizes salary expense. Unlike
U.S. GAAP, IFRS does not use the matching approach for expense recognition.

Bases of Mleasurement. IFRS includes four of the five measurement bases used under
U.S. GAAP. The four IFRS measurement bases are:

1. Historical cost

2. Current cost

3. Net realizable value

4. Present value of future cash flows

IFRS does not include current market value as a separate measurement basis. Rather, the view
under [FRS is that current cost, net realizable value, and the present value of future cash flows are
all current market value measures.

Cash versus Accrual Accounting

U.S. GAAP is based on accrual accounting. It follows that U.S. GAAP does not allow a cash-
basis system.>! To highlight the advantages of accrual accounting, we will begin by reviewing the
cash-basis system.

Cash-Basis Accounting. Under the cash basis, firms recognize revenues only when they
receive cash and recognize expenses only when they pay cash. Consequently, the cash basis
measures cash receipts and disbursements but does not measure economic activity. Further, the
cash basis enables firms to manipulate net income with the timing of cash flows. For example, a
company using the cash basis could report higher net income by delaying payment of expenses
until the next accounting period. Alternatively, to reduce reported earnings, a company could
delay billing its customers until the next accounting period to ensure that it would not receive
cash revenues in the current period.

131ASB, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Paragraph 4.47.

I9TASB, International Financial Reporting Standard 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (London, UK:
International Accounting Standards Board, 2014).

201ASB, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Paragraph 4.49.

2lIn U.S. GAAP, the mandate for accrual accounting is in the FASB’s Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements” (Norwalk, CT: FASB, 1985), Paragraph 134. IFRS discusses accrual
accounting in IASB, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Paragraphs OB17-19.
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Chapter 2

EXAMPLE 2.1

@® Explain the assump-

tions used in financial
reporting.

Accrual Accounting. Under the accrual basis, firms recognize revenues and expenses
according to the principles we have discussed. When the firm receives or pays cash does not
matter. Rather, the accrual basis seeks to report the underlying economics of each transaction
on the company. In summary, the accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenues when con-
trol of a good or service passes to the customer and expenses when incurred. As a result, the
major difference between cash and accrual accounting is the timing of revenue and expense
recognition.

The Cash versus the Accrual Basis of Accounting

PROBLEM: Yards, Inc. mows lawns at a fee of $100 per month. In the current year, 200 custom-
ers prepaid for the four months in the summer, beginning on May 1. Yards received $80,000 of
cash receipts ($100 per month x 200 customers x 4 months) in May. Yards, Inc. provided the
required service for four months by mowing lawns throughout May, June, July, and August.
During those months, the company incurred expenses of $10,000, $13,000, $12,000, and
$10,000, respectively, and paid these expenses during the same month it consumed the eco-
nomic benefit. Determine Yards Inc.’s net income for each month from May through August
under both the cash and the accrual bases of accounting.

SOLUTION: Because Yards Inc. paid for the expenses in the same month it consumed the ben-
efits, there is no difference in expense recognition between the cash basis and accrual basis.
However, there is a difference in revenue recognition.

Under cash-basis accounting, Yards would recognize revenue of $80,000 in May because
that is when it received cash. However, under the accrual basis, it would recognize revenue of
$20,000 ($100 per yard x 200 yards) in each of the four months.

Thus, under both systems Yards will ultimately recognize $80,000 revenue, $45,000 in
expenses, and $35,000 in net income. However, the timing of the revenue recognition differs,
as illustrated in the following table.

Revenue Recognition Expense Recognition Net Income (Loss)
Cash Accrual Cash Accrual Cash Accrual

Month Basis Basis Basis Basis Basis Basis
May $80,000 $20,000 $10,000 $10,000 $70,000 $10,000
June -0- 20,000 13,000 13,000 (13,000) 7,000
July -0- 20,000 12,000 12,000 (12,000) 8,000
August -0- 20,000 10,000 10,000 (10,000) 10,000
Totals $80,000 $80,000 $45,000 $45,000 $35,000 $35,000

Note that the cash basis reports only cash receipts and disbursements but does not properly
measure economic activity. Yards’ cash-basis net income is overstated in May and understated
in June, July, and August.

Assumptions in Financial Reporting

We will now examine a number of underlying assumptions that are integral to the financial report-
ing process. The assumptions we discuss are:

* Going concern concept

* Business or economic entity concept
* Monetary unit assumption

e Periodicity assumption
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U.S. GAAP does not directly state these four items as assumptions in the conceptual frame-
work.?? Yet, they are implicit in determining financial reporting standards.

Going Concern Concept

Many assumptions in the financial statements are based on long-term periods. How can a manager
assert with certainty that a business will be viable in, say, 25 years? The going concern concept
indicates that accountants will record transactions and prepare financial statements as if the entity
will continue to operate for an indefinite period of time unless there is evidence to the contrary.
That is, the entity will exist for a period of time long enough to carry out contemplated operations,
utilize existing productive capacity, and liquidate outstanding obligations. This concept justifies
accounting practices such as the long-term/short-term classifications on the balance sheet and the
depreciation of buildings for as long as 40 years.

The going concern concept is also tied to the use of historical cost. A business planning to
operate for an indefinite period of time will not sell productive assets. Consequently, market values
are less relevant. If a business is in jeopardy of failing (e.g., bankruptcy), then the going concern
assumption would not be valid. If the assumption is not applicable, accountants would measure
assets and liabilities at the amount at which they expect to dispose of them, their liquidation values.

Business or Economic Entity Concept

The business or economic entity concept states that all transactions and events relate to the
reporting entity and must be kept separate from the personal affairs of the owner, related busi-
nesses, and the owner’s outside business interests. For example, Kyle Perry owns and operates
several sporting goods shops called Perry’s Sports. Perry’s Sports is an economic entity separate
from Kyle Perry. Perry’s Sports owns its store buildings and reports them in the company’s finan-
cial statements. Kyle Perry owns his house. The house is an asset of Kyle Perry and is not reported
in the financial statements of Perry’s Sports. Financial reporting for different entities must be
separate and include disclosures describing transactions among related entities.

Monetary Unit Assumption

The monetary unit assumption stipulates that an entity measure and report its economic activi-
ties in dollars (or some other monetary unit). These dollars are assumed to remain relatively
stable over time in terms of purchasing power. This assumption ignores any inflation or deflation
experienced in the economy in which the entity operates. This assumption justifies adding dol-
lars of different purchasing power on the balance sheet. For example, a company would add land
purchased in the current period to the balance of land acquired in 1969.

Periodicity Assumption

The periodicity assumption specifies that an economic entity can divide its life into artificial
time periods for the purpose of providing periodic reports on its economic activities. The period-
icity assumption results in the need for accrual accounting because revenue and expenses must
be reported in a given period under this assumption. In addition, the time periods used will vary
depending on the demands of financial statement users. For example, the SEC currently requires
quarterly financial statements for publicly traded firms. These statements use significant estimates
and may be less representationally faithful than the annual report. However, quarterly statements
are more timely (an enhancing characteristic) than reporting on an annual basis because timely
information is more useful (relevant) in decision making.

Assumptions in Financial Reporting: IFRS

IFRS explicitly addresses the going concern assumption. The other assumptions are implicit in
the standard-setting process.

22 Another assumption, the full disclosure principle, states that accountants must report and disclose all information
that can significantly affect the judgment of a reasonably informed financial statement user. The revisions to
the conceptual framework added that financial information must be complete to be a faithful representation.
Completeness, then, makes explicit the prior assumption of full disclosure.
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Summary by Learning Objectives

In the following, we summarize the main points by learning objective. Throughout the chapter, we
discuss the accounting and reporting of U.S. GAAP and IFRS side-by-side. The following table
also highlights the major similarities and differences between the standards.

0 Explain what a conceptual framework is and why it is important in accounting standard setting.

Summary Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

A conceptual framework sets forth the theory, concepts, and Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
principles that underlie financial reporting. The FASB is working
on a conceptual framework project divided into topics with the
first one completed to date:

1. Objective and Qualitative Characteristics

2. Elements and Recognition

3. Measurement

4. Reporting Entity

5. Presentation

Q Disclosure. J

@ Define the objective of financial reporting.

Summary Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
The objective of financial reporting is to provide financial Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
information that is useful to investors, lenders, and other creditors
@ making decisions about providing resources to an entity. J

9 Describe the qualitative characteristics of financial information, including the fundamental and enhancing char-
acteristics of financial reporting.

Summary Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Fundamental characteristics are relevance and faithful Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS
representation that distinguish useful financial reporting
information from nonuseful information.

Relevant information is capable of making a difference in
decision making because

e Of its predictive value: It can be used as an input into processes
that help predict future outcomes.

e Of its confirmatory value: It provides feedback about prior
evaluations.

e |t is material: Reporting it inaccurately or omitting it would affect
the decisions made by the financial statement users.

Financial information is a faithful representation if it depicts the
substance of an economic event

e Completely,

e Neutrally, and

e Free from error.

Enhancing characteristics distinguish more useful information

from less useful information. There are four enhancing
characteristics:

e Comparability,
e \erifiability,

e Timeliness, and
& Understandability. J
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

Q Identify the elements of financial reporting.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

There are two main groupings of elements: point-in-time and
period-of-time.

U.S. GAAP Point-in-Time Elements:

Assets: Probable future economic benefits obtained or controlled by
a particular entity as a result of past transactions or events

Liabilities: Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising
from present obligations of a particular entity to transfer assets or
provide services to other entities in the future as a result of past
transactions or events

Equity: Or net assets, the residual interest in the assets of an entity
that remains after deducting its liabilities

U.S. GAAP Period-of-Time Elements:

Investments by owners: Increases in an entity's equity resulting
from transfers to it from other entities of something valuable to
obtain or increase ownership interests (or equity) in the entity.

Distributions to owners: Decreases in an entity's equity resulting
from transferring assets, rendering services, or incurring liabilities
to owners. Distributions to owners decrease ownership interest (or
equity) in an enterprise.

Revenues: Inflows or other enhancements of assets or settlements
of liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or producing
goods, rendering services, or other activities of the entity's ongoing
major or central operations.

Gains: Increases in an entity’s equity from peripheral or incidental
transactions and from all other transactions and other events and
circumstances except those that result from revenues or invest-
ments by owners.

Expenses: Outflows or other using up of assets or incurrences of
liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or producing
goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities of the
entity’'s ongoing major or central operations.

Losses: Decreases in equity (net assets) from peripheral or inci-
dental transactions of an entity and from all other transactions
and other events and circumstances except those that result from
expenses or distributions to owners.

Comprehensive income: The change in equity of a business enter
prise during a period from transactions and other events and cir
@mstances from nonowner sources.

» The point-in-time elements of financial reporting are defined
slightly differently under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. In practice,
though, IFRS and U.S. GAAP often lead to the same decisions
on what is reported as an asset, liability, or equity for the items
we discuss in the text.

» The period-of-time elements are different under U.S. GAAP
and IFRS.The only element in common is expenses, but it is
defined differently under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

IFRS Period-of-Time Elements:

1. Performance: A separate element in IFRS. Under U.S. GAAR
profit is the result of adding revenues and gains and subtracting
expenses and losses.

2.Income (both revenues and gains).
3. Expenses (both expenses and losses).

4. Capital maintenance adjustments: Restatements or revaluations
of reported amounts of assets and liabilities.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

@ Demonstrate an understanding of recognition and measurement in financial reporting including general recog-
nition principles, revenue and expense recognition, and accrual accounting.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Recognition is the process of including an item as a line item in
the financial statements of the entity.

Under general recognition principles, an item is recognized

in the financial statements if it is an element of the financial
statements, measurable, reliable, and relevant. Recognition is
subject to the cost-benefit constraint and materiality threshold
constraint.

In the FASB’s conceptual framework, the revenue recognition
principle states that revenue is recognized when it is

1. Realized or realizable. An item is considered realized or realizable
when a good or service has been exchanged for cash or claims
to cash.

2. Earned. Revenues are considered earned “when the entity has
substantially accomplished what it must do to be entitled to the
benefits represented by the revenues.”

New revenue recognition standards apply different guidance
to recognize revenue—the notion of the transfer of control of
goods or services to recognize revenue.

Expense recognition involves the timing of when an expense
is reported on the income statement. Expenses are recognized
when

1. The entity’s benefits are consumed in the process of producing or
delivering goods or rendering services.

2. An asset has experienced a reduced (or eliminated) future ben-
efit or when a liability has been incurred or increased without an
associated economic benefit.

There are three main approaches to determine when to report
an expense:

e Match with revenues
e Expense in period incurred

( Systematically allocate over periods of use

» |IFRS differs from U.S. GAAP in how it defines when items
are recognized and in revenue and expense recognition criteria.

Under IFRS general recognition principles, an item is recog-
nized in the financial statements if it is an element of the finan-
cial statements, measurable, reliable, and probable that any
future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to or
from the company.

The IASB conceptual framework states that revenue is recog-
nized when the following two criteria are met:

1. An increase in future economic benefits related to an increase in
an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen.

2. It can be measured reliably.

Similar to U.S. GAAP, IFRS now uses the notion of a transfer of
control of goods or services to recognize revenue.

Expenses are recognized when:

1. A decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in
an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen.

2.They can be measured reliably.

IFRS does not recognize the matching approach.

@ Explain the assumptions used in financial reporting.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Assumptions in financial reporting:

e Going concern concept
e Business or economic entity assumption

e Monetary unit assumption

( Periodicity assumption

» IFRS explicitly addresses the going concern assumption.The
other assumptions are implicit in the standard-setting process.

J
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Q2-1.
Q2-2.
Q2-3.
Q2-4.
Q2-5.
Q2-6.
Q2-7.
Q2-8.
Q2-9.

Q2-10.

Q2-11.

Q2-12.

Q2-13.

Q2-14.

Q2-15.

Q2-16.

Q2-17.

Q2-18.

Q2-19.

Q2-20.

BE2-1.
BE2-2.

BE2-3.
BE2-4.

BE2-5.

BE2-6.

BE2-7.

BE2-8.

BE2-9.

What is the conceptual framework for financial reporting?

Are the FASB and IASB conceptual frameworks fully converged? Explain.

Why is a conceptual framework of accounting necessary and justifiable?

Who are the primary financial statement user groups identified in the objective of financial reporting?
Explain the concept of relevance.

What are the attributes of relevance?

Explain the concept of materiality.

What is predictive value?

What is the difference between predictive value and confirmatory value?

When is financial information considered “understandable™?

What is the difference between a point-in-time element and a period-of-time element?
What are the elements of financial reporting and where are they reported?

What is the definition of an asset?

What is the recognition principle and when is an item considered recognized?

What is the revenue recognition principle and when is revenue considered recognized?
When are expenses recognized under U.S. GAAP?

When are expenses recognized under IFRS?

How are transactions recorded under accrual accounting?

Explain the historical cost concept.

Explain the going concern concept.

Components of the Conceptual Framework. List the components of the current conceptual framework.

Users of Financial Information. Describe the primary users of the financial statements according to the
conceptual framework.

Objective of Financial Reporting. Explain the objective of financial reporting.

Relevant and Faithful Representation. Identify whether the following items are characteristics of informa-
tion that are relevant (REL) or a faithful representation (FR):

Information that is neutral

Information that has decision-making implications because of its predictive value

Information that is complete

Information that is free from error

Information that has decision-making implications because of its confirmatory value

Fundamental and Enhancing Characteristics. Describe the fundamental characteristics of financial infor-
mation. Explain the enhancing characteristics of financial reporting information.

Faithful Representation. Describe when financial information is a faithful representation.

Costs and Benefits of Financial Reporting. Explain the costs standard setters consider when comparing
the cost of requiring information to the benefits to the users of having the information when setting a new
standard.

Historical Cost. Discuss how well the historical cost concept satisfies the fundamental characteristics of
relevance and faithful representation.

Fundamental and Enhancing Characteristics. Identify whether the following items are fundamental char-
acteristics (FC) or enhancing characteristics (EC):

Comparable

Relevant

Timely

Understandable

Faithful representation

Verifiable
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BE2-10. Faithful Representation. Match the component of a faithful representation to its definition:

BE2-11.

BE2-12.
BE2-13.
BE2-14.
BE2-15.

Component of a Faithful Representation Definition

1. Complete A. Information is free from bias in both selection and pre-

2. Neutral sentation of financial data.

B. Information should not contain errors or omissions in
the description of the economic event and there are
no errors in the process used to produce the financial
information.

3. Free from error

C. Includes all information that is necessary for the user
to understand the underlying economic event being
depicted.

Enhancing Characteristics. Match the enhancing characteristic with its definition:

Enhancing Characteristic Definition
1. Comparability A. Different knowledgeable parties could reach a
2. Verifiability consensus that a particular depiction is a faithful
o representation.
3. Timely

B. Information is classified, characterized, and pre-
4. Understandable sented clearly.

C. Users of the financial statements can identify
and understand similarities and differences
between different entities.

D. Information is available to financial statements
users soon enough to be useful.

Revenues and Gains. Explain the difference between revenues and gains.

Capital Maintenance Adjustments, IFRS. Describe capital maintenance adjustments.

Expense Recognition. Discuss the three main approaches to recognizing expenses.

Element Definitions. Identify whether the following definitions relate to assets, liabilities, or equity.

Element Definition

Probable future sacrifices of economic benefits arising from present
obligations of a particular entity to transfer assets or provide services to
other entities in the future as a result of past transactions or events.

The net assets are the residual interest in the assets of an entity that
remains after deducting its liabilities.

Probable future economic benefits will be obtained or controlled by a
particular entity as a result of past transactions or events.
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0 BE2-16. Element Definitions. Match each element with its definition.
Element Definition
1. Gains A. Outflows or other consumption of assets or incurrences of lia-

bilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or producing
goods, rendering services, or carrying out other activities that
_ 3. Losses constitute the entity's ongoing major or central operations.

2. Comprehensive income

_______ 4 Expenses B. Inflows or other enhancements of an entity's assets or settle-
ments of its liabilities (or a combination of both) from deliver
- ing or producing goods, rendering services, or other activities
6. Distributions to owners that constitute the entity’s ongoing major or central operations.

5. Revenues

7. Investments by owners C. The change in equity of a business enterprise during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from
nonowner sources. It includes all changes in equity during a
period except those resulting from investments by owners and
distributions to owners.

D. Decreases in equity of a particular business enterprise result-
ing from transferring assets, rendering services, or incurring
liabilities by the enterprise to owners. Distributions to owners
decrease ownership interest (or equity) in an enterprise.

E. Increases in equity (net assets) from an entity’s peripheral
or incidental transactions and from all other transactions and
other events and circumstances affecting the entity except
those that result from revenues or investments by owners.

F Decreases in equity (net assets) from an entity’s peripheral
or incidental transactions and from all other transactions and
other events and circumstances affecting the entity except
those that result from expenses or distributions to owners.

G. Increases in equity of a particular business enterprise resulting
from transfers to it from other entities of something valuable
to obtain or increase ownership interests (or equity) in it.

9 BE2-17. Element Definitions, U.S. GAAP, IFRS. Identify whether the following elements are elements under U.S.
GAAP, IFRS, or both, and point-in-time or period-in-time elements.

Element U.S. GAAPR IFRS, or Both Point in Time or Period of Time

Investments by owners

Income

Losses

Liabilities

Equity

Comprehensive income

Assets

Gains

Capital maintenance adjustment

Expenses

Distributions to owners

Revenues

Performance
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BE2-18. Recognition, U.S. GAAP, IFRS. Identify whether the following items are part of the general recognition
principle under U.S. GAAP, IFRS, or both.

Item U.S. GAAR IFRS, or Both

Relevant

Subject to materiality constraint

An element of the financial statements

Probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item
will flow to or from the company

Measurable
Reliable

Subject to cost-benefit constraint

BE2-19. Measurement Bases. Match the measurement basis with its definition.

BE2-20.

BE2-21.

Measurement Bases Definition
1. Historical cost A. Amount of cash (or equivalent) that would be required if the
2. Current cost asset were acquired currently.
2 Nat resliEbis vallue B. Amount of cash (or equivalent) that would be received by

selling the asset in an orderly liquidation. Liabilities may also

4. Present value of future cash be measured at current market value.

flows
C. Amount of cash (or equivalent) that is paid to acquire the

asset. In the case of a liability, this measurement base is
the amount of cash (or equivalent) that is received when
the obligation was incurred. This measurement base may
change over the life of the asset/liability if it is adjusted for
depreciation or amortization.

5. Current market value

D. Amount of cash (or equivalent) that is expected to be
received in exchange for an asset less the direct costs of the
disposal. In the case of a liability, it is the amount of cash (or
equivalent) expected to be paid to liquidate the obligation,
including any direct costs of liquidation.

E. Discounted net cash flows expected to be received on
exchange of an asset, or paid out in the case of a liability.

Cash versus Accrual Bases of Accounting. The following events occurred at VG Consulting during the
most recent month.

opo o

VG provided consulting services and billed clients $2,000.

VG collected $1,500 for consulting services performed in the prior month.

VG paid its monthly electric bill of $300.

Employees who worked for VG were not paid for services performed. Next month they will be paid $850.
VG collected fees of $700 for services to be performed in the following month.

For each event, determine the revenue or expense under the cash and accrual bases of accounting.

Assumptions in Financial Reporting. Indicate the assumption (going concern, business/economic entity,
monetary unit, or periodicity) that best fits the following scenarios.

Scenario Related Assumption

a. Monro Manufacturing requires that its division managers report to
corporate headquarters on a monthly basis.

b. Rainbow Paints, Inc. owns 15% of New Eljam Company. Rainbow does
not consolidate this affiliate company because it cannot control New
Eljam’s operations.

c. Financial analysts at Nelson Corporation use an infinite-growth
assumption in building a model to value the company.

d. Factory buildings are reported on Jack Jones \Warehousing Inc''s balance
sheet as the sum of the total cost of two plants; one of the plants was
acquired in 1951 and the other was purchased in 2011.
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Exercises
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E2-1.

E2-2.

Conceptual Framework. Noeleen Auto Mall, Ltd. recently completed an initial public offering (IPO) for
$23,000,000 by listing its common shares on the New York Stock Exchange. Prior to its IPO, Noeleen was
a privately held family business. As a public company, Noeleen faces increased reporting requirements,
particularly those sanctioned by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Noeleen’s Controller,
Donald Lierni, was surprised to learn that a Form 10-Q was required to satisfy the company’s first-quarter
filing requirements with the SEC. Lierni lacked sufficient time to develop the “actual” numbers needed to
prepare the report, meaning that he needed to make significant estimates before the 10-Q filing due date.

In addition, Noeleen now must satisfy a new group of financial statement users with additional informa-
tion needs. Noeleen expended resources to meet the new reporting requirements and assess what information
and disclosures to include/exclude from the financial reports. Lierni also learned that privately held com-
panies are not subject to U.S. GAAP requirements like a publicly traded entity. That is, the company now
must follow additional U.S. GAAP standards and is required to change several of its accounting methods.
When considering his options, Lierni decides to take a “safe” approach and report the lowest income pos-
sible by adopting income-reducing standards. Here, the Controller proposes taking excessive write-downs
for obsolete inventory and potentially impaired assets. He also decides to expense the cost of a significant
investment in office equipment.

Finally, Noeleen created a separate legal entity to handle its auto financing, Benedict Arnold Credit
Company, during the same year it went public. The separate entity is not consolidated with the primary
financial statements. Lierni decides to keep this entity off of the balance sheet and does not see any need for
disclosure of Noeleen’s relationship with Benedict Arnold Credit.

Required »

Based on the information provided, list and explain the application of the relevant components
of the conceptual framework of accounting. Identify seven issues and use the following table to
present your solution.

Issue Conceptual Framework

N OO oA WN =
N OO oA WN =

Qualitative Characteristics. Referring to the qualitative characteristics of accounting information, indicate
the fundamental characteristic (relevance or representationally faithful) and its related attribute (confirmatory
value, completeness, materiality, neutrality, or predictive value) for each of the following uses of accounting
information.

Use of Accounting Information Fundamental Characteristic Attribute

a. This year's reported earnings per share is $.50
below analysts’ forecasts.

b. Potential creditors review a company'’s long-
term liabilities footnote to determine that
entity’s ability to assume additional debt.

c. A corporation discloses both favorable and
unfavorable tax settlements.

d. A company discloses the write-off of an
accounts receivable. The receivable due from
a major customer accounts for 35% of the
company's current assets.

e. A financial analyst computes a company's five-
year average cost of goods sold in order to
forecast next year's gross profit margin.
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E2-3. Enhancing Characteristics. Using the following table, match the enhancing characteristics (comparability,
verifiability, timeliness, or understandability) with the following four scenarios. Also indicate if the enhancing
characteristic is either satisfied or violated.

E2-5.

Scenario Enhancing Characteristic Satisfied or Violated

a. Auditors from two offices of a large public
accounting firm agree on the measurement
used for a client’s plant assets.

b.The Later Than Sooner Company reports
income only every two years.

c. Gladys Groceries reports its investments
at cost while the other companies in the
grocery industry use the fair value option to
measure investments.

d. Grant Company engages in complex
business transactions. These events are
properly classified, characterized, presented
clearly, and fully disclosed.

Concepts: Determine the concept that is violated in each of the following cases:

a.

b.

f.

Management examined registration and legal fees for a trademark, and determined that it should record
a trademark for $5,000.

Katia Clothing, a U.S. GAAP reporter, purchased land five years ago and recently had it appraised for
$65,000. The company reported this amount on its most recent balance sheet.

Edward McCormick owns two separate business: EMC Enterprises and Edward Associates. McCormick
regularly pays the property taxes for EMC from the checking account of Edward Associates.

US Motors Inc. recently decided to recall 400,000 vehicles for a safety concern. US Motors did not report
this information in its annual report.

Abare Company purchased new equipment for $2,500,000 and charged it to operating expenses on its
most recent income statement.

Beeke Brothers Incorporated decided not to report its quarterly results to its shareholders.

Terms and Concepts. Complete the following statements by identifying the appropriate term or concept.

a.

b.

A sets forth theory, concepts, and principles to ensure that accounting standards are coherent
and uniform.

Information has if decision makers can use it as an input into processes that help forecast future
outcomes.

indicates whether financial information depicts the substance of an economic event in a man-
ner that is complete, neutral, and free from error.
allows financial statement users to identify and understand similarities and differences among
several entities.
means that a group of reasonably informed financial statement users are able to reach a
consensus decision that reported information is a faithful representation of an underlying economic event.
represent resources, claims to resources, or interests in resources as of a specific point in
time and appear on the balance sheet (statement of financial position).
An involves a buyer and seller who are independent and unrelated parties, each bargain-
ing to maximize his or her own wealth.
The indicates that accountants will record transactions and prepare financial statements as if the
entity will continue to operate for an indefinite period of time unless there is evidence to the contrary.
The specifies that an economic entity can divide its life into artificial time periods for the purpose
of providing periodic reports on its economic activities.
Financial information is if it is capable of making a difference in decision making by exhibiting
the following attributes: predictive value, confirmatory value, and materiality.

Concepts. Review the following accounting practices and indicate whether you believe that the practice is
correct or incorrect. Justify your answer with an accounting concept, principle, or assumption.

a.
b.

Citera Company, a large multinational corporation, expensed the acquisition of a $4,000 computer system.
Mason Manufacturing acquired a new metal stamping machine at a cost of $50,000. Mason will depreci-
ate the asset over its 10-year useful life.
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c. Gabriel Grocery Stores needed to overhaul one of its stores at a cost of $75,000. The company decided
to expense this amount as repairs and maintenance.

d. Dina Design Studios charged the $600 cost of a new laptop for the owner’s daughter to office equipment
expense.

e. Walsh Water Services issues financial statements on both a quarterly and an annual basis to its shareholders.

Cash versus Accrual Bases of Accounting. Top Notch Services was founded on January 2 and offers com-

puter consulting and other technology-related services. During its first quarter of operations, the following

events occurred:

a. In January, Top Notch provided and billed clients for $40,000 of consulting services. It was paid for these
services in March.

b. In January, Top Notch collected $25,000 from clients for services provided during the month.

c. InFebruary, Top Notch provided and billed clients for $45,000 of consulting services. It collected $12,000
in the current month and the remaining amount in March.

d. In March, Top Notch collected $34,000 from clients for services provided during the month and billed
clients for an additional $21,000 for services provided.

e. Top Notch pays employees at the end of each month for service provided. Monthly payroll was $12,000,
$13,000, and $15,000 in January, February, and March, respectively.

f. Top Notch pays its utility bills at the end of each month. Utility bills totaled $800, $850, and $1,000 in
January, February, and March, respectively.

g. Top Notch hired an independent contractor who provided $1,200 of services in February. The contractor
was paid in March.

Determine Top Notch’s net income for each month from January through March under both the cash and the

accrual bases of accounting. Explain any difference in total net income under cash versus accrual accounting

for the three months.

Cash vs. Accrual. You are provided the following information for the Del Campo Consulting Associates.

2019 2018

Service revenue (accrual basis) $250,000 $185,000
Cash collected from clients 80,000 97,000
Operating expenses:

Salary expense (accrual basis) 12,000 16,500

Purchased supplies for cash 4,000 2,500

Purchased supplies on account 1,500 1,000

Depreciation expense 2,000 2,000

Rent paid in cash 7,000 3,000

Prepaid insurance 5,500 -0-

Required:

Assume that all supplies purchased were used in operations in the year of purchase. Rental payments pertain

to rental space used in the year of payment.

a. Prepare an income statement for Del Campo for 2019 and 2018 under both the cash and the accrual basis
of accounting.

b. Compute operating cash flow for both years under cash and accrual bases.

Excel Project
Autograded Excel Project available in MyLab Accounting
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LEARNING OBJECTIVES

€ Explain the importance and prevalence of judgment in the
financial reporting process.

Discuss the role of accountants” assumptions and estimates
and the related disclosures in the financial reporting process.
Identify obstacles to the use of sound judgment in preparing
financial information and ways to overcome them.

Describe the types of authoritative literature and the litera-
ture hierarchy.

Outline and apply the steps in the applied financial account-
ing research process.
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Introduction

ACCOUNTANTS USE JUDGMENT almost every day
in their work when they evaluate facts to make a decision.
For example, analyzing a business event and determining
whether to record it or deciding whether to record a liability

Blaize Pascall/Alamy Stock Images

for pending litigation involves a great deal of judgment.
Selecting and applying accounting methods—such as
the choice of a cost-flow assumption (e.g., LIFO versus
FIFO) in inventory valuation—and using assumptions and
estimates in financial reporting also require judgment.
Determining the provision for bad debts relies on the use
of estimates. Financial statement preparers use the best
information available to make these judgments, knowing
business activities could change and there could be new
information in the future.

Managers use judgment in preparing financial statements,
making the best estimates at that time. Consider Activision
Blizzard, a leading provider of interactive game services.
Activision Blizzard users play games for free—yet, within
these games, they can purchase virtual currency to obtain
virtual goods to enhance their game-playing experience. For
example, a Candy Crush player may purchase “gold bars.”
How does Activision Blizzard determine when the virtual
goods are used and when to record revenues? Initially,
Activision Blizzard records unearned revenue when play-
ers buy the virtual currency and virtual goods. Activision
Blizzard recognizes revenue as the players use their virtual
goods. Some virtual goods are consumable and used within
days whereas others are durable and used over longer peri-
ods of time. Activision Blizzard relies on historical data in
making judgments about when the virtual goods are used
and when to record revenues. However, assumptions based
on historical data can change rapidly in a young, grow-
ing, and dynamic market such as social game services. If
Activision Blizzard revises assumptions based on new data,
changes its product mix due to new game introductions, or
modifies estimates used such as average playing periods, the
amount of revenue recognized may differ significantly from
one period to the next.

In this chapter, we identify areas in financial reporting
that require judgment. We explore the assumptions and
estimates disclosed in financial reports and highlight key
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judgment areas found in practice. We then discuss some in use for both U.S. GAAP and IFRS. We then outline the six

obstacles to the use of good judgment and ways to overcome  steps used in the applied financial accounting research process.

them. Because accountants are required to make judgments While the accounting standards differ, the use of judgment and

based on accounting standards and other authoritative litera- the applied financial accounting research process are similar

ture, we explain the authoritative literature and its hierarchy  under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. «

@ Explain the importance
and prevalence of
judgment in the finan-
cial reporting process.

The Importance and Prevalence of Judgment
in Financial Reporting

When first studying accounting, most students expect to encounter clear-cut methods and rules. In
practice, accountants frequently use judgment to prepare and audit financial statements. Judgment
is the process by which an accountant or manager reaches a decision in situations in which there
are multiple alternatives.

Judgment and the Accountant

Accountants use judgment in several aspects of accounting and financial reporting, including
researching and interpreting standards. Here, accountants seek answers to questions such as:

1. Should the company report a business event and, if so, when? For example, at times there
are complexities involved in deciding when to recognize revenue. Specifically, should the
company recognize revenue this year or defer it until future periods?

2. If the company decides to report a business event in the current period, then what is the appro-
priate financial reporting treatment? For example, there are multiple methods for reporting an
investment in the equity of another company. Thus, when a company acquires that investment,
accountants must decide which accounting method is most appropriate.

3. What amount(s) should the company report in the financial statements related to this business
event? For example, when a company purchases inventory, there may be costs (such as freight
costs) associated with that purchase other than the cost of the inventory itself. Accountants
must determine what costs to include in the amount recorded as inventory.

Activision Blizzard, the social game service company, faced these types of questions when it
started its business. In the new social media field, Activision Blizzard, needed to grapple with how
to apply revenue recognition rules developed years earlier to the way it delivers its virtual products.

Judgment: Use and Abuse

Accounting standards allow financial statement preparers to use judgment to report the substance
of a transaction in the financial statements, within certain boundaries, in the manner that best
reflects economic reality. The ability to apply judgment enhances the usefulness of the financial
statements. Of course, management might also use this latitude to engage in earnings management
behavior. Earnings management occurs when managers manipulate financial information and
misrepresent the firm’s financial position and performance. !

Judgment and Financial Statement Comparisons

Accounting standards afford management discretion in selecting accounting methods, applying
those methods, and changing methods or estimates. This latitude can be problematic for users
comparing the financial information reported by two firms in the same industry when each firm
uses a different set of accounting methods or estimation techniques. In addition, the same firm
may change its methods or estimation techniques over time. However, the flexibility afforded in
the selection and application of accounting standards permits managers to choose those meth-
ods and assumptions that best reflect the economic reality of their transactions. Therefore, the

'We discuss earnings management in more depth in Chapter 5.
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@ Discuss the role of
accountants’ assump-
tions and estimates
and the related disclo-
sures in the financial
reporting process.

financial information provided and user decisions based on that information may be enhanced by
not requiring all companies to use the same accounting methods.

For example, consider two firms in the same industry: One uses the average-cost inventory
method and the other uses the first-in, first-out (FIFO) inventory costing method. The different
inventory costing methods mean that the firms’ financial statements will reflect different measure-
ment bases for inventory. To compare the inventory balances as well as the cost of goods sold
of these two firms, the investor will need to “undo” the effects of the inventory costing method
choice. That is, a reasonably informed financial statement user would understand that ending
inventory would be higher under FIFO than under average cost in a period of rising prices. Knowl-
edge of the direction of the bias in the reported inventory valuation enables the financial statement
user to interpret the results with ratio analysis and other financial statistics.

Accountants use their judgment to estimate and record economic events as accurately as
possible. We highlight the use of judgment in each chapter in this text. We also include judgment
cases in the end-of-chapter material to help develop your judgment and decision-making skills.

The Role of Assumptions and Estimates

After a manager or an accountant determines that a firm should report a business event in the finan-
cial statements, he or she often uses assumptions and estimates to answer the questions related to
when to recognize the transaction, what accounting method to use, and what amount to record.

Assumptions and Estimates in the Financial Statements

Many amounts reported on the financial statements are based upon assumptions. For example:

1. Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated using a particular method (such as straight-
line depreciation) that requires managers and accountants to make assumptions about the
pattern of use.

2. Investments in another company are accounted for differently depending on how long man-
agement intends to hold the investment. Thus, managers and accountants must make assump-
tions about the duration of the investment.

Many of the balances reported on financial statements are estimates. Consider these two
specific examples:

1. The value reported for property, plant, and equipment is net of accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is based upon estimates of the life and pattern of use of the depreciable assets.

2. Accounts receivable are reported on the balance sheet net of an allowance for those receiv-
ables that are not likely to be collected. However, the balance in the allowance account is an
estimate as to how much of the accounts receivable balance might not be paid by customers.

It is important for financial statement preparers and users to understand the extensive use of
assumptions and judgment in the financial statement preparation process.

Judgment-Related Disclosures

How does a financial statement user know where managers used judgment in the financial report-
ing process? Financial statement disclosures—specifically, the accounting policies footnote—
provide this information. U.S. GAAP requires companies to disclose their significant accounting
policies.

Accounting Policies Footnote. The accounting policies footnote outlining the portfolio
of accounting choices is typically one of the first notes to the financial statements. In Johnson
& Johnson’s 2015 annual report, it listed accounting policy choices for 14 different areas: cash
equivalents; investments; property, plant, and equipment and depreciation; revenue recognition;
shipping and handling; inventories; intangible assets and goodwill; financial instruments; product
liability; concentration of credit risk; research and development; advertising; income taxes; and
net earnings per share. For example, Johnson & Johnson indicated that it reported inventory at
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the lower-of-cost-or-market and valued inventory using the first-in, first-out method. As another
example, Johnson & Johnson disclosed that it reports property, plant, and equipment at cost,
depreciating these assets using the straight-line method, and it also disclosed the lives that it uses
to depreciate various groupings of assets. Toward the end of the disclosure, Johnson & Johnson
also indicated that it uses estimates extensively in the preparation of financial information.

Industry Comparisons. Financial statement users rely on accounting policies footnote
information to compare Johnson & Johnson to other firms in the industry. Johnson & Johnson’s
competitors include healthcare and pharmaceutical companies such as Pfizer Inc., GlaxoSmith-
Kline plc, and AstraZeneca plc. Exhibit 3.1 illustrates the different methods, estimates, and
assumptions that Johnson & Johnson and its competitors use in accounting for common items
such as inventory and long-lived tangible assets. Notice that two of the companies—Johnson &
Johnson and Pfizer—are U.S. GAAP reporters and that two report under IFRS—GlaxoSmithKline
and AstraZeneca. Next, two of the four companies use the first-in, first-out (FIFO) inventory cost
flow assumption (Johnson & Johnson and GlaxoSmithKline), one uses average cost (Pfizer), and
one uses a combination of FIFO and average cost (AstraZeneca). For depreciation of long-lived
tangible assets, all four companies use the straight-line method. However, the asset categories and
useful lives vary considerably among the companies and are influenced by management’s judg-
ment. For example, all four companies have a different range of useful lives for their buildings.’

In addition, the accounting policies footnote enables users to determine whether a company
employs income-increasing or income-reducing accounting policies or methods. For example, a
company using FIFO in a period of inflation will typically report lower cost of sales and higher
gross profit than a company using LIFO.

EXHIBIT 3.1 Comparison of Accounting Methods, Estimates, and Assumptions
for Inventory and Long-lived Tangible Assets

Johnson & GlaxoSmithKline AstraZeneca

Johnson Pfizer Inc. plc plc
Reporting Standards U.S. GAAP U.S. GAAP IFRS IFRS
Inventory FIFO Average Cost FIFO FIFO and

average cost
Long-lived Tangible Assets
Depreciation Method Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line Straight-line

Useful lives by asset category:

Building 20-30 years 33-50years 20-50 years 10-50 years
Plant and equipment 3-15years
Land and leasehold 10-20 years 20-50 years or

improvements lease term

Machinery and equipment 2-13 years 8-20 years 10-20 years

Furniture, fixtures, and other 3-12 1/2 years 3-10years

Sources: Based on Johnson & Johnson; Pfizer; GlaxoSmithKline; AstraZeneca

2Analysts and other financial statement users also employ various financial statement analysis techniques to understand
a company’s financial position and performance and compare it to other companies. We will discuss some of these
techniques in Chapters 5 and 6 and apply them where appropriate throughout this text.



Judgment and Applied Financial Accounting Research 59

IFRS-Specific Disclosures. Our discussion of required disclosures of significant account-
ing policies thus far applies to both IFRS and U.S. GAAP. IFRS further requires that companies
disclose additional information about the assumptions and estimates they made at the end of the
reporting period.? For example, companies make estimates and assumptions regarding the amount
of accounts receivable that will not be collectible. IFRS also requires that companies disclose the
judgments (apart from those involving estimates and assumptions) that management has made in
determining appropriate accounting treatments for amounts reported on the financial statements.*
For example, companies will make judgments as to whether potential obligations are probable
and thus should be reported as a liability. Companies also disclose if there is a significant risk that
any amounts they reported will change in the coming year due to the underlying assumptions.5
In Exhibit 3.2, Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson, a Swedish technology, hardware, and
equipment company and an IFRS reporter, stipulates in its second financial statement note that

EXHIBIT 3.2 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments Note Excerpt, Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson,
December 31, 2015, Financial Statements

Cc2
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of financial statements and application of accounting standards often involve management’s judgment and the use of
estimates and assumptions deemed to be reasonable at the time they are made. However, other results may be derived with different
judgments or using different assumptions or estimates, and events may occur that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the asset or liability affected. Following are the most important accounting policies subject to such judgments and the key
sources of estimation uncertainty that the Company believes could have the most significant impact on the reported results and financial
position.

The information in this note is grouped as per:

e Key sources of estimation uncertainty
e Judgments management has made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.

Revenue recognition
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Examples of estimates of total contract revenue and cost that are necessary are the assessing of customer possibility to reach
conditional purchase volumes triggering contractual discounts to be given to the customer, the impact on the Company revenue in
relation to performance criteria and whether any loss provisions shall be made.

Judgments made in relation to accounting policies applied

Parts of the Company’s sales are generated from large and complex customer contracts. Managerial judgment is applied regarding,
among other aspects, conformance with acceptance criteria and if transfer of risks and rewards to the buyer has taken place to
determine if revenue and costs should be recognized in the current period, degree of completion and the customer credit standing to
assess whether payment is likely or not to justify revenue recognition.

Trade and customer finance receivables
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The Company monitors the financial stability of its customers and the environment in which they operate to make estimates regarding
the likelihood that the individual receivables will be paid. Total allowances for estimated losses as of December 31, 2015, were SEK 1.5
(1.5) billion or 2.0% (1.8%) of gross trade and customer finance receivables.

Credit risks for outstanding customer finance credits are regularly assessed as well, and allowances are recorded for estimated

losses.
Continued

3See paragraphs 125-133 of IASC, International Accounting Standard 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements™
(London, UK: International Accounting Standards Committee, 1975, Revised).

4See paragraphs 122-124 of IASC, International Accounting Standard 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements.”

3In the United States, the SEC requires public companies to provide information in their annual regulatory filing, the
10-K, to supplement, not duplicate, the description of accounting policies in the footnotes to the financial statements.
The discussion presents an analysis of the uncertainties involved in applying the accounting policies described in the
footnote.
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Inventory valuation
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Estimates are required in relation to forecasted sales volumes

and inventory balances. In situations where excess inventory balances are identified, estimates of net realizable values for the excess
volumes are made. Inventory allowances for estimated losses as of December 31, 2015, amounted to SEK 2.6 (3.3) billion or 8% (8%) of
gross inventory.

Deferred taxes
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, are recognized for temporary differences and for tax loss carry-forwards. Deferred tax is recognized
net of valuation allowances. The valuation of temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards, is based on management'’s estimates of
future taxable profits in different tax jurisdictions against which the temporary differences and loss carry-forwards may be utilized.

The largest amounts of tax loss carry-forwards are reported in Sweden, with an indefinite period of utilization (i.e. with no expiry
date). For further detailed information, please refer to Note C8, “Taxes"

At December 31, 2015, the value of deferred tax assets amounted to SEK 13.2 (12.8) billion. The deferred tax assets related to loss
carry-forwards are reported as non-current assets.

Accounting for income tax, value added tax, and other taxes
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Accounting for these items is based upon evaluation of income-, value added- and other tax rules in all jurisdictions where we perform
activities. The total complexity of rules related to taxes and the accounting for these require management's involvement in judgments
regarding classification of transactions and in estimates of probable outcomes of claimed deductions and/or disputes.

Acquired intellectual property rights and other intangible assets, including goodwvill
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

At initial recognition, future cash flows are estimated, to ensure that the initial carrying values do not exceed the expected discounted
cash flows for the items of this type of assets. After initial recognition, impairment testing is performed whenever there is an indication
of impairment, except in the case of goodwill for which impairment testing is performed at least once per year. Negative deviations
in actual cash flows compared to estimated cash flows as well as new estimates that indicate lower future cash flows might result in
recognition of impairment charges.

For further discussion on goodwill, see Note C1, “Significant accounting policies” and Note C10, “Intangible assets.” Estimates
related to acquired intangible assets are based on similar assumptions and risks as for goodwvill.

At December 31, 2015, the amount of acquired intellectual property rights and other intangible assets amounted to SEK 50.4 (50.9)
billion, including goodwill of SEK 41.1 (38.3) billion.

Judgments made in relation to accounting policies applied

At initial recognition and subsequent remeasurement, management judgments are made, both for key assumptions and regarding
impairment indicators. In the purchase price allocation made for each acquisition, the purchase price shall be assigned to the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities based on fair values for these assets. Any remaining excess value is reported as goodwill.

This allocation requires management judgment as well as the definition of cash-generating units for impairment testing purposes. Other
judgments might result in significantly different results and financial position in the future.

Provisions

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Provisions mainly comprise amounts related to warranty, restructuring, contractual obligations and penalties to customers and estimated
losses on customer contracts, risks associated with patent and other litigations, supplier or subcontractor claims and/or disputes, as well
as provisions for unresolved income tax and value-added tax issues. The estimates related to the amounts of provisions for penalties,
claims or losses receive special attention from the management. At December 31, 2015, provisions amounted to SEK 3.8 (4.4) billion. For
further detailed information, see Note C18, “Provisions.”

Judgments made in relation to accounting policies applied

Whether a present obligation is probable or not requires judgment. The nature and type of risks for these provisions differ and
management'’s judgment is applied regarding the nature and extent of obligations in deciding if an outflow of resources is probable or
not.

Contingent liabilities
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
As disclosed under “Provisions” there are uncertainties in the estimated amounts. The same type of uncertainty exists for contingent
liabilities.
Continued



Judgment and Applied Financial Accounting Research

b1

Judgments made in relation to accounting policies

As disclosed under Note C1, “Significant accounting policies” a potential obligation that is not likely to result in an economic outflow is
classified as a contingent liability, with no impact on the Company'’s financial statements. However, should an obligation in a later period
be deemed to be probable, then a provision shall be recognized, impacting the financial statements.

Pension and other post-employment benefits
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Accounting for the costs of defined benefit pension plans and other applicable post-employment benefits is based on actuarial
valuations, relying on key estimates for discount rates, future salary increases, employee turnover rates and mortality tables. The
discount rate assumptions are based on rates for high-quality fixed-income investments with durations as close as possible to the
Company'’s pension plans. As disclosed in note C1, “Significant accounting policies,” the Company has in Sweden in periods up to
the second quarter of 2015 estimated the discount rate for the Swedish pension liability based on the interest rates for Swedish
covered bonds. Due to the development since then of the deepness of the Swedish covered bond market and the volatility in
interest rates, the Company has decided to apply Swedish government bonds rate for this discounting for the fiscal year 2015. The
rate applied is 2.1% (2.75%). At December 31, 2015, defined benefit obligations for pensions and other post-employment benefits
amounted to SEK 78.1 (73.8) billion and fair value of plan assets to SEK 58.2 (56.9) billion. For more information on estimates

and assumptions, see Note C17, “Post-employment benefits.”

Foreign exchange risks
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Foreign exchange risk impacts the financial results of the Company: see further disclosure in Note C20, “Financial risk management and
financial instruments,” under Foreign Exchange Risk.

Source: Ericsson, Financial Statements, December 31, 2015. https://www.ericsson.com/res/investors/docs/2015/ericsson-annual-report-2015-en.pdf,
pages 69-70

the preparation of its financial statements often involves management’s judgment and the use of

assumptions and estimates. Notice the distinction between the uncertainty in making estimates
in the first bullet point and the judgment management made in applying the accounting policies
in the second bullet point. Ericsson’s note continues to discuss 10 areas involving the use of
estimates and assumptions, and 4 areas involving management’s judgments in relation to account-
ing policies. The areas covered are trade and customer finance receivables; inventory valuation;

deferred taxes; income tax, value-added tax, and other taxes; intellectual property rights and other

intangible assets; provisions; contingent liabilities; pensions; and foreign exchange risks. For
example, in the revenue recognition section, Ericsson explains that its managers made estimates
in the amounts of provisions and the expected volume discounts and applied judgment in evalu-
ating whether the firm could recognize revenue on its large and complex contracts. The section

related to trade and customer finance receivables discloses that total allowances for uncollect-

ible accounts were 2.0% of gross trade and customer finance receivables. As another example,

Ericsson details that its allowance for inventory write-downs was 8% of gross inventory.

Key Judgment Areas in Practice

Based on an analysis of annual reports from 175 companies representing 19 industries and
48 countries, Exhibit 3.3 illustrates 14 major financial statement areas where managers use
accounting estimates and judgments. For example, 40% of companies disclose that they use esti-
mates and judgments in accounting for the allowance for uncollectible receivables. As we cover
areas such as taxation, employee benefits, provisions, and revenue recognition throughout the
textbook, we will highlight the need for judgment and present decision-making methods used to

resolve complex accounting issues.

®This data is based on a survey of companies reporting under IFRS. However, results would likely be very similar for

companies reporting under U.S. GAAP.
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EXHIBIT 3.3 Manager’'s Use of Accounting Estimates and Judgments
under IFRS
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Source: AICPA, IFRS Financial Statements: Best Practices in Presentation and Disclosure 2012/2013
(New York, NY: AICPA, 2012)

Judgment Obstacles in Preparing Financial Information

In preparing or auditing financial information, accountants face a number of potential impedi-
ments to the use of good judgment, such as:

* Factors that may influence management to intentionally bias their estimates.
* Cognitive biases.
» Complexity of the business environment and transactions.

An understanding and awareness of these obstacles prepares managers to overcome them in
the financial reporting process as well as assists financial statement users in critically evaluating
firm performance and condition.

Factors Influencing Management Behavior

Factors that influence management to intentionally bias estimates impede the use of good judg-
ment. Areas of financial reporting that require significant judgment are particularly susceptible to
management manipulation. For example, if management bonuses are tied to net income, manage-
ment may have an incentive to bias reported income upward.

Analysts’ forecasts may also influence management. Financial analysts use reported informa-
tion to provide guidance to individuals and other entities in making investment and credit deci-
sions. As part of this process, analysts release earnings forecasts. Because the stock price of a
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company tends to react negatively when actual earnings are less than this earnings forecast,
management may have an incentive to bias earnings upward if it would otherwise miss the
forecast.”

To minimize management bias, auditors exercise professional skepticism, which is “an
attitude that includes a questioning mind and a critical assessment of audit evidence.”® Auditors
should not assume that management is dishonest—yet they should consider the possible incentives
for management to bias information presented in the financial statements.”

Cognitive Biases

Cognitive biases can also impact the way accountants make judgments. Cognitive biases are
systematic deviations from rationality, to which we are all subject, that can impact judgments on
a day-to-day basis. We discuss some of the types of cognitive biases next, followed by techniques
that are useful in reducing the impact of these biases.

Types of Cognitive Biases. Examples of cognitive biases are the availability, overconfi-
dence, confirmatory, groupthink, and anchoring biases.

1. The availability bias is the tendency to use the data that is most readily available or most
easily recalled to make a decision, as opposed to considering all relevant data. For example,
if you were deciding which computer to buy, you might rely on your friend’s advice instead
of taking the time to research consumer reviews.

2. The overconfidence bias is the tendency to be more confident than your abilities and experi-
ence level would objectively warrant. For example, multiple research studies have asked study
participants how confident they were in answers they provided to a set of questions. Research
results repeatedly show that confidence systematically exceeds accuracy.

3. The confirmatory bias is when decision makers under-weight information that is not con-
sistent with their initial beliefs. For example, if individuals have strong political beliefs, they
may not adequately consider positions held by someone in another political party.

4. The groupthink bias is a phenomenon that occurs in situations where members of a
group, in an attempt to avoid conflict, reach a consensus decision without considering
all of the reasonable alternatives. For example, a group of students working on a case
assignment may agree to a certain answer in order to avoid conflict with a dominant
group member, even if everyone else in the group has not had a chance to express his or
her views.

5. The anchoring bias occurs when the decision maker focuses on one piece of information
(often the first piece of data encountered), weighting it more heavily than other pieces of
information. For example, when you buy a used car, you may anchor on the sticker price of
the car and not consider carefully enough what the car is really worth to you.

Techniques to Mitigate Cognitive Biases. To mitigate cognitive biases, accountants
must be as objective as possible, which entails being free from any bias or other influences. The
following techniques may prove helpful.

1. Be organized and methodical in the decision-making process. In our discussion of applied
financial research later in the chapter, we outline steps in the research process that are also
useful in solving a judgment-based problem objectively.

2. Generate alternatives, even when you think you have already arrived at the correct answer.
Carefully consider each of these alternatives and reasons that it may be better than your initial
assessment of the correct alternative.

"We discuss earnings management in more detail in Chapter 5.

8public Company Accounting Oversight Board, Staff Audit Practice Alert Number 10, “Maintaining and Applying
Professional Skepticism in Audits” (Washington, D.C.: Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, 2012).
“Professional skepticism is discussed more extensively in auditing courses.
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authoritative literature
and the literature
hierarchy.

3. Document your rationale about the alternatives. Often the process of documenting beliefs and
thought processes—even if only in bullet format—challenges your thinking.

4. Delay your final judgment until you have gathered all of the facts and information and have
considered all of the alternatives. This delay allows you to be more objective in your decision-
making process.

Complexity of the Business Environment and Transactions

The increasing complexity of the business environment and related transactions also create an
obstacle to the exercise of good judgment. Decisions related to complex transactions can often
seem overwhelming, particularly to someone who is relatively new to the accounting profession.
Even for experienced accountants, new issues arise all the time. For example, revenue recognition
for virtual goods became a new accounting issue with the emergence of social media companies
such as Activision Blizzard. Also, proper exercise of judgment often requires a substantial amount
of research of the authoritative literature.

In these cases, it is helpful to follow an organized process that allows the accountant to
stay focused on the issue at hand and make well-informed decisions. That is, the accountant
does not need to know every answer, but she does need to understand the steps involved in
determining the most appropriate accounting treatment. We discuss this research process later
in the chapter.

Authoritative Literature Used in Applied Financial
Accounting Research

Accountants undertake financial accounting research whenever they need information to deter-
mine the appropriate reporting treatment for a business transaction. In addition, accountants use
financial accounting research whenever the analysis and interpretation of an economic event or
accounting standard is not clear and thus requires judgment. Accounting standards may be unclear
for three main reasons:

1. Judgment is involved because the standard setters allow for management discretion.

2. The issue is sufficiently complex that, although a single correct answer exists, it requires
research to determine the correct answer.

3. There is simply no information in the accounting standards that directly provides guidance
to resolve a specific reporting issue.

In these cases, accountants must research the authoritative literature and develop a recom-
mended accounting treatment. Research is the systematic investigation into an issue. We will
focus our discussion on applied research that requires critical-thinking skills, a knowledge base,
thoroughness, and professional judgment. We begin our discussion with the content of the authori-
tative literature. The following section will then outline the steps to follow in the research process.

Authoritative Literature

As discussed in Chapter 1, U.S. standard setters have issued a number of different types of
authoritative statements over the years that are part of U.S. GAAP. These standards include, but
are not limited to, Accounting Research Bulletins of the Committee on Accounting Procedure,
Accounting Principles Board Opinions, and Statements of Financial Accounting Standards of
the FASB.

Due to the large volume of diverse and complex standards, the body of U.S. GAAP became
difficult to use. In response to this problem, the FASB developed the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board Accounting Standards Codification (ASC), often referred to as the Codification,
which groups and summarizes all current standards by topic. When the FASB issues a new pro-
nouncement, it is referenced as an Accounting Standards Update (ASU). Once approved, ASUs
are incorporated into the Codification.
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EXHIBIT 3.4 Major Codification Topic Groupings

Topic

General Principles

Presentation

Assets
Liabilities
Equity
Revenue
Expenses

Broad Transactions

Industry

Numbering Description
1XX Establishes the Codification as the authoritative source for
U.S. GAAR
2XX Covers items such as financial statements, interim report-

ing, and segment reporting.

3XX Covers the accounting treatment for assets.

4XX Covers the accounting treatment for liabilities.

BXX Covers the accounting treatment for equity.

B6XX Covers the accounting treatment for revenues.

7XX Covers the accounting treatment for expenses.

8XX Includes items such as business combinations and consol-

idations, fair value measurements, financial instruments,
and foreign currency matters.

9XX Presents industry-specific guidance.

Codification Structure. The Codification is divided into topics, subtopics, sections, and
paragraphs. Exhibit 3.4 presents the nine major topic groupings. The complete list of topics
included in the Codification can be found in Appendix A0

The number and type of subtopics vary depending on the main topic but are generally distin-
guished by accounting area or scope.11 For example, the Codification breaks down the topic on
intangibles into the various types of intangibles such as goodwill. Exhibit 3.5 presents the subtop-
ics included under the topic of intangibles. Note that the topics will also cross-reference relevant
industry topics. For example, Topic 350 includes Topic 908 Airlines.

EXHIBIT 3.5 Codification Subtopics for Topic 350 Intangibles—Goodwill and Other

Subtopic Number
10
20
30
40
50

908
920
922
932
950
980
985

Subtopic Description

Overall

Goodwill

General Intangibles Other Than Goodwvill
Internal-Use Software

Website Development Costs
Airlines

Entertainment — Broadcasters
Entertainment — Cable Television
Extractive Activities — Oil and Gas
Financial Services —Title Plant
Regulated Operations

Software

10Access to the Codification is available to faculty and students for a minimal charge through the Academic Accounting
Access program sponsored by the Financial Accounting Foundation (FAF), in a joint initiative with the American
Accounting Association (AAA). See http://aaahq.org/fasb/access.cfm.

I1Appendix A to this chapter presents the subtopics for Topic 350 — Intangibles, Topic 450 — Contingencies, and Topic

505 — Equity.


http://aaahq.org/fasb/access.cfm
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EXAMPLE 3.1

The sections under each subtopic are uniform throughout the Codification. For example,
Section 25 is always recognition and Section 30 is always initial measurement. Appendix A
presents the full set of sections included in the Codification.

As we discussed in Chapter 1, the SEC has the authority to promulgate accounting stan-
dards. For convenience, the Codification contains S sections written by the SEC (rather than the
FASB). For example, S30 is a section that contains information about initial measurement issued
by the SEC. All of the S sections refer to Section S99, which contains the actual text of the SEC
documents. Accountants exercise caution when using S99 Sections: They do not represent the
full breadth of SEC materials and may exclude the most recent information.

Accountants reference material from the Codification with a specific shorthand. To illustrate,
consider the reference ASC 350-20-35-1. Exhibit 3.6 illustrates how to disaggregate a Codifica-
tion reference.

EXHIBIT 3.6 Codification Reference

Reference Title Number
Topic Intangibles — Goodwill and Other 350
Subtopic Goodwill 20
Section Subsequent Measurement 35
Paragraph 1

Example 3.1 illustrates the use of the Codification to locate information needed to resolve
an accounting question.

Referencing the Codification

PROBLEM: You are the accountant for JC’s Emporium. JC’s has been sued and you have con-
cluded that it must record a liability for the loss (a loss contingency). You are unsure what
amount to report on the balance sheet. Using the “Structure of the U.S. GAAP Codification”
in Appendix A, what are the best topic, subtopic, and sections to use to find this information
in the Codification?

SOLUTION: Start in the Liabilities topic grouping—the 400s. In Appendix A, Contingencies
are Topic 450. Within Topic 450, Subtopic 20 covers loss contingencies. Finally, because
you are interested in how JC’s should initially record this contingency, you will go to Sec-
tion 30 — Initial Measurement. Thus, the information is most likely to be found in ASC
450-20-30.

The U.S. GAAP Hierarchy. When researching financial reporting issues, it is important
to know the hierarchy of the literature. What if an accountant cannot find guidance for a transac-
tion in the authoritative U.S. GAAP included in the Codification and SEC material? The accoun-
tant then must look elsewhere, as depicted by Level 3 in Exhibit 3.7’s description of the levels
used in the U.S. GAAP hierarchy.'?

To illustrate the use of the hierarchy in practice, assume that an industry publication pre-
scribes a particular accounting treatment, but a review of the Codification indicates that a different
approach is more appropriate. In this case, the entity would be required to follow the Codification,
which is the higher level of authority.

2The U.S. GAAP hierarchy is found in Paragraphs 1-3 of FASB ASC 105-10-5, Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles-Overall-Overview and Background.
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EXHIBIT 3.7 U.S. GAAP Hierarchy

Level Literature Included

Level 1 The Codification and all SEC rules and interpretive releases. While the Codification applies
to all entities that report under U.S. GAAR the SEC materials only apply to publicly traded
companies.

Level 2 Authoritative rules and principles from U.S. GAAP for similar transactions.

Level 3 Non-authoritative material such as the FASB Concepts Statements, IFRS, AICPA Issues
Papers, Technical Information Services Inquiries and Replies included in AICPA Technical
Practice Aids, pronouncements of professional associations or regulatory agencies, industry
practice, and textbooks.

Authoritative Literature: IFRS
The IASB includes four categories of standards in IFRS, as listed here:

1. International Accounting Standards (IAS)

2. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

3. Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) Interpretations
4. TFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations

Appendix B lists the IFRS standards and interpretations.

Hierarchy: IFRS. IFRS employs a four-level hierarchy to rank the authoritative support for
its various accounting standards, as outlined in Exhibit 3.8.13

EXHIBIT 3.8 IFRS Hierarchy

Level Literature Included

Level 1 IFRS standards and interpretations that specifically apply to a transaction, event, or condition.
Level 2 Authoritative rules from IFRS for similar and related transactions.

Level 3 The Conceptual Framework definitions, recognition criteria, and measurement concepts for
assets, liabilities, income, and expenses.

Level 4 Recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a similar Conceptual
Framework to develop accounting standards, other accounting literature, and accepted indus-
try practices, to the extent that they do not conflict with the sources in Levels 1 and 2.

When moving to Levels 2 and 3, IFRS addresses the need for management to use judgment in
developing and applying accounting policies. Managers use their judgment to provide information
that is relevant to the economic decision-making needs of users and is reliable. For information
to be considered reliable in the financial statements, it must have the following characteristics:

1. Faithfully represents the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of the
entity.

2. Reflects the economic substance of transactions, other events and conditions, and not merely
the legal form.

3. Is neutral (i.e., free from bias).

4. Is prudent (i.e., conservative).

5. Is complete in all material respects.'*

3The IFRS hierarchy is found in IASC, International Accounting Standard 8, “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors” (London, UK: International Accounting Standards Committee, 1978, Revised),
Paragraphs 7-12.

“Ibid., Paragraph 10.
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ROBERT HERZ,

CHAIRMAN, FASB
(RETIRED) »

Robert Herz

Robert Herz was chairman of the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) from July 2002 to September 2010. During his tenure, he actively pro-
moted the creation of improved accounting standards and greater transparency
in financial reporting. Prior to joining FASB, he was a senior partner with
PricewaterhouseCoopers and was an original member of the International

Accounting Standards Board.

1 How does the Codification enhance the FASB's mission, and
what were the key factors that influenced FASB to create it?

FASB’s mission is to issue and improve financial accounting and
disclosure standards and to ensure that people can understand, use,
and apply these standards. Prior to the Codification, U.S. GAAP
accounting literature was extremely unwieldy, and users found it
difficult to follow and comply with the standards. Codification
greatly facilitated its usability. Before I joined the FASB, I had
spoken and written about the need to deal with this issue. And once
at FASB, I was in a position to address this issue. Together with
FASB senior staff and board members, we developed a systematic
reorganization of U.S. GAAP, in one place and with a rational
structure. This was not a breakthrough concept; other bodies of
literature and accounting standards in other countries are codified.

2 How does the Codification simplify accounting research for users?

Everybody in the financial reporting supply chain benefits from the
Codification. Users range from managerial accountants who pre-
pare accounting statements for their companies to auditors, inves-
tors, analysts who focus on accounting matters, litigation attorneys,
SEC staff, and accounting instructors and their students. The Codi-
fication is also essential for accounting standards setters who issue
proposals and revise standards. The Codification logically reorga-
nized the official U.S. GAAP, resolving overlapping and conflict-
ing U.S. GAAP requirements. No longer do users have to figure
out which of maybe 30 documents might have pertinent parts of
U.S. GAAP dealing with a particular subject. Functionalities such
as keyword searches make it faster and easier for users to navigate
U.S. GAAP to find all the relevant requirements of an issue.

3 Why was the Codification process so challenging?

The volume of accounting literature was high—and also
came from many disconnected source documents in different

68

formats. Larry Smith, FASB Director of Technical Application
and Implementation Activities, Tom Hoey, the Codification
project leader, and key staff developed a blueprint, timeline,
and budget for the project. We then surveyed a broad range of
users whose responses overwhelmingly supported the business
case for Codification. With a green light from the FASB Board
and the Trustees of the Financial Accounting Foundation and
input from the SEC, we began to create the Codification.

This massive effort took about six years and included exten-
sive reviews. Mappers sorted existing literature from FASB,
AICPA, the SEC, and other organizations into 90 different
Codification sections, each with many subtopics. Groups of
authors compiled the literature and standardized its language.
Everything was reviewed internally at the FASB and by exter-
nal reviewers. A software developer built a state-of-the-art,
Web-based, highly customized research platform for it. On
July 1, 2009, after an 18-month trial period, the Codification
became official and replaced existing U.S. GAAP.

4 \What is the procedure for issuing changes to standards in the
Codification?

After public due process procedures, the FASB issues a proposed
Accounting Standards Update describing proposed modifications
and how these would change the Codification. After carefully
evaluating comments and other input and reanalyzing issues iden-
tified, a final standard is developed and published in the form of an
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) that specifically updates or
amends the relevant existing Codification sections. The ASU may
also contain a discussion of the Board’s Basis for Conclusions
in developing the standard, as well as implementation guidance.

5 What accounting and reporting standards are not included in the
Codification?

The Codification includes everything that is a U.S. GAAP
requirement, as well as relevant SEC guidance. Some basic
SEC reporting regulations such as Regulation SX are sepa-
rately codified. The Codification doesn’t cover International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

6 What role has the Codification served in the ongoing conver-
gence process?

Codifying U.S. GAAP literature has facilitated convergence
with IFRS by making U.S. accounting requirements easier
to access and compare with the corresponding international
standards. That has helped the Boards in their deliberations of
issues subject to convergence efforts.

Discussion Questions

1. Explain the way U.S. GAAP standards were structured
prior to the Codification and indicate how the codification
simplified research (provide examples).

2. Discuss the advantages and disadvantages of U.S. GAAP and
IFRS convergence. What role has the Codification played?
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Basis for Conclusions

The FASB includes a section in most of its pronouncements referred to as the Basis for Conclusions
(BC), which are discussions of the Board’s reasoning and thought processes used to create the
standard. The BCs are not considered authoritative, but they are very useful in understanding the
thought processes of the Board and thus the substance of the standard. The BCs are not included
in the Codification but can be found in the Accounting Standards Updates or the Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards themselves. Because of the richness of the material in the BCs,
we include cases based on them in the end-of-chapter material.

Basis for Conclusions: IFRS. Unlike U.S. GAAP, the BCs are included directly in the
International Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards.

Steps in the Applied Financial Accounting
Research Process

Now that you are familiar with the form and content of the authoritative literature, we will
outline the six steps used in the financial reporting research process. These steps are presented
in Exhibit 3.9 and discussed more extensively below. Financial statement preparers as well as
auditors can use this process.

EXHIBIT 3.9 Steps in the Financial Accounting Research Process

Establish and understand the facts.
. Identify the issue: What is the research question?
. Search the authoritative literature.
. Evaluate the results of the search.
. Develop conclusions.

o o W N~

. Communicate the results of the research.

Step 1: Establish and Understand the Facts

The first step in the research process is to understand the facts involved in the business trans-
action. What exactly does the business transaction look like? What parties are involved and
how? What are the stipulations specified in any relevant contract? What is the timing of the
transaction(s)?

The way the facts are presented to the accountant will vary in practice. The facts may be
conveyed to you in a concise and thorough manner. For example, your manager may explain the
transaction to you at an audit team meeting or a client may email the information. Alternatively,
you may need to spend a significant amount of time establishing the facts by talking to the parties
involved or reading through documents.

Regardless of the manner in which the facts are initially presented, it is critical that the
researcher thoroughly understand the business transaction. Misunderstood facts will often lead
to incorrect conclusions.

Step 2: Identify the Issue: What is the Research Question?

After establishing the fact pattern associated with the business transaction, the researcher needs
to identify the issue. That is, the researcher needs to determine the exact research question. For
example, a research question might be, “Should ABC Company recognize the revenue associated
with this business transaction in the current fiscal year or the next fiscal year?” Typically, the
research question (or issue) can be articulated in just a few sentences.
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Step 3: Search the Authoritative Literature

Searching the authoritative literature can take a considerable amount of time, depending on the
specific research question, even for experienced accountants. Understanding the structure of
the Codification is invaluable for completing this step. Because the Codification is organized
by topic, the research typically begins by identifying the appropriate topic to examine. For
example, when researching an issue related to inventory, begin with Topic 330 — Inventory.
It is sometimes possible to refine the search further, depending on the nature of the research
question. If your question related to inventory was an issue as to how to initially record an item
of inventory, you would most likely begin at ASC 330-10-30 — Inventory — Overall — Initial
Measurement.

When searching the authoritative literature, you will often see cross-references to other
Codification topics. For example, if you were researching an issue related to disclosure require-
ments for inventory, you would start in ASC 330-10-50 — Inventory — Overall — Disclosure.
However, paragraph 6 relates to disclosures of significant estimates and provides a cross-
reference to ASC 275-10-50 — Risks and Uncertainties — Overall — Disclosure. Always check
the applicability of cross-references to be certain that you have done a thorough search of the
literature.

You should also be aware that the Codification includes a search engine. Thus, if you are
unsure where to start your research or you are unsure whether you have found all of the appropriate
literature, you may want to search for various terms within the Codification using the search engine.

Step 4: Evaluate the Results of the Search

After you have found all the relevant authoritative literature, take the time to read it thoroughly,
keeping in mind that much of the language used is highly technical and complex.

You may find that after reading through the authoritative literature, you need to change or
refine the research question. Thus, these steps can be an iterative process. In fact, sometimes you
will discover that you need to obtain additional facts related to the business transaction and return
to Step 1.

Step 5: Develop Conclusions

After assimilating the relevant literature, decide on the best financial reporting treatment. Some-
times, there is only one correct answer. In other cases, the answer may not exist in the literature,
particularly in Level 1 of the hierarchy. Accountants use judgment to work down the levels of the
hierarchy and sometimes have to utilize a similar transaction that is covered in the authoritative
literature. Other times, there are multiple legitimate treatments found in the accounting standards.
Accountants compare the various treatments and identify the alternative that will result in the most
faithful representation of the economic event.

Step 6: Communicate the Results of the Research

After finishing the first five steps, the accountant documents and communicates the results of the
research process. This documentation may be done in a variety of forms such as a memo to the
file or a client letter. The information included depends upon the audience, but it will most likely
include documentation from all of the preceding steps:

e The facts of the business transaction.

e The research question.

e The analysis of the issue (i.e., a summary of the authoritative literature).
e The recommendation.

When articulating your research and recommendation in written form, write clearly and
concisely to address the research question and communicate all relevant information.
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EXAMPLE 3.2

Applying the Research Process

Building research skills is critical to success in the accounting profession. The significant volume
of accounting standards makes it impossible to commit them to memory. In addition, the business
environment is constantly changing, requiring revisions of accounting standards. Nonetheless,
professionals must be able to find the answers to technical accounting questions in order to func-
tion effectively on a day-to-day basis. Acquiring research skills takes a great deal of practice. To
illustrate, let’s take the case of deciding whether to capitalize or expense certain costs incurred
during the production process (Example 3.2).

The Financial Reporting Research Process

PROBLEM: Tough Guy Enterprises, a U.S. GAAP reporter, manufactures high-quality jeans for
little boys. The cost to produce one pair of jeans includes $10 of materials and $5 for labor.
Tough Guy produced the following number of jeans over the past 5 years:

Year 1 5.0 million
Year 2 5.1 million
Year 3 4.9 million
Year 4 4.8 million
Year 5 5.2 million

Additional data are available for the current year (Year 6):

Number of jeans produced 4.2 million pairs
Variable production overhead $6.3 million

Fixed production overhead $5.0 million
General and administrative expenses $1.0 million

Selling costs $1 per pair of jeans
Cost of wasted material (spoilage) $0.25 million

Search the Codification to determine how to record each type of cost. Write a memo to the
file to communicate your results.

SOLUTION: We will follow the steps in the financial accounting research process.
1. Establish and understand the facts.

The facts are straightforward, as captured in the problem statement. In real-world prob-
lems, the facts are typically more difficult to identify.

Tough Guy Enterprises is a U.S. GAAP reporter that manufactures jeans. It produced
the following number of jeans over the past five years:

Year 1 5.0 million
Year 2 5.1 million
Year 3 4.9 million
Year 4 4.8 million
Year 5 5.2 million

Continued
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Additional facts for the current year or Year 6:

Material costs per pair $10

Labor costs per pair $5

Number of jeans produced 4.2 million

Variable production overhead $6.3 million

Fixed production overhead $5.0 million
General and administrative expenses $1.0 million

Selling costs $1 per pair of jeans
Cost of wasted material (spoilage) $0.25 million

2. Identify the issue: What is the research question?

The accounting issue is whether Tough Guy should record expenditures as an expense
(expensed) or as an asset (capitalized as part of the cost of inventory) and included in cost
of goods sold when the inventory is sold. As a result, the research question is: Which of
these expenditures should Tough Guy allocate to inventory and which should it expense
immediately?

3. Search the authoritative literature.

We begin our search using Codification Topic 330 — Inventory. None of the industry sub-
topics is relevant (agriculture, airlines, contractors, entertainment, extractive activities,
real estate, software). Next, we review the Overall subtopic, ASC 330-10. Because we
are interested in the way Tough Guy will initially record inventory, we will use Section
30 — Initial Measurement of ASC 330-10.

4. Evaluate the results of the search.

A thorough review of Section 30 identifies the relevant parts of the Codification to use in
developing a conclusion, as summarized next.

Codification Reference  Standard

ASC 330-10-30-1 Inventory is typically stated at cost (i.e., the cost incurred to bring
the inventory to its existing condition and location).

ASC 330-10-30-3 Variable production overhead costs are allocated to each unit of
production on the basis of the actual use of the production facilities.

The allocation of fixed production overhead is based on the normal
capacity of the production facility.

Normal capacity is the production expected to be achieved over a
number of periods and under normal circumstances.

ASC 330-10-30-6 The actual level of production may be used if it approximates normal
capacity.

The amount of fixed overhead allocated to each unit of production
should not be increased in periods of abnormally low production.

ASC 330-10-30-7 Unallocated overhead costs should be recognized in the period they
are incurred.

Wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized in the period they
are incurred.

ASC 330-10-30-8 General and administrative expenses are typically recognized as
expenses if they are not clearly related to production.

Selling costs are not included in inventory.
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5. Develop conclusions.

The conclusions are clear in this case with one exception: fixed overhead allocation.
The allocation of the fixed production overhead is more complex than the other costs.

According to ASC 330-10-30-3, the allocation of fixed production overhead is based on
the normal capacity of the production facility. Normal capacity is the production expected

to be achieved over a number of periods and under normal circumstances. In this case,

we estimate normal capacity at S million pairs of jeans per year, which is the average of
the prior five years of production (5.0, 5.1, 4.9, 4.8, and 5.2 million). Thus, we would
allocate $1 per pair of jeans to inventory (the fixed overhead of $5 million divided by the
normal capacity of 5 million pairs of jeans). The total amount of fixed overhead allocated

to inventory is $4.2 million ($1 per pair times 4.2 million pairs produced during the cur-
rent year).

The following table lists the expenditures and their proper accounting treatment
(expense versus capitalize).

Cost per

Pair of Jeans

(based on Cost

Total production Allocated to Cost Allocated Relevant ASC

Expenditure  Cost of 4.2 M) Inventory to Expense Reference
Cost of
material $42.00 M $10.00 $42.00 M ASC 330-10-30-1
Cost of labor ~ $21.00M $ 5.00 $21.00 M ASC 330-10-30-1
Variable $ 6.30 M
production ’
overhead $630M $ 150 ($1.50 x 4.2 M) ASC 330-10-30-3

$ 1.00 to
Fixed inventory; $ 4.20 M ASC 330-10-30-3,
production Remainder to ' $0.80 M ASC 330-10-30-6,
overhead $ 5.00 M  expense ($1.00 X 4.2 M) ($5.0 M — $4.2 M) ASC 330-10-30-7
General and
administrative
expenses $ 100M $ 024 $1.00 M ASC 330-10-30-8
Sellingcosts  $ 420M $ 1.00 $4.20 M ASC 330-10-30-8
Wasted
materials $ 025M $ 0.06 $0.25 M ASC 330-10-30-7
Totals $79.75 M $735 M $6.25 M

6. Communicate the results of the research.

The following memo to the file documents the results of the research.

TO:
FROM:
DATE:
RE:

Jane Lawson
January 10, 2018
Allocation of Costs Related to Inventory

MEMORANDUM TO THE FILE

Client File — Tough Guy Enterprises

Continued
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FACTS

Tough Guy Enterprises manufactures jeans and is a U.S. GAAP reporter. The company
produced 4.2 million pairs of jeans in the current year and the following number of jeans over
the preceding five years:

Year 1 5.0 million
Year 2 5.1 million
Year 3 4.9 million
Year 4 4.8 million
Year 5 5.2 million

Tough Guy has incurred the following expenditures related to its jean production during the
current year:

Material costs per pair $10

Labor costs per pair $5

Variable production overhead $6.3 million

Fixed production overhead $5.0 million

General and administrative expenses $1.0 million

Selling costs $1 per pair of jeans

Cost of wasted material (spoilage) $0.25 million
ISSUE

Which of these expenditures should Tough Guy allocate to inventory and which should it
expense immediately?

ANALYSIS

ASC 330-10-30-1 indicates that inventory is typically stated at cost (i.e., the cost incurred to
bring the inventory to its existing condition and location).

ASC 330-10-30-3 states that variable production overhead costs are allocated to each unit
of production on the basis of the actual use of the production facilities. The allocation of fixed
production overhead is based on the normal capacity of the production facility where normal
capacity is defined as the production expected to be achieved over a number of periods and
under normal circumstances. ASC 330-10-30-6 allows the actual level of production to be
used if it approximates normal capacity.

ASC 330-10-30-6 explains that the amount of fixed overhead allocated to each unit of
production should not be increased in periods of abnormally low production.

ASC 330-10-30-7 requires that unallocated overhead costs be recognized in the period
they are incurred and that wasted materials (spoilage) be recognized in the period they are
incurred.

ASC 330-10-30-8 stipulates that general and administrative expenses should typically be
recognized as expenses if they are not clearly related to production. Also, selling costs should
not be included in inventory.

CONCLUSION

The conclusions are clear in this case with one exception: fixed overhead allocation. The allo-
cation of the fixed production overhead is more complex than the other costs. According to
ASC 330-10-30-3, the allocation of fixed production overhead is based on the normal capacity
of the production facility. Normal capacity is the production expected to be achieved over a
number of periods and under normal circumstances. In this case, we estimate normal capacity
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at 5 million pairs of jeans per year, which is the average of the prior five years of production
(5.0,5.1,4.9, 4.8, and 5.2 million). Thus, we would allocate $1 per pair of jeans to inventory
(the fixed overhead of $5 million divided by the normal capacity of 5 million pairs of jeans).
The total amount of fixed overhead allocated to inventory is $4.2 million ($1 per pair times

4.2 million pairs produced during the current year).

In conclusion, Tough Guy should allocate $73.5 million to inventory and expense $6.25

million immediately. Specifics of this allocation are detailed in the following table.

Cost per

Pair of Jeans

(based on Cost

Total production Allocated to Cost Allocated Relevant ASC

Expenditure  Cost of 4.2 M) Inventory to Expense Reference
Cost of
material $42.00 M $10.00 $42.00 M ASC 330-10-30-1
Cost of labor $21.00M  $ 5.00 $21.00 M ASC 330-10-30-1
Variable $ 6.30 M
production '
overhead $ 6.30M $ 1.50 ($1.50 X 4.2 M) ASC 330-10-30-3

$ 1.00 to
Fixed inventory; $ 4.20 M ASC 330-10-30-3,
production Remainder to ’ $0.80 M ASC 330-10-30-6,
overhead $ 5.00M expense ($1.00 X 4.2 M) ($5.0 M — $4.2 M) ASC 330-10-30-7
General and
administrative
expenses $ 1.00M $ 024 $1.00 M ASC 330-10-30-8
Selling costs $ 420M $ 1.00 $4.20 M ASC 330-10-30-8
Wasted
materials $ 025M $0.06 $0.25 M ASC 330-10-30-7
Totals $79.75 M $ 735M $6.25 M

Financial research cases (referred to as Surfing the Standards cases) at the end of each chapter
will guide you in developing and practicing your research skills.

Summary by Learning Objectives

Here we summarize the main points by learning objective. Throughout the chapter, we discuss
the accounting and reporting of U.S. GAAP and IFRS side-by-side. The following table also
highlights the major similarities and differences between the standards.

@ Explain the importance and prevalence of judgment in the financial reporting process.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Judgment is the process by which a decision is reached in

situations in which there are multiple alternatives. Managers

make many judgments in financial reporting, including:

1. Whether to report a business event, and if so, when?

2.What is the appropriate financial reporting treatment?

Q What amount should be reported in the financial statements?

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

reporting process.

@ Discuss the role of accountants’ assumptions and estimates and the related disclosures in the financial

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Managers must make assumptions and estimates in selecting
accounting methods and applying accounting standards.

Companies report details about the accounting policies they
use in one of the first footnotes to the financial statements.

N\

» |IFRS further requires that companies disclose additional
information about the assumptions and estimates they made at
the end of the reporting period.

» IFRS also requires that companies disclose the judgments
(apart from those involving estimates and assumptions) that
management has made in determining appropriate accounting
treatments for amounts reported on the financial statements (in
the process of applying the company’s accounting policies). j

@ Identify obstacles to the use of sound judgment in preparing financial information and ways to overcome them.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Obstacles are potential impediments to the use of good
judgment, including:

e Factors that may influence management to intentionally bias their
estimates.

e Cognitive biases.

e |ncreasing complexity of the business environment and
transactions.

To minimize cognitive bias, auditors exercise professional
skepticism, which is “an attitude that includes a questioning
mind and a critical assessment of audit evidence.”

Cognitive biases that impact the way accountants make
judgments include:

e Availability bias.

e QOverconfidence bias.

e Confirmatory bias.

e Groupthink bias.

e Anchoring bias.

Techniques to overcome biases include:

e Be organized and methodical in the decision-making process.

e Generate alternatives, even when you think you have already
arrived at the correct answer.

e Document your rationale about the alternatives.

e Delay your final judgment until you have gathered all of the facts
K and information and have considered all of the alternatives.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

e Describe the types of authoritative literature and the literature hierarchy.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

When the appropriate financial reporting treatment for a
business transaction is unclear, accountants must research the
literature and develop a recommended accounting treatment.

Research is the systematic investigation into an issue.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting
Standards Codification (FASB ASC) contains the authoritative
U.S. GAAP literature.

The U.S. GAAP hierarchy has three levels:

Level 1. Codification and all SEC rules and interpretive releases.
While the Codification applies to all entities that report under
U.S. GAAP, the SEC materials only apply to publicly traded
registrants.

Level 2. Authoritative rules and principles from U.S. GAAP for
similar transactions.

Level 3. Other material such as the FASB Concepts Statements,
IFRS, industry practice, and textbooks.

N\

» The IFRS literature is comprised of:

1. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

2. International Accounting Standards (IAS).

3.IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) Interpretations.
4. Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) Interpretations.

The IFRS hierarchy has four levels:

Level 1. IFRS standards and interpretations that specifically
apply to a transaction, event, or condition.

Level 2. Authoritative rules from IFRS for similar and related
transactions.

Level 3. The Conceptual Framework definitions, recognition cri-
teria, and measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income,
and expenses.

Level 4. Recent pronouncements of other standard-setting
bodies that use a similar Conceptual Framework to develop
accounting standards, other accounting literature and accepted
industry practices, to the extent that these do not conflict with
the sources in Levels 1 and 2.

J

@ Outline and apply the steps in the applied financial accounting research process.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

There are six steps in the financial accounting research process:

1. Establish and understand the facts.

2. |dentify the issue: What is the research question?
3. Search the authoritative literature.

4. Evaluate the results of the search.

5. Develop conclusions.

G Communicate the results of the research.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

MyLab Accounting

Go to http://www.pearson.com/mylab/accounting for the following Questions, Brief Exercises,
Exercises, and Problems. They are available with immediate grading, explanations of correct and
incorrect answers, and interactive media that acts as your own online tutor.
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3 Judgment and Applied Financial Accounting Research

Questions
o Q3-1. What is judgment and when is it used by accountants?
oe Q3-2. How can management create an impediment to the exercise of good judgment?
@ Q3-3. Does U.S. GAAP require that companies disclose information about the assumptions and estimates they
make in their financial statements? Explain.
@ Q3-4. Does IFRS require that companies disclose information about the assumptions and estimates they make in
their financial statements? Explain.
@ Q3-5. Does U.S. GAAP require that companies disclose their accounting policies? Explain.
@ Q3-6. Does IFRS require that companies disclose their accounting policies? Explain.
9 Q3-7. What is the difference between the availability and confirmatory biases?
9 Q3-8. What types of biases are individual decision makers subject to when exercising judgment in addressing
accounting issues?
0 Q3-9. How does the Accounting Standards Codification make the body of U.S. GAAP easier to use?
0 Q3-10. What is the purpose of a literature hierarchy?
e Q3-11. What is the Basis for Conclusions and where can they be found for U.S. GAAP?
9 Q3-12. What is the Basis for Conclusions and where can they be found for IFRS?
0@ Q3-13. Explain how accountants and auditors use judgment as they prepare and audit financial statements.
9@ Q3-14. What is research and when is financial accounting research required?
Brief Exercises
og BE3-1. Judgment in Accounting for Accounts Receivable. Identify areas where managers make estimates and
assumptions in accounting for accounts receivable.
0@ BE3-2. Judgment in Accounting for Plant and Equipment. Identify areas where managers make estimates and
assumptions in accounting for plant and equipment.
@ BE3-3. Match Each Cognitive Bias Below with Its Description.
Availability bias a. A phenomenon that occurs in situations where members of a group, in an
attempt to avoid conflict, reach a consensus decision without considering
all of the reasonable alternatives.
Overconfidence bias b. The tendency to be more confident than your abilities and experience level
would objectively warrant.
Confirmatory bias c. The tendency to use the data that is most readily available or most easily
recalled to make a decision, as opposed to considering all relevant data.
Groupthink bias d. The decision maker focuses on one piece of information, weighting it more
heavily than other pieces of information.
Anchoring bias e. A decision maker underweights information that is not consistent with her
initial beliefs.
9 BE3-4. Techniques to Overcome Cognitive Biases. Explain why it is important to understand cognitive biases in
decision making. Identify at least three techniques used to mitigate cognitive biases in practice.
0 BE3-5. Literature Hierarchy. Put the three levels of the literature hierarchy for U.S. GAAP in correct order (use

1,2, 3):

Level Authoritative Literature

Authoritative rules and principles from U.S. GAAP for similar transactions.

Codification and all SEC rules and interpretive releases. \Whereas the
Codification applies to all entities that report under U.S. GAAR, the SEC
materials apply only to publicly traded registrants.

Other material such as the FASB Concepts Statements, IFRS, industry
practice, and textbooks.
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9 BE3-6. Literature Hierarchy. Identify the level of the literature hierarchy for U.S. GAAP to which each item
belongs.
Authoritative Literature Level 1,2, or 3?

a. Industry practice
b. FASB Concepts Statements

c. Codification
d. Textbooks

e. Authoritative rules and principles from U.S. GAAP for similar
transactions

f. International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

g. SEC rules and interpretive releases

e BE3-7. IFRS Literature Hierarchy. Put the four levels of the IFRS literature hierarchy in correct order (use 1,
2,3,4):

Level Authoritative Literature

Recent pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a similar
Conceptual Framework to develop accounting standards, other accounting
literature, and accepted industry practices, to the extent that these do not
conflict with the other sources in Levels 1 and 2.

IFRS standards and interpretations that specifically apply to a transaction, event,
or condition.

The Conceptual Framework definitions, recognition criteria, and measurement
concepts for assets, liabilities, income, and expenses.

Authoritative rules from [FRS for similar and related transactions.

e@@ BE3-8. Codification Research. Referencing Appendix A, determine the topics, subtopics and sections of the Codi-
fication for the following balance sheet events.

Balance Sheet Event Codification Reference

a. Inventory initial measurement

b. Application of the lowerof-cost-ormarket rule for inventory

c. Accounts receivable initial measurement

d. Application of bad debt provision

e. Property, plant, and equipment, initial measurement

f. Depreciation

0@ BE3-9. Research Process. Explain why research is important in accounting. Discuss the research process.
@ BE3-10. Research Process. Put the six steps of the research process in correct order (use 1-6).
Number Step

Search the authoritative literature.

Communicate the results of the research.

Establish and understand the facts.

Evaluate the results of the search.

Identify the issue: What is the research question?

Develop conclusions.
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Exercises

00

E3-1.

E3-2.

E3-3.

Accounting Policy Disclosures. To compare entities in the same industry, it is important to determine the

accounting methods used by each firm. Answer the following questions regarding accounting methods.

a. Where do firms provide information about their accounting methods?

b. Provide at least two examples of the accounting methods commonly covered in your first accounting
course.

Cognitive Bias. A team of accounting students is working on a case where they are required to assess a set of
information to determine a company’s allowance for bad debts. The students have many pieces of information
to analyze, including:

e The company’s allowance for bad debts has been 5% of its receivables for the last several years.
e This year, the company has strengthened its credit extension policy.

» The average time that an accounts receivable has been outstanding has increased from 40 to 50 days
this year.

e The economy has weakened over the year, with a pending recession.

Following is part of the discussion at their first team meeting. Analyze the discussion and determine the type
of cognitive bias most consistent with the statements made by each student, providing an explanation for
your answer.

Discussion »
Tom initiated the discussion saying, “I have seen this kind of situation before when a company has to report
a higher allowance than last year. Allowances are always increasing. ”

Jennifer offered, “The first piece of information in the case is always the most important. The bad debts have
historically been 5%. Therefore, the allowance has to be 5%.”

Jake added, “As I look at the case, I keep coming back to the fact that the average time that an account
receivable has been outstanding has increased by 10 days. In my view, this is the most important piece of
information—the other facts don’t matter.”

Marina’s view was, “Even though the economy has deteriorated, the historical data is always more important.
The general trends in the economy are not relevant.”

Cognitive Bias. A team of accounting students is working on a case where they are required to assess a set
of information to determine the useful life used to depreciate a company’s machinery used to produce smart
phone cases. The students have many pieces of information to analyze, including:

e The company has used a 20-year useful life for the last several years.

e The industry average useful life for similar equipment is 15 years.

e The company purchased the equipment 5 years ago.

e The demand for smart phone cases has increased over the last several years.

e This year, the company has explored purchasing new machinery using a more efficient technology to
produce the cases. This equipment would have a useful life of about 10 years.

e The average time that a machine is down for repairs has increased from 3 days to 12 days per year.

Following is part of the discussion at their first team meeting. Analyze the discussion and determine the type
of cognitive bias most consistent with the statements made by each student, providing an explanation for
your answer.

Discussion »

Khalil initiated the discussion saying, “Information on what the other companies in the industry are using
is what is relevant. The industry average is an aggregate of all the useful lives used and represents the best
overall estimate. We need to use 15 years.”

Ashanti’s view was, “Even though the industry average is 15 years, the company’s history is most important
here. The company’s history is the first piece of information presented because it is the most important. What
another company is doing is just not relevant. So, we do not change the 20-year useful life.”

Amanda asserted, “This is obvious. Of course, the answer is 10 years. Anyone can see that. All the facts
support a 10-year useful life.”

Joe suggested, “Amanda is convinced the answer is 10 years and is sure about it. Khalil wants 15 years. I am

not sure what the answer is, but let’s take the average of 12.5 years. Can we all agree to 12.5 years? We all
should be happy with this answer.”
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060
060

060
060

CASES

E3-4.

E3-5.

E3-6.

E3-7.
E3-8.

Authoritative Literature. Provide the reference to the topic, subtopic and section in the Codification where

you would most likely begin your research for the following areas.

a. Determine what amount to record upon acquisition of a receivable that you received when you sold
services.

b. Resolve a question related to the way in which an airline company depreciates property, plant, and
equipment.

c. Determine whether to recognize a contingent loss liability.

Authoritative Literature. Provide the reference to the Codification paragraph where you can find a listing

of the items that should appear in other comprehensive income.

Authoritative Literature. To what entity types does ASC 330-10: Inventory — Overall not apply? Provide
the Codification reference.

Authoritative Literature. How does FASB define cash equivalents? Provide the Codification reference.

Authoritative Literature. What is the objective of the statement of cash flows? Provide the Codification
reference.

Judgment Cases

ud Case 1: Jud | Estimation U :

Unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS requires that an entity disclose (a) management’s judgments with the most signifi-
cant effect on the financial statements and (b) information about the major sources of estimation uncertainty
that may result in a material adjustment to the carrying values of the entity’s assets and liabilities. These
disclosure requirements are included in IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements. Paragraph 122 contains
the requirement related to judgments, and paragraph 125 contains the requirement related to estimation
uncertainty.

Read paragraphs 122 through 133 and paragraph BC83 of IAS 1.

1. What are the two examples of judgments that could have a significant impact on the financial statements?

2. What are four examples of estimation uncertainty that could result in a material adjustment in future
years?

3. Consider an entity that reports an asset at fair value when the fair value is based on recently observed
market prices. If it is likely that this value might change significantly within the next year, should the
entity disclose the estimation uncertainty? Explain your answer.

ud Case 2: Estimati he Bal S|

Part 1: Read paragraph OB11 of Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, Conceptual Framework
Jor Financial Reporting: Chapter 1, The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting, and Chapter 3,
Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information. What does FASB say about the degree to which
the balance sheet is made up of estimates as opposed to exact depictions of the underlying economic posi-
tion of the entity?

Part 2: The disclosures related to critical accounting estimates and judgments were previously seen in
Exhibit 3.2 for Telefonaktiebolaget LM Ericsson (Ericsson). The balance sheets are presented on the fol-
lowing page. Focusing on Ericsson’s assets, do you agree with the FASB’s assessment about the degree to
which the balance sheet is made up of estimates? Explain your answer.
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TELEFONAKTIEBOLAGET LM ERICSSON
DECEMBER 31, 2015

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
December 31, SEK million Notes 2015 2014
Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets C10, C26
Capitalized development expenses SEK 5,493 SEK 3,570
Goodwill 41,087 38,330
Intellectual property rights, brands and other 9,316 12,634

intangible assets
Property, plant, and equipment C11, C26, C27 15,901 13,341

Financial assets

Equity in joint ventures and associated companies C12 1,210 2,793
Other investments in shares and participations C12 1,275 591
Customer finance, non-current C12 1,739 1,932
Other financial assets, non-current Cc12 5,634 5,900
Deferred tax assets C8 13,183 12,778

SEK 94,838 SEK 91,769

Current assets

Inventories C13 SEK 28,436 SEK 28,175
Trade receivables C14 71,069 77,893
Customer finance, current C14 2,041 2,289
Other current receivables C15 21,709 21,273
Short-term investments C20 26,046 31,171
Cash and cash equivalents C25 40,224 40,988

189,525 201,789
Total assets SEK 284,363  SEK 293,558

Equity and liabilities

Equity
Stockholders’ equity C16  SEK146,525  SEK 144,306
Non-controlling interest in equity of subsidiaries 841 1,003

SEK 147366  SEK 145,309

Non-current liabilities

Post-employment benefits Cc17 SEK 22,664 SEK 20,385
Provisions, non-current c18 176 202
Deferred tax liabilities (O] 2,472 3,177
Borrowings, non-current C19, C20 22,744 21,864
Other non-current liabilities 1,851 1,797

SEK49,907 SEK 47425

Continued
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
December 31, SEK million Notes 2015 2014

Current liabilities

Provisions, current C18 SEK3,662 SEK 4,225
Borrowings, current C19, C20 2,376 2,281
Trade payables C22 22,389 24,473
Other current liabilities C21 58,663 69,845

87,090 100,824
Total equity and liabilities' SEK 284,363  SEK 293,558

! Of which interest-bearing liabilities and post-employment benefits SEK 47,784 (44,530) million.

Source: Ericsson, Financial Statements, December 31, 2015. https://www.ericsson.com/res/investors/docs/2015/
ericsson-annual-report-2015-en.pdf, page 58

Surfing the Standards Cases
Surfing the Standards Case 1: U.S. GAAP Hierarchy

The third level of the U.S. GAAP Hierarchy involves nonauthoritative materials such as textbooks. Read
paragraph 3 of ASC 105-10-05, Generally Accepted Accounting Principles — Overall — Overview and Back-
ground. What examples of nonauthoritative sources does the FASB provide?

rfing the Standar 2: Inventory Disclosur

Abtos Company is a U.S. manufacturer that is publicly traded. Abtos reports $12 million of inventory on its
balance sheet. Inventory includes raw materials, work-in-process, and finished goods. Is Abtos required to
disclose the amounts for each class of inventory, or can it simply report the total $12 million balance on its
balance sheet? Provide Codification references to support your answer to this question.

PharmY, Inc. is a U.S. GAAP reporter that is in the pharmaceutical industry. In the current year, PharmY

incurred expenditures related to laboratory experiments designed to discover a new drug. The expenditures
were as follows:

Laboratory equipment that will be used for this project only $1,000,000
Materials that will be used for this project only 750,000
Wages for employees involved exclusively in the project 500,000

Search the Codification to determine how to record each type of cost. Write a memo to the file to commu-
nicate your results.

Basis for Conclusions Cases
< tor C s Case 1. o .

Unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS requires that an entity disclose (a) management’s judgments with the most signifi-
cant effect on the financial statements and (b) information about the major sources of estimation uncertainty
that may result in a material adjustment to the carrying values of the entity’s assets and liabilities. These dis-
closure requirements are included in /AS 7, “Presentation of Financial Statements.” Paragraph 122 contains the
requirement related to judgments and paragraph 125 contains the requirement related to estimation uncertainty.

Read paragraphs BC77 through BC84 in the basis for conclusions in IAS 1. What reasons did the
Board give for requiring the disclosures about judgment? What reasons did the Board give for requiring the
disclosures about estimation uncertainty?



https://www.ericsson.com/res/investors/docs/2015/ericsson%E2%80%90annual%E2%80%90report%E2%80%902015%E2%80%90en.pdf
https://www.ericsson.com/res/investors/docs/2015/ericsson%E2%80%90annual%E2%80%90report%E2%80%902015%E2%80%90en.pdf
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Basis for Conclusions Case 2: Income Statement or Balance Sheet?

Certain transactions require a choice about which financial statement is more important—the income
statement or the balance sheet. Read paragraphs BC1.31 and BC1.32 in the basis for conclusions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting: Chap-
ter 1, The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting, and Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics
of Useful Financial Information.

a. The original portion of the U.S. GAAP conceptual framework that dealt with the objectives of financial
reporting (Concepts Statement 1) has now been superseded. What opinion did it express related to the
importance of these two financial statements?

b. What opinion did the original IFRS conceptual framework (the Framework) express related to the
importance of these two financial statements?

c. What opinion does the new conceptual framework under U.S. GAAP express regarding the importance
of these two financial statements?
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APPENDIX A
Structure of U.S. GAAP Codification

Topics in the Codification

General Principles 1XX

105

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Presentation 2XX

205 Presentation of Financial Statements

210 Balance Sheet

215 Statement of Shareholders Equity

220 Comprehensive Income

225 Income Statement

230 Statement of Cash Flows

235 Notes to Financial Statements

250 Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

255 Changing Prices

260 Earnings per Share

270 Interim Reporting

272 Limited Liability Entities

274 Personal Financial Statements

275 Risks and Uncertainties

280 Segment Reporting
Assets 3XX

305 Cash and Cash Equivalents

310  Receivables

320 Investments—Debt and Equity Securities

321 Investments—Equity Securities

323  Investments—Equity Method and Joint Ventures

325 Investments—Other

326  Financial Instruments—Credit Losses

330 Inventory

340  Other Assets and Deferred Costs

350 Intangibles—Goodwill and Other

360 Property, Plant, and Equipment
Liabilities 4XX

405 Liabilities

410  Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations

420  Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations

430 Deferred Revenue

440 Commitments

450  Contingencies
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460  Guarantees

470  Debt

480 Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity
Equity 5XX

505 Equity
Revenue 6XX

605 Revenue Recognition

606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
610  Other Income

Expenses 7XX
705  Cost of Sales and Services
710  Compensation—General
712 Compensation—Nonretirement Postemployment Benefits
715  Compensation—Retirement Benefits
718  Compensation—Stock Compensation
720  Other Expenses
730  Research and Development
740  Income Taxes

Broad Transactions 8XX
805  Business Combinations
808  Collaborative Arrangements
810  Consolidation
815  Derivatives and Hedging
820  Fair Value Measurements
825  Financial Instruments
830  Foreign Currency Matters
835 Interest
840  Leases
842  Leases
845 Nonmonetary Transactions
850 Related Party Disclosures
852  Reorganizations
853  Service Concession Arrangements
855  Subsequent Events

860  Transfers and Servicing

Industry 9XX
905  Agriculture
908  Airlines
910  Contractors—Construction
912  Contractors—Federal Government
915 Development Stage Entities
920  Entertainment-Broadcasters
922  Entertainment—Cable Television
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924
926
928
930
932
940
942
944
946
948
950
952
954
958
960
962
965
970
972
974
976
978
980
985
995

Entertainment—Casinos

Entertainment—Films

Entertainment—Music

Extractive Activities—Mining

Extractive Activities—Oil and Gas

Financial Services—Broker and Dealers

Financial Services—Depository and Lending
Financial Services—Insurance

Financial Services—Investment Companies
Financial Services—Mortgage Banking

Financial Services—Title Plant

Franchisors

Health Care Entities

Not-for-Profit Entities

Plan Accounting—Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Plan Accounting—Defined Contribution Pension Plans
Plan Accounting—Health and Welfare Benefit Plans
Real Estate—General

Real Estate—Common Interest Realty Associations
Real Estate—Real Estate Investment Trusts

Real Estate—Retail Land

Real Estate—Time-Sharing Activities

Regulated Operations

Software

U.S. Steamship Entities

Selected Subtopics in the Codification
(excluding industries)
Topic 350 — Intangibles—Goodwill and Other
Subtopic 10 Overall
Subtopic 20 Goodwill
Subtopic 30 General Intangibles Other than Goodwill
Subtopic 40 Internal-Use Software

Subtopic 50 Website Development Costs

Topic 450 — Contingencies
Subtopic 10 Overall
Subtopic 20 Loss Contingencies

Subtopic 30 Gain Contingencies

Topic 505 — Equity
Subtopic 10 Overall
Subtopic 20 Stock Dividends and Stock Splits
Subtopic 30 Treasury Stock

Subtopic 50 Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees

Subtopic 60 Spinoffs and Reverse Spinoffs
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Sections in the Codification
(where XXX is Topic and YY is Subtopic)

XXX-YY-00 Status

XXX-YY-05 Overview and Background

XXX-YY-10 Objectives

XXX-YY-15 Scope and Scope Exceptions

XXX-YY-20 Glossary

XXX-YY-25 Recognition

XXX-YY-30 Initial Measurement

XXX-YY-35 Subsequent Measurement

XXX-YY-40 Derecognition

XXX-YY-45 Other Presentation Matters

XXX-YY-50 Disclosure

XXX-YY-55 Implementation Guidance and Illustrations
XXX-YY-60 Relationships

XXX-YY-65 Transition and Open Effective Date Information
XXX-YY-70 Grandfathered Guidance

XXX-YY-75 XBRL Definitions

XXX-YY-S99 SEC Materials

APPENDIX B
IFRS Standards

IFRS Current Standards and Interpretations

International Accounting Standards (IASs)
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 2 Inventories
IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period
IAS 12 Income Taxes

IAS 16 Property, Plant, and Equipment
IAS 19 Employee Benefits

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures

IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28 Investments in Associates

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
IAS 33 Earnings per Share
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IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities, and Contingent Assets
IAS 38 Intangible Assets

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
IAS 40 Investment Property

IAS 41 Agriculture

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
IFRS 3 Business Combinations
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities
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Review of the Accounting

Cycle

LEARNING OBJECTIVES

Describe the accounting cycle.

Explain transaction analysis, including the use of the
accounting equation.

lllustrate journalizing transactions, including determining
whether to debit or credit accounts.

Explain the importance of and show how to post journal
entries to the general ledger.

Explain the importance of and illustrate the preparation of an
unadjusted trial balance.

Discuss the need for adjusting journal entries and explain
deferrals and accruals.

Explain the use of and illustrate the preparation of an
adjusted trial balance.

Describe the preparation of the financial statements from the
adjusted trial balance.

Explain the difference between permanent and temporary
accounts and demonstrate the process of closing temporary
accounts.

Explain the importance of and illustrate the preparation of a
post-closing trial balance.
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Introduction

COMPANIES SELL MERCHANDISE, purchase inven-
tory, and compensate employees every day—and each indi-
vidual event represents a transaction. Consider the retailer
Target. In its 1,792 U.S. stores, it reported sales of over
$73 billion and employed over 390,000 people in fiscal year
2015. These statistics indicate the magnitude of Target’s
transactions. For example, if Target paid each employee
weekly, there would be over 20 million paychecks issued
in a year.

A company’s accounting system tracks all the transac-
tions that occur every day and ultimately aggregates and
summarizes them in publicly available financial statements.
The accounting cycle describes the process by which a com-
pany records transactions in its books and summarizes their
effects in the financial statements.

In this chapter, we discuss the nine steps in the account-
ing cycle. The process starts with a transaction analysis to
determine whether an economic event has occurred that
changes assets, liabilities, or stockholders’ equity. After
making this determination, a company journalizes transac-
tions and posts them to its ledger accounts. Next, the entity
ensures numerical accuracy of the process by preparing
a trial balance. Before preparing financial statements, a
company determines whether adjustments are required to
ensure that it has reported all economic events occurring in
that period. Finally, it prepares the financial statements and
closes all temporary accounts.

These steps ensure that every transaction flows to the
financial statements, enabling investors, creditors, and
other financial statement users to use the statements to
analyze a company’s financial position and economic per-
formance. €(€

1
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@ Describe the
accounting cycle.

@ Explain transaction
analysis, including the
use of the accounting
equation.

The Accounting Cycle

The accounting cycle describes the process by which a company records business transactions
and ultimately aggregates and summarizes them in the financial statements. As a roadmap for the
chapter, Exhibit 4.1 presents the nine steps in the accounting cycle. The accounting cycle steps
do not depend on the accounting standards being used: Whether a company uses U.S. GAAP
or IFRS, the accounting cycle begins with analyzing transactions and ends with a post-closing
trial balance.

EXHIBIT 4.1 The Accounting Cycle

Step 1: Analyze the Transaction

A transaction is an economic event that involves a change in an asset, a liability, or a stockhold-
ers’ equity account that companies record in their accounting records. The accounting equation
(also called the balance sheet equation) is initially used to analyze transactions. We begin this
section by reviewing the accounting equation and then expand it to illustrate transaction analysis.

The Accounting Equation

The accounting equation illustrates the relationship among assets, liabilities, and stockholders’
equity as follows:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity (4.1a)
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Or, using abbreviations, this equation is:
A=L+E (4.1b)

The accounting equation demonstrates that creditors and owners have claims to a company’s
assets. We review the definition of each element of the accounting equation in Exhibit 4.2, along
with examples of each element.

EXHIBIT 4.2 Accounting Equation Definitions”

Element Definition Examples
Assets Probable future economic ben- Cash, receivables, inventory,
efits obtained or controlled by buildings

a particular entity as a result of
past transactions or events.

Liabilities Probable future sacrifices of Accounts payable, salaries
economic benefits arising from payable, notes payable, bonds
present obligations of a particu- payable

lar entity to transfer assets or
provide services to other entities
in the future as a result of past
transactions or events.

Stockholders' Equity The net assets or residual inter Contributed capital, retained
est in the assets of an entity earnings, accumulated other
that remains after deducting its comprehensive income
liabilities.

The fact that all transactions affect at least two accounts and that the accounting equation
will always balance is referred to as the double-entry system. For example, if an asset increases,
then there must be either a decrease in another asset, an increase in liabilities, or an increase in
stockholders’ equity.

An expanded version of the accounting equation includes the various components of stock-
holders’ equity. Stockholders’ equity in equation form is:

Stockholders’ Equity = Contributed Capital + Ending Retained Earnings
+ Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 4.2)

Contributed capital consists primarily of owners’ investments in the business. Accumulated
other comprehensive income increases or decreases with other comprehensive income. Other
comprehensive income is an additional component of comprehensive income. We introduce other
comprehensive income and accumulated other comprehensive income now, due to its complexity,
and we explore it in much more detail in future chapters.

Revenue and gains increase retained earnings, whereas expenses, losses, and distributions to
owners (dividends) decrease retained earnings. We represent retained earnings in equation form
as follows:

Ending Retained Earnings = Beginning Retained Earnings + Revenues + Gains 43
— Expenses — Losses — Dividends Declared (43)
When revenues and gains exceed expenses, losses, and dividends over time, retained earnings is
positive. Retained earnings is negative when expenses, losses, and dividends exceed revenues and
gains over time. A negative balance in retained earnings is called a deficit. We review definitions
of each of these terms in Exhibit 4.3.

1U.S. GAAP definitions from FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements. IFRS definitions are
nearly identical.
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EXHIBIT 4.3 Expanded Accounting Equation Elements?

Element Definition
Investments Increases in equity of a particular business enterprise resulting from transfers to it
by Owners from other entities of something valuable to obtain or increase ownership interests

(or equity) in it. Assets are most commonly received as investments by
owners, but that which is received may also include services or satisfaction of
conversion of liabilities of the enterprise.

Distributions Decreases in equity of a particular business enterprise resulting from transferring

to Owners assets, rendering services, or incurring liabilities by the enterprise to owners. Distribu-
tions to owners decrease ownership interest (or equity) in an enterprise. Dividends are
common distributions to owners.

Revenues Inflows or other enhancements of an entity's assets or settlements of its liabilities
(or a combination of both) from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or
other activities that constitute the entity’'s ongoing major or central operations.

Gains Increases in equity (net assets) from an entity’s peripheral or incidental transactions
and from all other transactions and other events and circumstances affecting the
entity except those that result from revenues or investments by owners.

Expenses Outflows or other consumption of assets or incurrences of liabilities (or a combination
of both) from delivering or producing goods, rendering services, or carrying out other
activities that constitute the entity’s ongoing major or central operations.

Losses Decreases in equity (net assets) from an entity’s peripheral or incidental transactions
and from all other transactions and other events and circumstances affecting the
entity except those that result from expenses or distributions to owners.

Exhibit 4.4 presents the components of stockholders’ equity graphically. Consistent with
Equation 4.2, stockholders’ equity is comprised of contributed capital, ending retained earn-
ings, and accumulated other comprehensive income. Also, ending retained earnings is equal
to beginning retained earnings and is increased by net income and decreased by net losses
and dividends. Net income (and net loss) is increased by revenues and gains and decreased
by expenses and losses.

EXHIBIT 4.4 Components of Stockholders’ Equity

Stockholders' Equity

|

v v v

Contributed Ending Retained A Accumulated Other
Capital Earnings Comprehensive Income

|

v v v

Beginning Retained Net Income Dividends

Earnings (Net Loss) Declared

|

v v v v

Revenue = - Expenses + Gains — Losses

2U.S. GAAP definitions from FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements. IFRS definitions are
somewhat different, as explained in Chapter 2, but these differences do not affect the explanations of the steps in the
accounting cycle.
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Assets = NEELIICER +

Assets

EXAMPLE 4.1

Given Equations 4.2 and 4.3, we expand the basic accounting equation to represent the ele-
ments of stockholders’ equity as follows:

Stockholders’ Equity

Liabilities + Contributed + . . i + Accumulated
Coppiial Ending Retained Earnings Other
Beginning + Revenues — Expenses — Dividends Comprehensive
Retained Earnings and Gains and Losses Declared Income

This expanded equation allows companies to analyze complex transactions.

Analysis of Transactions with the Expanded
Accounting Equation

PROBLEM: Plush Service Corporation began 2018 with the following account balances.

Account Balance

Cash $38,000

Accounts Receivable 30,000

Store Equipment 70,000 Total Noncash Assets = $100,000
Accounts Payable 3,000

Legal Fees Payable 5,000 Total Liabilities = $38,000

Notes Payable 30,000

Common Stock 60,000

Retained Earnings 40,000

The company engaged in the following transactions during 2018:

a. Issued an additional 10,000 shares of common stock on January 2. The stock was sold
for $80,000, which equals the par value of the stock.

. Purchased store equipment for $10,000 cash on January 3.

. Provided services for cash of $35,000 on February 5.

. Provided services on credit for $90,000 on February 10.

. Received bill and paid utilities of $15,000 on February 15.

. Sales employees worked and were paid sales salaries of $30,000 on March 1.

. Incurred legal fees of $6,000 on April 10 but did not pay for these services.

. Declared and paid dividends to stockholders of $2,000 on April 30.

i. Collected $25,000 for services to be provided over the coming year on June 30.

5 0. o+ 0 & o o

j. Paid $72,000 for a three-year insurance policy on July 10 with coverage beginning on
August 1.

k. Paid $1,000 for a three-week equipment rental on September 10.
1. Collected $10,000 from the February 10 transaction on October 20.
m. Paid $1,000 of the amount owed for legal fees incurred on April 10 on November 18.

Continued
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Assume that Plush Service is not subject to tax. [llustrate the effect of each transaction on the
expanded accounting equation.

SOLUTION: We analyze each transaction below, explaining the effect on the accounting equa-
tion by determining the increases and decreases in assets, liabilities, and components of
stockholders’ equity. Changes in assets must equal changes in liabilities and stockholders’
equity after each transaction. Note that the first row of the table on the next page contains
balances at the beginning of the period. For simplicity, we are adding the noncash asset
accounts together as well as the liability accounts. Noncash assets include accounts receiv-
able and store equipment. Liabilities include accounts payable, legal fees payable, and notes
payable.

TRANSACTIONS ANALYSIS

a. Plush received cash in exchange for equity. As a result, it will increase its assets and
increase stockholders’ equity through the contributed capital (common stock) account.

b. Because Plush paid cash to purchase store equipment. Store equipment increases and
the asset cash decreases. This transaction changes the composition of the assets but not
the total.

c. Because Plush received cash for services provided, it will increase its assets and will
increase stockholders’ equity through the service revenue account.

d. Plush provided services on account. Therefore, it will increase its noncash assets (for
the receivable) and will also increase stockholders’ equity through the service revenue
account for services provided.

e. Because Plush used and paid for utilities, it will decrease the asset cash and decreases
stockholders’ equity by recognizing expenses.

f. Plush used and paid for the services of its employees, so it will decrease the asset cash
and decrease stockholders’ equity through expenses.

g. Because Plush incurred legal fees but did not yet pay for them, it will increase a liability
and decrease stockholders’ equity by recognizing expenses.

h. Plush declared and paid dividends. In this case, it will decrease the asset cash and decrease
stockholders’ equity due to the dividends declared.

i. Because Plush collected cash, it will increase the asset cash. However, Plush still owes
services to the customer so it will also increase liabilities.

j. Plush acquired an asset (the benefit of an insurance policy) and paid cash. Thus, it will
increase an asset, prepaid insurance, and decrease the asset cash.

k. Plush paid cash for an equipment rental. It will decrease the asset cash and increase an
expense, thus decreasing equity.

1. Because Plush collected cash for amounts owed to the company, it will increase an asset,
cash, and decrease another asset, accounts receivable.

m. Plush paid cash for amounts it owed for unpaid legal fees. The company will decrease
the asset cash and decrease liabilities.
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Assets
Ref Cash Noncash
Assets

Bal.  $38,000 $100,000

@ +80,000

@ —10,000 +10,000

Store

Equipment

@ +35,000

@ +90,000
Accounts
Receivable

@ —15,000

®  —30,000

®  -$2,000

@  +25,000

@ —72,000 +72,000

Prepaid

Insurance

®  —1,000

(M +10,000  —10,000
Accounts
Receivable

@ —1,000

Bal. ~ $57000 $262,000

e

Liabilities

$38,000

+6,000
Legal Fees
Payable

+25,000

Unearned
Service

Revenues

—1,000
Legal Fees
Payable

= $68,000

*Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
*£$40,000 + $125,000 — $52,000 — $2,000 = $111,000

© lllustrate journalizing
transactions, including
determining whether
to debit or credit
accounts.

Stockholders’ Equity

Ending Retained Earnings

Contributed
Capital Beginning
(Common Retained Revenues Expenses Dividends Acc.
Stock) Earnings and Gains and Losses Declared OcCI*
$60,000 $40,000
+80,000
+35,000
Service
Revenue
+90,000
Service
Revenue
—15,000
Utilities
Expense
—30,000
Salaries
Expense
—6,000
Legal Fees
Expense
—2,000
Dividends
—1,000
Rental
Expense
$140,000 $40,000 $125,000 —$52,000 —$2,000 -0-
Ending Retained Earnings = $111,000**

Step 2: Journalize the Transactions

After analyzing the transaction, the second step in the accounting cycle is to journalize the transac-
tion by formally recording the transaction in the accounting system. We will explain the journal-

ization process, including the specific accounts, debits and credits, and journal entries.
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Accounts

A company records each transaction in specific accounts, not just broad groupings such as assets
and liabilities. An account is an individual record of increases and decreases in specific asset,
liability, and stockholders’ equity items. Exhibit 4.5 provides examples of asset, liability, and
stockholders’ equity accounts.

EXHIBIT 4.5 Account Examples

Account Type Examples

Asset Cash
Accounts Receivable
Inventory
Prepaid Rent
Building
Equipment
Liability Accounts Payable
Wages Payable
Notes Payable
Bonds Payable
Stockholders’ Equity Common Stock
Retained Earnings
Sales Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold
Salary Expense
Gain on Sale of Equipment
Loss on Sale of Investments

A company’s accounting system assigns each account a unique account number shown in the
chart of accounts, a numerical listing of the account names and numbers that assists in locating
the account in the ledger. The accounts are typically numbered in balance sheet order: assets,
liabilities, equity, and the components of stockholders’ equity including dividends, revenues,
gains, expenses, and losses. Exhibit 4.6 presents a sample chart of accounts.

EXHIBIT 4.6 Sample Chart of Accounts

Assets

100 Cash

101 Accounts Receivable

102 Inventory

103 Prepaid Expenses

104 Office Supplies

150 Equipment

151 Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment
190 Other Assets

Liabilities
200 Accounts Payable
201 Tax Payable

202 Accrued Expenses Payable
210 Notes Payable

Stockholders’ Equity

300 Common Stock
301 Retained Earnings
320 Dividends

Revenues
400 Sales Revenue
Expenses

500 Depreciation Expense
508 Wage Expense
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Debits and Credits: A Review

Companies use debits and credits to journalize transactions. The terms debit and credit simply
mean the left and the right side of an account, respectively—they do not imply increases or
decreases. Conventions related to the type of account determine whether a debit or credit increases
or decreases an account. Regardless of the accounts used to record the economic event, all transac-
tions will result in debits being equal to credits. Just as assets equal liabilities plus stockholders’
equity, debits always equal credits. This simple fact that debits equal credits forms the foundation
of the double-entry system of accounting. Exhibit 4.7 presents the conventions for debits and
credits in terms of increasing and decreasing accounts.

EXHIBIT 4.7 Debits and Credits

Account Debits Credits Normal Balance*
Assets Increase 1 Decrease | Debit

Liabilities Decrease | Increase 1 Credit

Common Stock Decrease | Increase 1 Credit

Retained Earnings Decrease | Increase 1 Credit**
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income Decrease | Increase 1 Debit or Credit***
Dividends Increase 1 Decrease | Debit

Revenues and Gains Decrease | Increase 1 Credit

Expenses and Losses Increase 1 Decrease | Debit

*The normal balance is the side of the account increase.

**The balance of retained earnings can be a debit when expenses, losses, and dividends exceed revenues and gains
over time. A debit balance in retained earnings is called a deficit.

##%Accumulated OCI will be a debit when cumulative OCI items net to a loss, or losses exceed gains. Accumulated
OCI will be a credit when cumulative OCI items net to a gain, or gains exceed losses.

Asset accounts, such as cash and inventory, increase with a debit and decrease with a credit.
When a company makes a sale of $400 and collects cash, it debits cash by $400. When a company
pays employees, cash decreases, so it credits the cash account.

In general, liabilities and stockholders’ equity increase with a credit and decrease with a debit.
When a company purchases inventory on account, it credits accounts payable to reflect an increase
in a liability. When the company pays its supplier the amount owed, it debits accounts payable to
reflect a reduction in the liability.

Equity accounts, such as common stock and retained earnings, also increase with credits and
decrease with debits. Revenues and gains are increases in equity, so these accounts will increase
with credits. However, expenses and losses decrease equity, so they will increase with a debit.
Similarly, dividends decrease equity so dividends also increase with debits.

The normal balance refers to the expected balance in an account, and it is the side that
increases the value of the account. If an account increases with a debit, then its normal balance is
a debit. Conversely, if an account increases by a credit, then its normal balance is a credit.

Journal Entries

Journalizing a transaction is the process of entering a transaction in the general journal. To jour-
nalize a transaction, companies prepare a journal entry, which contains the following elements
in the common format:

a. The date the transaction occurred is in the first column.

b. Accounts debited are listed first and positioned at the left side. The dollar amount debited is
placed in the debit column.

c. Accounts credited are recorded next and indented to the right a few spaces. The dollar amount
credited is placed in the credit column.

d. A brief explanation is frequently included below the entry.
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For example, Plush Service Corporation issued 10,000 shares of its common stock for $80,000
on January 2, 2018, as indicated by the following journal entry for this transaction.

Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref. Debit Credit
2018
Jan 2 Cash 80,000

Common Stock 80,000

(To record issuance of common stock)

Companies initially record transactions in the general journal. The general journal presents
transactions in chronological order with a column for the date, the account titles and explanations,
reference number, debits, and credits. The column for the reference number is left blank until the
entries are posted to the general ledger accounts, at which time the account number is included
in the reference column. Because events are recorded in the general journal first, it is known as
the book of original entry.

Using the general journal as the first record of the economic event has several advantages.
The general journal maintains a complete record of the transaction and provides an explanation
of the event when the transaction involves complex events. In addition, all economic events are
listed in chronological order, facilitating the location and correction of errors.

In Example 4.2, we journalize the transactions from Example 4.1.

EXAMPLE 4.2 Journal Entries

PROBLEM: Consider the transactions for Plush Service Corporation from Example 4.1. Provide
the journal entry for each transaction.

SOLUTION: We analyzed each transaction earlier. In the following journal entries, we indicate
the increases and decreases in assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity, the specific accounts
affected, and whether the account is debited or credited.

GENERAL JOURNAL PAGE J1
Trans* Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref. Debit Credit
® January 2 Cash 80,000
Common Stock 80,000
(To record issuance of common stock)
® January 3 Store Equipment 10,000
Cash 10,000
(To record purchase of store equipment)
© February 5 Cash 35,000
Service Revenue 35,000
(To record services rendered)
@ February 10 Accounts Receivable 90,000
Service Revenue 90,000

(To record services rendered on account)

® February 15 Utilities Expense 15,000
Cash 15,000
(To record payment for utilities)
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@ Explain the importance
of and show how to
post journal entries to
the general ledger.

Trans* Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref.  Debit Credit

@ March 1 Salaries Expense 30,000
Cash 30,000
(To record payment for salaries)

@ April 10 Legal Fees Expense 6,000
Legal Fees Payable 6,000
(To record incurrence of legal fees)

® April 30 Dividends 2,000
Cash 2,000

(To record the declaration and payment
for dividends)

@ June 30 Cash 25,000
Unearned Service Revenue 25,000

(To record receipt of payment for future
services)

@ July 10 Prepaid Insurance 72,000
Cash 72,000
(To record payment for insurance)

@ September 10 Rental Expense 1,000
Cash 1,000
(To record payment for equipment rental)

® October 20 Cash 10,000
Accounts Receivable 10,000
(To record the receipt of amounts due)

@ November 18  Legal Fees Payable 1,000
Cash 1,000
(To record the payment of amounts
owed)

*For reference only and not part of the recording process.

Step 3: Post to the General Ledger

The next step in the accounting cycle is to post the journal entries to the general ledger. The
general ledger contains all accounts maintained by the company with each account reflecting its
increases, decreases, and balance. Each account is maintained in a single location for management
analysis. An account has a debit balance if debits exceed credits, and a credit balance when credits
are greater than debits. The account has a zero balance if debits equal credits.

Posting is the process of transferring information contained in journal entries to the individual
ledger accounts. Each general ledger account has a column for the date, explanation, reference,
debit, credit, and balance. The reference is the general journal page number.

The typical general ledger account has three money columns with the account balance deter-
mined after each journal entry is posted. The reference column, which contains the general journal
page number, is completed when the event is posted from the journal to the ledger. For example,
Exhibit 4.8 illustrates Plush Service Corporation’s posting of the journal entry to the general led-
ger for the common stock issued on January 2, 2018. The balance in the cash account, No. 100,
increases by $80,000 to $118,000. The balance in the common stock account, No. 300, also
increases by $80,000 to $140,000. The reference column in the general ledger indicates the entry
is from page J1 of the general journal.
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EXAMPLE 4.3

EXHIBIT 4.8 Posting a Transaction from the General Journal to the General Ledger

GENERAL JOURNAL
PAGE J1
Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref. Debit Credit
2018
Jan 2 Cash 100 80,000
Common Stock 300 80,000
(To record issuance of common stock)
GENERAL LEDGER
Cash No. 100
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance / 38,000
Jan 2 Issued common stock J1 80,000 118,000
Common Stock No. 300
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance / 60,000
Jan 2 Issued common stock J1 80,000 140,000

In Example 4.3, we post the journal entries made in Example 4.2.

Posting Journal Entries to the General Ledger

PROBLEM: Consider the transactions and beginning balances for Plush Service Corporation
from Example 4.1. Post the journal entries from Example 4.2 to the general ledger.

SOLUTION:

GENERAL LEDGER
Cash No. 100

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018

Balance 38,000
Jan 2 Issued common stock 80,000 118,000
Jan 3 Purchased store equipment 10,000 108,000
Feb b Received cash for services provided 35,000 143,000
Feb 15 Paid for utilities 15,000 128,000
Mar 1 Paid salaries 30,000 98,000
Apr 30 Paid dividends 2,000 96,000
June 30 Received cash in advance of services 25,000 121,000
July 10 Paid insurance 72,000 49,000
Sept 10 Paid for equipment rental 1,000 48,000
Oct 20 Collected account receivable 10,000 58,000
Nov 18 Paid legal fees 1,000 57,000

Accounts Receivable No. 101

Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018

Balance 30,000
Feb 10 Provided services on account 90,000 120,000

Oct 20 Collected account receivable 10,000 110,000
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Prepaid Insurance No. 102
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
July 10 Paid for insurance 72,000 72,000
Store Equipment No. 150
Date Explanation Ref Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance 70,000
Jan 3 Purchased store equipment 10,000 80,000
Accounts Payable No. 200
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance 3,000
Legal Fees Payable No. 201
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance 5,000
Apr 10 Incurred legal expenses 6,000 11,000
Nov 18 Paid for legal fees 1,000 10,000
Unearned Service Revenue No. 202
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
June 30 Received cash in advance of services 25,000 25,000
Notes Payable No. 210
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance 30,000
Common Stock No. 300
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance 60,000
Jan 2 Issued common stock 80,000 140,000
Retained Earnings No. 301
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Balance 40,000

Continued
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Dividends No. 320
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
April 30 Declared cash dividends 2,000 2,000
Service Revenue No. 400
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Feb b Provided services 35,000 35,000
Feb 10 Provided services on account 90,000 125,000
Utilities Expense No. 501
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Feb 15 Incurred utilities expense 15,000 15,000
Salaries Expense No. 502
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Mar 1 Incurred salaries expense 30,000 30,000
Legal Fees Expense No. 504
Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Apr 10 Incurred legal fees expense 6,000 6,000
Rental Expense No. 506
Date Explanation Ref. Debit Credit Balance
2018
Sept 10 Incurred rental expense 1,000 1,000
The T-Account

We typically do not use the formal general ledger accounts when presenting illustrations in the text.
Rather, we use a simplified version of the ledger accounts known as t-accounts with three main parts:

1. The account title,
2. A left (debit) side, and
3. A right (credit) side.

Exhibit 4.9 presents a sample t-account.
We will use the t-account rather than formal general ledger accounts for the remainder of

the chapter.

EXHIBIT 4.9 T-Account

Account Title

Debit Credit
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EXAMPLE 4.4

Step 4: Prepare the Unadjusted Trial Balance

Throughout the accounting cycle, companies prepare several trial balances. A trial balance is a
listing of the accounts and their ending debit or credit balances at a point in time. The accounts
are listed with the balance sheet accounts first (assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity), fol-
lowed by dividends and the income statement accounts (revenues, gains, expenses, and losses).
The trial balance provides a check on the recording process by ensuring the equality of debits
and credits; however, it does not prove the accuracy of the recording process. Debits can equal cred-
its while numerous errors exist. For example, a trial balance will not reveal the following errors:

e A transaction that is not journalized.

* A correct journal entry that is not posted.

* An entry that is posted twice.

* The debiting or crediting of incorrect accounts.

* The debiting and crediting of incorrect dollar amounts.

After completing the posting process, the company prepares the unadjusted trial balance, an
initial listing of all accounts and their debt or credit balances. Note that an unadjusted trial balance
may not reflect all of a company’s events and transactions because it has not made the adjusting
Jjournal entries at the time it prepares the unadjusted trial balance. For example, if equipment has
not been depreciated throughout the accounting period, an adjusting entry to record depreciation
in the current period will be recorded after the unadjusted trial balance is prepared. Example 4.4
illustrates preparing an unadjusted trial balance.

Unadjusted Trial Balance

PROBLEM: Using the information in Example 4.3, prepare an unadjusted trial balance for Plush
Service Corporation.

SOLUTION: We take the ending balances in each of the accounts from the solution to Example 4.3
to prepare the trial balance, as presented here:

Plush Service Corporation
Unadjusted Trial Balance
At December 31, 2018

Account Account # Debit Credit
Cash 100 $ 57000
Accounts Receivable 101 110,000
Prepaid Insurance 102 72,000
Store Equipment 150 80,000
Accounts Payable 200 $ 3,000
Legal Fees Payable 201 10,000
Unearned Service Revenue 202 25,000
Notes Payable 210 30,000
Common Stock 300 140,000
Retained Earnings 301 40,000
Dividends 320 2,000
Service Revenue 400 125,000
Utilities Expense 501 15,000
Salaries Expense 502 30,000
Legal Fees Expense 504 6,000
Rental Expense 506 1,000

Totals $373,000 $373,000
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Discuss the need

for adjusting journal
entries and explain
deferrals and accruals.

Step 5: Prepare Adjusting Journal Entries

The unadjusted trial balance may not reflect all of a company’s events and transactions because
the adjusting journal entries have not been made. Adjusting journal entries are entries made
to ensure that all revenues are recognized in the period when control of a good or service has
passed to the customer, and all expenses are recognized in the period incurred. Adjusting journal
entries are necessary because U.S. GAAP requires that financial information be reported using
the accrual basis of accounting. The company prepares the adjusted trial balance after making all
adjusting journal entries and posting these entries to the ledger accounts at the end of the reporting
period. The adjusted trial balance is the listing of all accounts and their ending debit or credit
balances after making the adjusting journal entries.

Cash versus Accrual Bases of Accounting

The cash basis of accounting is not acceptable for financial reporting under U.S. GAAP. Under
the cash basis, companies recognize revenues only when cash is received and expenses only when
cash is paid. This approach of revenue and expense recognition measures only cash receipts and
disbursements but does not accurately measure the economic activity underlying cash receipts
and payments.

Under the accrual basis, companies recognize revenues when control of a good or service
has passed to the customer, regardless of when cash is received. Expenses are recognized when
incurred, regardless of when cash is paid. Because U.S. GAAP requires the preparation of financial
statements under the accrual basis and companies present these financial statements throughout the
life of the firm, adjusting journal entries are needed at the end of each reporting period. Companies
record adjusting journal entries (AJEs) to ensure that all economic events are properly reflected
in the financial statements. Every AJE will impact one balance sheet account and one income
statement account.

Adjusting journal entries involve accounting for both deferrals and accruals.

Deferrals

Deferrals occur when a company receives or pays cash before recognizing the revenue or expense
in the financial statements. AJEs are required for both deferred expenses and deferred revenues.

Deferred Expenses. A deferred expense occurs when a company makes a cash payment
before incurring an expense under accrual basis accounting. For example, paying rent on the first
of the year for occupancy of a building during that year creates a deferred expense. The cash pay-
ment occurs on the first day of the year, but the expense is incurred ratably over the year. Thus,
the company should not record the full amount of the expense until the end of the year. Deferred
expenses are also referred to as prepaid expenses.

Companies record deferred expenses as assets until they are used or consumed in operations.
Therefore, an adjusting journal entry for deferred expenses will cause a change in both an asset
and an expense account as the asset is derecognized and the expense is recognized. Examples of
deferred expenses include prepaid rent, prepaid insurance, supplies, and depreciation. Exhibit 4.10
illustrates this asset-expense relationship.

If the company does not adjust the prepaid expense, it will overstate assets and understate
expenses. The adjusting journal entry results in a debit to an expense account and a credit to
an asset account. It may be the case that the company initially records the cash payment as an
expense, a scenario we discuss in Appendix A.

Depreciation and amortization are other types of deferred expenses. Depreciation is the
systematic and rational allocation of the cost of a long-term operating asset to expense over the
asset’s expected useful life. Amortization is the systematic and rational allocation of the cost of
an intangible asset to expense over the asset’s expected useful life.

When a company purchases a long-term operating asset, it records the asset with a debit. As
the company uses the asset over time, the company reports an expense on the income statement,
debiting expense. It also reduces the carrying value of the asset by the same amount. In the case
of depreciation, the credit to reduce the value of the asset is to an account referred to as
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EXAMPLE 4.5

accumulated depreciation. Accumulated depreciation is a contra-asset account, which is an asset
account that has a normal credit balance. The contra-asset accumulated depreciation directly
offsets the asset account, and the net value of the two accounts is the asset’s net carrying value.
In the case of amortization, the company may credit an accumulated amortization account or the
intangible asset account directly.3 Example 4.5 presents preparing an adjusting journal entry for
a deferred expense.

EXHIBIT 4.10 Deferred Expenses

Cash Outflow

J

Record as an
asset

!

Consume the asset in
operations or with the
passage of time

J

Reduce the asset
and record the
expense

Deferred Expenses

PROBLEM: Plush Service Corporation paid $72,000 for a three-year insurance policy on July
10 with coverage beginning on August 1. As we saw in Example 4.2, on the date it purchased
the insurance, Plush made the following journal entry:

Date Account Debit Credit
July 10 Prepaid Insurance 72,000
Cash 72,000

(To record payment for insurance)

What adjusting journal entry is needed on December 317 Prepare the t-accounts for prepaid
insurance and insurance expense both before and after the adjusting journal entry.

SOLUTION: The t-accounts for the prepaid insurance and insurance expense accounts would
appear as follows on December 31 before Plush records the adjusting journal entry and posts
to the t-accounts.

Prepaid Insurance Insurance Expense
July 10 72,000 0
72,000 0

Continued

3We discuss depreciation and amortization in more depth in Chapter 11.
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On December 31, insurance expense is understated because Plush has received five months’
insurance coverage and that portion of the coverage has expired. Prepaid insurance is over-
stated because there are only 31 of the 36 months of prepaid insurance remaining. In order to
adjust the prepaid insurance account, Plush must prepare the following adjusting journal entry:

Date Account Debit Credit
Dec 31 Insurance Expense ($72,000/36 mos.) X 5 mos. 10,000
Prepaid Insurance 10,000

(To record expired insurance)

After Plush posts the adjusting journal entry, the t-accounts will reflect the correct balances
of the asset and the expense:

Prepaid Insurance Insurance Expense
July 10 72,000 Unadjusted Balance 0
Unadjusted Balance 72,000
AJE, Dec 31 10,000 AJE, Dec 31 10,000
Adjusted Balance 62,000 Adjusted Balance 10,000

Example 4.6 illustrates recording depreciation expense.

Depreciation Expense

PROBLEM: Plush Service Corporation depreciates its store equipment at a rate of $8,000 per
year. Provide the adjusting journal entry to record depreciation for the current year.

SOLUTION: Plush debits an expense account and credits accumulated depreciation for $8,000.

Date Account Debit Credit
Dec 31 Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 8,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Store Equipment 8,000

(To record annual depreciation expense on equipment)

Deferred Revenues. A deferred revenue occurs when a company receives cash before
revenue should be recognized in the financial statements under accrual basis accounting. That is,
deferred revenue represents cash that has been received before the occurrence of the underlying
economic event that generates revenue. For example, a company receiving cash in advance for an
online magazine subscription records deferred revenue. The cash receipt occurs on the first day
of the year, but the revenue is recognized only when the magazine is made available for use (i.e.,
delivered) over the subscription period. Thus, the company should not record the full amount of
the revenue until the product has been provided over the entire term of the subscription. Deferred
revenues are also referred to as unearned revenues or advance collections.

Companies record unearned revenues as liabilities until control of a good or service passes to
the customer. Therefore, an adjusting journal entry for unearned revenues will cause a change in
both a liability and a revenue account as the liability is derecognized and the revenue is recognized.
Examples of unearned revenues include advance collections of insurance, rent, and subscriptions.
Exhibit 4.11 illustrates this liability-revenue relationship.
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EXHIBIT 4.11 Deferred Revenues

Cash Inflow

J

Record as a
liability

!

Record the revenue
after transfer control of good
or service to customer

J

Reduce the liability
and record
the revenue

If the company does not adjust unearned revenue, it overstates liabilities and understates
revenues. The adjusting journal entry results in a debit to a liability account and a credit to a rev-
enue account. It may be the case that the company initially records the cash receipt as revenue,
a scenario we discuss in Appendix A. Example 4.7 presents preparing an adjusting journal entry
for a deferred revenue situation.

Deferred Revenues

PROBLEM: Plush Service Corporation collected $25,000 on June 30, 2018, for services to be
provided over the next 12 months.

Plush estimated that 30% of the service fees collected in advance had been performed
by the end of the year. As illustrated in Example 4.2, on the date it received the cash, Plush
made the following journal entry to increase cash, an asset, and increase unearned service
revenue, a liability:

Date Account Debit Credit
June 30 Cash 25,000
Unearned Service Revenue 25,000

(To record receipt of payment for future services)

What adjusting journal entry is needed on December 31? Prepare the t-accounts for unearned
service revenue and service revenue both before and after the adjusting journal entry.

SOLUTION: The t-accounts for the unearned service revenue and service revenue accounts
would appear as follows on December 31 before Plush records the adjusting journal entry
and posts it to the t-accounts.

Unearned Service Revenue Service Revenue
June 30 25,000 35,000 Feb 5
90,000 Feb 10
Dec 31 25,000 125,000 Dec 31

Continued
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On December 31, service revenue is understated because a portion of the unearned revenue
has now been performed. Plush determines that $7,500 should be recorded as service revenue
(30% X $25,000). In order to adjust the unearned service revenue liability account, Plush
must prepare the following adjusting journal entry:

Date Account Debit Credit
Dec 31 Unearned Service Revenue 7500
Service Revenue 7500

(To record revenue for services performed)

After posting the adjusting journal entries, Plush’s accounts will reflect the correct balances
of the liability and the revenue.

Unearned Service

Revenue Service Revenue
June 30 25,000 35,000 Feb.5
90,000 Feb. 10
Unadjusted Unadjusted
Balance 25,000 Balance 125,000
AJE, Dec 31 7500 AJE, Dec 31 7500
Adjusted Adjusted
Balance 17500 Balance 132,500
Accruals

Accruals occur when the economic event that gives rise to revenue or expenses occurs before the
cash is received or paid. The two types of accruals are accrued revenues and accrued expenses.

Accrued Revenues. Accrued revenues occur when control of the good or service has
passed to the customer but the seller has not yet received cash. For example, a wholesaler may
deliver goods to a retailer on credit. In this case, there is an unrecorded asset (a receivable) and an
unrecognized revenue. So, both assets and revenues are understated until the company makes an
adjusting journal entry. Exhibit 4.12 presents this asset-revenue relationship.

EXHIBIT 4.12 Accrued Revenues

Control of goods or
services has passed
to the customer

J

No journal entry is
recorded because a transaction
is not initiated (e.g., an invoice

is not mailed to the

customer)

J

At period end, an asset (receivable)
and revenue are recorded

J

When cash is received, cash is
recorded and the asset (receivable)
is removed
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If the company does not adjust accrued revenue, then assets and revenues are both understated.
The adjusting journal entry is needed to debit the asset account and credit the revenue account.
Once the cash is received, the company debits cash and credits the asset (receivable) account.

Accrued Revenues

PROBLEM: On December 31, Plush Service Corporation received an invoice from a field tech-
nician indicating that services amounting to $35,000 had been provided but not yet billed to
customers.

What adjusting journal entry is needed as of the end of the accounting period? Prepare
the t-accounts for accounts receivable and service revenue earned both before and after the
adjusting journal entry.

SOLUTION: Without the adjusting journal entry, Plush’s assets and revenues are both under-
stated. Currently, Plush has not prepared any journal entries related to this transaction.

Accounts Receivable Service Revenue
Bal. 30,000 Balance from
Feb 10 90,000 Example 4.7 132,500
10,000 Oct 20
Unadjusted Bal. Unadjusted Bal.
Dec 31 110,000 Dec 31 132,500

On December 31, an adjusting journal entry is required that will debit accounts receivable
and credit service revenue.

Date Account Debit Credit
Dec 31 Accounts Receivable 35,000
Service Revenue 35,000

(To record revenue for services performed)

Thus, at the end of the accounting period, the adjusted balances in these accounts are correct.

Accounts Receivable Service Revenue
Bal. 30,000 Balance from
Feb 10 90,000 Example 4.7 132,500

10,000 Oct 20

Unadjusted Unadjusted
Balance 110,000 Balance 132,500
AJE, Dec 31 35,000 AJE, Dec 31 35,000
Adjusted
Balance 145,000 Adjusted Balance 167,500

Accrued Expenses. Accrued expenses occur when a company has incurred expenses but
has not paid cash. For example, companies may incur an utility expense before a bill is received at
the end of the month, and that amount remains unpaid at the end of the accounting period. Other
common examples of accrued expenses are salaries and interest. In these cases, there is an unre-
corded liability (a payable) and an unrecognized expense. The company understates both liabilities
and expenses until it makes the adjusting journal entry. Exhibit 4.13 presents this liability-expense
relationship.
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EXHIBIT 4.13 Accrued Expenses

Expense is
incurred

l

No journal entry is
recorded because a transaction is
not initiated (e.g., an invoice has
not been received by the
company)

!

At period end, a liability (payable)
and expense are recorded

J

When cash is paid, the cash
outflow is recorded and
the liability (payable) is removed

The adjusting journal entry debits the expense account and credits the liability account. Once
cash is paid, the company debits the liability (payable) and credits cash.

Accrued Expenses

PROBLEM: Plush Service Corporation incurs salaries of $4,000 at the end of the year. The next
payroll date is January 2 of the following year.

What adjusting journal entry is needed as of the end of the accounting period on Decem-
ber 31?7 Prepare the t-accounts for salaries payable and salaries expense both before and after
the adjusting journal entry.

SOLUTION: Without the adjusting journal entry, Plush’s liabilities and expenses are both under-
stated. Currently, Plush has not prepared any journal entries related to this transaction.

Salaries Payable Salaries Expense
0 Mar 1 30,000
Unadjusted Balance 0 Unadjusted Balance 30,000

On December 31, an adjusting journal entry is required that will debit salaries expense and
credit salaries payable.

Date Account Debit Credit
Dec 31 Salaries Expense 4,000
Salaries Payable 4,000

(To accrue salaries incurred)

Thus, at the end of the accounting period, the adjusted balances in these accounts are correct.

Salaries Payable Salaries Expense
0 Mar 1 30,000
Unadjusted Balance 0 Unadjusted Balance 30,000
AJE, Dec 31 4,000 AJE, Dec 31 4,000
Adjusted Balance 4,000 Adjusted Balance 34,000




Review of the Accounting Cycle

13

@ Explain the use of
and illustrate the
preparation of an

adjusted trial balance.
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Adjustment

Exhibit 4.14 summarizes the different types of adjusting journal entries.

Deferred (Prepaid)
Expense

or expired.

Deferred
(Unearned)
Revenue

Need for Adjustment

Deferred cost originally recorded as
an asset is now fully or partially used

Deferred revenues originally recorded
as a liability are now recorded as
revenue when transfer control of
good or service to customer.

EXHIBIT 4.14 Summary of Adjusting Journal Entries

Over/Understatement
Prior to Adjustment

Asset overstated
Expense understated

Liability overstated
Revenue understated

Accrued Expense

Accrued Revenue

Step 6: Prepare the Adjusted Trial Balance

Expenses incurred but unrecorded at
the end of the accounting period.

Revenues should be recorded but
unrecorded at the end of the

accounting period.

Liability understated

Expense understated

Asset understated

Revenue understated

Adjusting
Journal Entry

Dr: Expense
Cr: Asset

Dr: Liability
Cr: Revenue

Dr: Expense
Cr: Liability
Dr: Asset
Cr: Revenue

Companies prepare adjusted trial balances after journalizing and posting all adjusting journal
entries. Similar to the unadjusted trial balance, the adjusted trial balance lists all accounts and end-
ing balances, including the accounts created during the adjustment process. Like the unadjusted
trial balance, the adjusted trial balance ensures the equality of debits and credits after adjusting
journal entries are made but cannot be used to prove the accuracy of the financial information
included in the accounts. Note that the accounts included in the adjusted trial balance contain all
the data needed to prepare the financial statements.

Adjusted Trial Balance

PROBLEM: Consider Plush Service Corporation from our prior examples. Prepare t-accounts
that begin with the unadjusted balances from the unadjusted trial balance. Post the adjusting

balance at December 31, 2018.

SOLUTION:

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.5 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.6 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Cash

57,000

57,000

Prepaid |

nsurance

72,000

10,000

62,000

Accumulated
Depreciation

0
8,000

8,000

journal entries to the t-accounts and determine the adjusted balances. Prepare an adjusted trial

Accounts
Receivable
Unadjusted Balance 110,000
Ex. 4.8 Adjusting Entry 35,000
Adjusted Balance 145,000

Store Equipment

Unadjusted Balance 80,000

Adjusted Balance 80,000

Accounts Payable

Unadjusted Balance

3,000

Adjusted Balance

3,000

Continued
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Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.9 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.5 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Legal Fees Payable

10,000

10,000

Salaries Payable

0
4,000

4,000

Common Stock

140,000
140,000
Dividends
2,000
2,000

Utilities Expense

15,000

15,000

Legal Fees
Expense

6,000

Insurance Expense

0
10,000

10,000

Unadjusted Balance

Ex. 4.7 Adjusting Entry

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.7 Adjusting Entry
Ex. 4.8 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.9 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance

Adjusted Balance

Unadjusted Balance
Ex. 4.6 Adjusting Entry
Adjusted Balance

Unearned Service

Revenue
25,000
7,500
17500

Notes Payable

30,000

30,000

Retained Earnings

40,000

40,000

Service Revenue

125,000
7,500
35,000

167,500

Salaries Expense

30,000
4,000

34,000

Rental Expense

1,000

1,000

Depreciation
Expense—Store
Equipment

0
8,000

8,000

The adjusted trial balance for Plush Service Corporation is presented on the next page.
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Plush Service Corporation
Adjusted Trial Balance
At December 31, 2018

Account Account # Debit Credit
Cash 100 $ 57000
Accounts Receivable 101 145,000
Prepaid Insurance 102 62,000
Store Equipment 150 80,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Store Equipment 151 $ 8,000
Accounts Payable 200 3,000
Legal Fees Payable 201 10,000
Unearned Service Revenue 202 17500
Salaries Payable 204 4,000
Notes Payable 210 30,000
Common Stock 300 140,000
Retained Earnings 301 40,000
Dividends 320 2,000
Service Revenue 400 167,500
Utilities Expense 501 15,000
Salaries Expense 502 34,000
Legal Fees Expense 504 6,000
Rental Expense 506 1,000
Insurance Expense 507 10,000
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 508 8,000
Totals $420,000 $420,000

Step 7: Prepare Financial Statements

After completing the adjusted trial balance, the company can prepare financial statements, a pro-
cess we explore in depth in subsequent chapters. First, it prepares the statement of net income,
which presents the financial results of operations, using the revenue and expense accounts.* Next,
the company uses the resulting net income for the period, along with the equity accounts, to pre-
pare the statement of stockholders’ equity. The balance sheet includes all assets, liabilities, com-
mon stock, and the ending retained earnings balance obtained from the statement of stockholders’
equity. The final step is preparing the statement of cash flows.>

Accountants occasionally use a worksheet to facilitate the preparation of the adjusting entries
and financial statements (see Appendix B). Accountants may also use reversing entries as part of
the accounting cycle (see Appendix C).

Exhibit 4.15 presents the sequence of financial statement preparation.

4We will not consider the statement of comprehensive income in this chapter. We will cover comprehensive income in
depth in Chapter 5.

3 The statement of cash flows is excluded from this illustration. We will discuss the statement of cash flows in
subsequent chapters.
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EXHIBIT 4.15 Sequence of Preparation of Financial Statements

Statement of Net Income

;

Statement of
Stockholders’ Equity

;

Balance Sheet

!

Statement of Cash Flows

EXAMPLE 4.11 Financial Statements

PROBLEM: Using the adjusted trial balance for Plush Service Corporation in Example 4.10,
prepare a statement of net income, a statement of stockholders’ equity, and a balance sheet.

SOLUTION: The financial statements are presented here. We first identify the income state-
ment accounts and include them on the statement of net income. Net income is computed as
revenues less expenses.

Plush Service Corporation
Statement of Net Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

Service Revenue $167500
Expenses:
Salaries Expense $34,000
Utilities Expense 15,000
Depreciation Expense-Store Equipment 8,000
Legal Fees Expense 6,000
Insurance Expense 10,000
Rental Expense 1,000

Total Expenses (74,000)
NET INCOME $ 93,500

Net income is needed to prepare the statement of stockholders’ equity.
Plush Service Corporation
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Common Stock  Retained Earnings Total Equity

Balance, January 1, 2018 $ 60,000 $ 40,000 $100,000
Additional Stock Issue 80,000 80,000
Net Income 93,500 93,500
Dividends Declared (2,000) (2,000)
Balance, December 31, 2018 $140,000 $131,500 $271,500
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Note that the ending retained earnings balance is $131,500. We use this balance in the balance
sheet as follows. The other accounts are obtained directly from the adjusted trial balance.

Plush Service Corporation
Balance Sheet
At December 31, 2018

Assets

Cash $ 57000
Accounts Receivable 145,000
Prepaid Insurance 62,000
Store Equipment $80,000

Accumulated Depreciation—Store Equipment (8,000) 72,000
TOTAL ASSETS $336,000

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities

Accounts Payable $ 3,000
Legal Fees Payable 10,000
Unearned Service Revenue 17,500
Salaries Payable 4,000
Notes Payable 30,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES $ 64,500

Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock $140,000
Retained Earnings 131,500
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $271,500
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY $336,000

Step 8: Close Temporary Accounts

The next step in the accounting cycle requires closing all temporary accounts, which are all
income statement accounts and dividends that must be reduced to a zero balance in order to report
net income (or net loss) and dividends for the next accounting period. The temporary accounts
begin the next period with a zero balance to ensure that prior-period revenues and expenses are
not included in the computation of the next year’s net income or loss. Closing is the process of
bringing all temporary accounts to a zero balance.

In contrast to the income statement temporary accounts, the balance sheet consists of perma-
nent accounts, which are accounts with cumulative balances carried forward period after period.
Permanent accounts are not closed at the end of the period.

Closing each revenue and expense temporary account to retained earnings would involve a
significant amount of detail flowing through the retained earnings account. To avoid this exces-
sive detail in retained earnings, companies use another temporary account, income summary, to
accumulate revenues and expenses and transfer the net value of the income summary to retained
earnings in a single journal entry.

Four closing entries are required to close the temporary accounts.

1. Close out revenue and gain accounts: Debit all revenue and gain accounts and credit income
summary for the total of the accounts debited.

2. Close out expense and loss accounts: Debit income summary for total expenses and losses
and credit each expense and loss account for its balance.
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3. Close out income summary account: Debit income summary and credit retained earnings for
the amount of net income; conversely, credit income summary and debit retained earnings
in the event of a net loss.

4. Close out the dividends account: Debit retained earnings and credit the dividends account
for the year.

Closing Entries

PROBLEM: Consider Plush Service Corporation from the prior examples. Prepare the closing
entries for Plush Service Corporation.

SOLUTION: We record each of the four closing entries. First, we debit the service revenue
account and credit income summary. Second, we credit each of the expense accounts and debit
the total amount to income summary. At this point, income summary will have a credit balance
because revenues are greater than expenses and represent net income for the period. Third,
we debit income summary for its balance (which, in this case, is net income as opposed to net
loss) and credit retained earnings. Finally, we credit the dividends account for its balance and
debit retained earnings. The closing entries on December 31 are presented here:

GENERAL JOURNAL PAGE J4

No. Account Debit Credit
@ Service Revenue 167,500

Income Summary 167,500

(To close revenue account)

@ Income Summary 74,000
Salaries Expense 34,000
Utilities Expense 15,000
Depreciation Expense—Store Equipment 8,000
Legal Fees Expense 6,000
Insurance Expense 10,000
Rental Expense 1,000
(To close expense accounts)
@ Income Summary 93,500
Retained Earnings 93,500
(To close income summary)
@ Retained Earnings 2,000
Dividends 2,000

(To close dividends)

Step 9: Prepare Post-Closing Trial Balance

After journalizing and posting all closing entries, the company prepares a post-closing trial bal-
ance. Similar to any trial balance, the objective of the post-closing trial balance is to prove the
equality, not the accuracy, of the debits and credits related to the remaining accounts with non-zero
balances. The post-closing trial balance contains only permanent balance sheet accounts because
all temporary accounts were closed out and have zero balances.
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EXAMPLE 4.13 Post-Closing Trial Balance

PROBLEM: Prepare the post-closing trial balance for Plush Service Corporation using the infor-
mation provided in the prior examples.

SOLUTION: The post-closing trial balance only includes the permanent accounts because the
temporary accounts have all been closed and now reflect zero balances. Plush updates the end-
ing balance for retained earnings, a permanent account, to reflect the closing of all temporary
accounts to retained earnings.

Plush Service Corporation
Post-Closing Trial Balance
At December 31, 2018

Account Account # Debit Credit
Cash 100 $ 57000

Accounts Receivable 101 145,000

Prepaid Insurance 102 62,000

Store Equipment 150 80,000

Accumulated Depreciation—Store Equipment 151 $ 8,000
Accounts Payable 200 3,000
Legal Fees Payable 201 10,000
Unearned Service Revenues 202 17,500
Salaries Payable 204 4,000
Notes Payable 210 30,000
Common Stock 300 140,000
Retained Earnings 301 131,500
Totals $344,000 $344,000

Comprehensive Example

Example 4.14 provides a comprehensive example of the complete illustration of the accounting
cycle.

EXAMPLE 4.14 Comprehensive Accounting Cycle Example

PROBLEM: The DS Wilson Company, which provides consulting services to major utility com-
panies, was formed on January 2 of the current year. Transactions completed during the first
year of operation are presented here.

January 2: Issued 600,000 shares of common stock for $10,000,000, which is the par
value of the stock.

January 10:  Acquired equipment in exchange for $2,000,000 cash and a $6,000,000 note
payable. The note is due in 10 years.

February 1:  Paid $24,000 for a business insurance policy covering the two-year period
beginning on February 1.

February 22: Purchased $900,000 of supplies on account.

March 1: Paid wages of $185,600.

March 23: Billed $2,730,000 for services rendered on account.

April 1: Paid $100,000 of the amount due on the supplies purchased on February 22.

Continued
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April 17: Collected $210,000 of the outstanding accounts receivable.

May 1: Paid wages of $200,400.

May 8: Received bill and paid $98,200 for utilities.

May 24: Paid $42,500 for sales commissions.

June 1: Made the first payment on the note issued on January 10. The payment

consisted of $60,000 of interest and $200,000 to be applied against the
principal of the note.

June 16: Billed customers for $560,000 of services rendered.
June 30: Collected $300,000 on accounts receivable.

July 10: Purchased $155,000 of supplies on account.

Aug 25: Paid $160,000 for administrative expenses.

Sept 23: Paid $30,000 for warehouse repairs.

October 1:  Paid wages of $90,000.
Nov 20: Purchased supplies for $60,000 with cash.

Dec 15: Collected $125,600 in advance for services to be provided in December and
January of the following year.
Dec 30: Declared and paid a $50,000 dividend to shareholders.

The chart of accounts used by DS Wilson is presented here

Chart of Accounts

Group Account # Account Title
100: Assets
101 Cash
102 Accounts Receivable
103 Supplies
104 Prepaid Insurance
110 Equipment
112 Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment
200: Liabilities
201 Accounts Payable
202 Unearned Service Revenue
203 Wages Payable
210 Interest Payable
220 Notes Payable
300: Stockholders’
Equity
301 Common Stock
310 Retained Earnings
320 Dividends
400: Revenues
401 Service Revenue
500: Expenses
501 Wage Expense
502 Utilities Expense
503 Selling Expense
504 Administrative Expense

505 Repairs Expense
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Group Account # Account Title
506 Insurance Expense
507 Supplies Expense
510 Depreciation Expense—Equipment
520 Interest Expense
600: Other
601 Income Summary
a. Journalize the transactions for the year.
b. Post the journal entries to t-accounts.
c. Prepare an unadjusted trial balance as of December 31.
d. Journalize and post adjusting entries to t-accounts based on the following additional

information.

i. Eleven months of the insurance policy expired by the end of the year.

ii. Depreciation for the equipment is $400,000.

iii. The company provided a portion of the services related to the advance collection of
December 15. The company recognized $70,000 as service revenue earned.

iv. There are $500,000 of supplies on hand at the end of the year.

v. An additional $170,000 of interest has accrued on the note by the end
of the year.

vi. Wilson accrued wages in the amount of $200,000.

e. Prepare an adjusted trial balance as of December 31.

f. Prepare a single-step income statement and statement of stockholders’ equity for the cur-
rent year and a classified balance sheet as of the end of the year.

g. Journalize and post closing entries.

h. Prepare a post-closing trial balance as of December 31.

SOLUTION

a. We first analyze each transaction and then present journal entries. Note that the reference
numbers would not be added until the entries are posted.

January 2:
January 10:
February 1:
February 22:
March 1:
March 23:

April 1:

Wilson will increase cash with a debit and increase common stock with a
credit.

Wilson will increase equipment with a debit, decrease cash with a credit, and
increase notes payable with a credit.

In the journal entry, Wilson will increase prepaid insurance with a debit and
decrease cash with a credit.

Wilson will increase supplies with a debit and increase accounts payable
with a credit.

Wilson will increase wage expense with a debit and decrease cash with a
credit in the journal entry.

Wilson will increase accounts receivable with a debit and increase service
revenue with a credit.

Wilson will decrease accounts payable with a debit of $100,000 and decrease
cash with a credit of the same amount.

Continued
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April 17: Wilson will increase cash with a debit of $210,000 and decrease accounts
receivable with a credit of the same amount.

May 1: Wilson will increase wage expense with a debit and decrease cash with
a credit.

May 8: Wilson will increase utilities expense with a debit and decrease cash with a
credit.

May 24: Wilson will increase selling expense with a debit and decrease cash with a
credit.

June 1: Wilson will decrease the notes payable with a debit of $200,000, increase
interest expense with debit of $60,000, and decrease cash with a credit of
$260,000.

June 16: Wilson will increase accounts receivable with a debit and increase service
revenue with a credit.

June 30: Wilson will increase cash with a debit and decrease accounts receivable with
a credit.

July 10: Wilson will increase supplies with a debit and increase accounts payable with
a credit.

Aug 25: Wilson will increase administrative expense with a debit and decrease cash
with a credit.

Sept 23: Wilson will increase repairs expense with a debit and decrease cash with a
credit.

October 1: ~ Wilson will increase wage expense with a debit and decrease cash with a
credit.

Nov 20: Wilson will increase supplies with a debit and decrease cash with
a credit.

Dec 15: Wilson will increase cash with a debit and increase unearned service revenue
with a credit.

Dec 30: Wilson will increase dividends with a debit and decrease cash with
a credit.

General Journal Page J1
Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref. Debit Credit
Current
Year
Jan2 Cash 101 10,000,000
Common Stock 301 10,000,000
(To record issuance of common stock)
Jan 10 Equipment 110 8,000,000
Cash 101 2,000,000
Notes Payable 220 6,000,000
(To record purchase of equipment)
Feb 1 Prepaid Insurance 104 24,000
Cash 101 24,000
(To record payment for insurance)
22 Supplies 103 900,000
Accounts Payable 201 900,000

(To record purchase of supplies)
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General Journal Page J2
Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref. Debit Credit
Current
Year
March 1 Wage expense 501 185,600
Cash 101 185,600
(To record payment to employees)
23  Accounts Receivable 102 2,730,000
Service Revenue 401 2,730,000
(To record billings)
April 1 Accounts Payable 201 100,000
Cash 101 100,000
(To record payment for supplies)
17 Cash 101 210,000
Accounts Receivable 102 210,000
(To record collections from customers)
May 1 Wage Expense 501 200,400
Cash 101 200,400
(To record payment to employees)
8  Utility Expense 502 98,200
Cash 101 98,200
(To record payment for utilities)
24 Selling Expense 503 42,500
Cash 101 42,500
(To record payment for sales
commissions)
June 1 Notes Payable 220 200,000
Interest Expense 520 60,000
Cash 101 260,000
(To record payment on note)
16 Accounts Receivable 102 560,000
Service Revenue 401 560,000
(To record customer billings)
30 Cash 101 300,000
Accounts Receivable 102 300,000
(To record collections from customer)
July 10 Supplies 103 155,000
Accounts Payable 201 155,000
(To record purchase of supplies)
Aug 25  Administrative Expense 504 160,000
Cash 101 160,000

(To record payment for administrative
expenses)

Continued
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General Journal Page J2
Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref. Debit Credit
Current
Year
Sept 23 Repairs Expense 505 30,000
Cash 101 30,000
(To record payment for warehouse repairs)
Oct1  Wage Expense 501 90,000
Cash 101 90,000
(To record payments to employees)
Nov 20  Supplies 103 60,000
Cash 101 60,000
(To record purchase of supplies)
Dec 15  Cash 101 125,600
Unearned Service Revenue 202 125,600
(To record collection of advance payments)
30 Dividends 320 50,000
Cash 101 50,000
(To record payment of dividends)
b. The t-accounts are as follows:
Cash 101 Accounts Receivable 102
Jan 2 10,000,000 Mar 23 2,730,000
10 2,000,000 Apr 17 210,000
Feb 1 24,000 June 16 560,000
March 1 185,600 30 300,000
April 1 100,000 2,780,000
17 210,000
May 1 200,400
8 98,200
24 42,500
June 1 260,000
30 300,000
Aug 25 160,000
Sept 23 30,000
Oct 1 90,000
Nov 20 60,000
Dec 15 125,600
Dec 30 50,000
7,334,900
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Supplies 103 Prepaid Insurance 104
Feb 22 900,000 Feb 1 24,000
July 10 155,000 24,000
Nov 20 60,000
1,115,000
Equipment 110 Accumulated Depreciation—
Jan10 8,000,000 Equipment 112
8,000,000 e
0
Accounts Payable 201 Unearned Service
Feb 22 900,000 Revenue 202
April 1 100,000 Dec 15 125,600
July 10 155,000 125,600
955,000
Wages Payable 203 Interest Payable 210
0 0
0 0
Notes Payable 220 Common Stock 301
Jan 10 6,000,000 Jan 2 10,000,000
June 1 200,000 10,000,000
5,800,000
Retained Earnings 310 Dividends 320
0 Dec 30 50,000
0 50,000
Service Revenue 401 Wage Expense 501
March 23 2,730,000 March 1 185,600
June 16 560,000 May 1 200,400
3,290,000 Oct 1 90,000
476,000
Utilities Expense 502 Selling Expense 503
May 8 98,200 May 24 42,500
98,200 42,500

Continued
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Administrative Expense 504 Repairs Expense 505

Aug 25 160,000 Sept 23 30,000

160,000 30,000
Insurance Expense 506 Supplies Expense 507

0 0

0 9
Depreciation Expense — Interest Expense 520

Equipment 510
June 1 60,000
0 60,000
0

Income Summary 601

9 9

c. We prepare the unadjusted trial balance using the balances from the t-accounts in b. The
unadjusted trial balance is as follows:

DS Wilson Company
Unadjusted Trial Balance
At December 31

Account Debit Credit
Cash $ 7334,900

Accounts Receivable 2,780,000

Supplies 1,115,000

Prepaid Insurance 24,000

Equipment 8,000,000

Accounts Payable $ 955,000
Unearned Service Revenue 125,600
Notes Payable 5,800,000
Common Stock 10,000,000
Retained Earnings 0
Dividends 50,000

Service Revenue 3,290,000
Wage Expense 476,000

Utilities Expense 98,200

Selling Expense 42,500

Administrative Expense 160,000

Repairs Expense 30,000

Interest Expense 60,000

Totals $20,170,600 $20,170,600
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d. We analyze the additional information provided in order to prepare the adjusting entries.

i. On February 1, insurance was prepaid for 24 months. Policy begins on February 1.
Because 11 months of the insurance policy have expired by the end of the year, Wilson
will record 11 months of insurance expense with a debit and reduce prepaid insurance
with a credit. The amount of insurance expense is $11,000, computed as follows:

$24,000 prepaid insurance/24 months = $1,000 per month
$1,000 per month X 11 months = $11,000

ii. Wilson will increase depreciation expense with a debit of $400,000 and increase accu-
mulated depreciation with a credit for the same amount.

iii. Wilson will reduce its liability, unearned service revenue, with a debit of $70,000, and
increase service revenue with a credit of $70,000.

iv. In the unadjusted trial balance, the balance of the supplies account is $1,115,000.
However, at the end of the year, Wilson has $500,000 of supplies. Therefore, $615,000
of supplies must have been used.

$615,000 = $1,115,000 — $500,000
Wilson will increase supplies expense by $615,000 with a debit and decrease supplies
with a credit for the same amount.

v. Wilson will increase interest expense by $170,000 with a debit and increase interest
payable with a credit of the same amount.

vi. Wilson will increase wage expense with a debit and increase wages payable with a credit.

The adjusting entries are as follows:

GENERAL JOURNAL PAGE J3
Trans Date Account Titles and Explanations Ref Debit Credit
(for example Current
only) Year Adjusting Entries
@ Dec 31 Insurance Expense 506 11,000
Prepaid Insurance 104 11,000

(To record expired insurance)

@ 31 Depreciation Expense—Equipment 510 400,000

Accumulated
Depreciation—Equipment 12 400,000

(To record depreciation on equipment)
31 Unearned Service Revenue 202 70,000
Service Revenue 401 70,000

(To record revenue for services provided)

@ 31 Supplies Expense 507 615,000
Supplies 103 615,000
(To record supplies used)
@ 31 Interest Expense 520 170,000
Interest Payable 210 170,000

(To record interest on note)

@ 31 Wage Expense 501 200,000
Wages Payable 203 200,000

(To record wages earned)

Continued
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The updated t-accounts, after adjusting journal entries, are as follows:

Jan 2

Feb 1
March 1
April 1
17

May 1

24
June 1
30

Aug 25
Sept 23
Oct 1
Nov 20
Dec 15
Dec 30

Feb 22
July 10
Nov 20

AJE

Jan 10

Feb 22
April 1
July 10

AJE

Cash 101
10,000,000
2,000,000
24,000
185,600
100,000
210,000
200,400
98,200
42,500
260,000
300,000
160,000
30,000
90,000
60,000
125,600
50,000
7,334,900
Supplies 103
900,000
155,000
60,000
615,000
500,000

Equipment 110

8,000,000

8,000,000

Accounts Payable 201

900,000
100,000
155,000

955,000

Wages Payable 203

200,000

200,000

Mar 23
Apr 17

June 16
30

Feb 1
AJE

AJE

Dec 15
AJE

AJE

Accounts Receivable 102

2,730,000
210,000

560,000
300,000

2,780,000

Prepaid Insurance 104

24,000
11,000

13,000

Accumulated Depreciation—
Equipment 112

400,000

400,000

Unearned Service
Revenue 202

125,600
70,000

55,600

Interest Payable 210

170,000

170,000
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Jan 10

June 1

March 23
June 16
AJE

May 8

Aug 25

AJE

AJE

Notes Payable 220
6,000,000
200,000
5,800,000

Retained Earnings 310

0 0
0
Service Revenue 401
2,730,000
560,000
70,000

3,360,000

Utilities Expense 502

98,200

98,200

Administrative Expense 504

160,000

160,000

Insurance Expense 506

11,000

11,000

Depreciation Expense—
Equipment 510

400,000

400,000

Income Summary 601

o

o

Common Stock 301

Jan 2 10,000,000
10,000,000
Dividends 320
Dec 30 50,000
50,000

Wage Expense 501

March 1 185,600
May 1 200,400
Oct 1 90,000
AJE 200,000
676,000

Selling Expense 503

May 24 42,500
42,500

Repairs Expense 505

Sept 23 30,000
30,000

Supplies Expense 507

AJE 615,000
615,000

Interest Expense 520

June 1 60,000
AJE 170,000
230,000
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e. We use the balances from the updated t-accounts to prepare the adjusted trial balance.

DS Wilson Company
Adjusted Trial Balance
At December 31

Account Debit Credit
Cash $ 7334,900
Accounts Receivable 2,780,000
Supplies 500,000
Prepaid Insurance 13,000
Equipment 8,000,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment $ 400,000
Accounts Payable 955,000
Unearned Service Revenue 55,600
Wages Payable 200,000
Interest Payable 170,000
Notes Payable 5,800,000
Common Stock 10,000,000
Retained Earnings, 1/1 0
Dividends 50,000
Service Revenue 3,360,000
Wage Expense 676,000
Utilities Expense 98,200
Selling Expense 42,500
Administrative Expense 160,000
Repairs Expense 30,000
Insurance Expense 11,000
Interest Expense 230,000
Supplies Expense 615,000
Depreciation Expense—Equipment 400,000
Totals $20,940,600 $20,940,600
f. The financial statements are as follows:
DS Wilson Company
Statement of Net Income
For the Year Ended December 31

Revenues

Service Revenues $3,360,000
Expenses

Wage Expense $676,000

Supplies Expense 615,000

Depreciation Expense—Equipment 400,000

Interest Expense 230,000

Administrative Expense 160,000

Utilities Expense 98,200

Selling Expense 42,500

Repair Expense 30,000

Insurance Expense 11,000

Total Expenses (2,262,700)

Net Income $ 1,097300
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DS Wilson Company
Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Year Ended December 31

Common Stock  Retained Earnings  Total Stockholders’ Equity

Balance, January 1 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Capital Investments 10,000,000 10,000,000
Net Income 1,097,300 1,097,300
Dividends Declared (50,000) (50,000)
Balance, December 31 $10,000,000 $1,047300 $11,047,300

DS Wilson Company
Balance Sheet
As of December 31

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash $ 7.334,900

Accounts Receivable 2,780,000

Supplies 500,000

Prepaid Insurance 13,000
Total Current Assets $10,627,900

Noncurrent Assets:

Equipment (less Accumulated Depreciation of $400,000) $ 7600,000
Total Noncurrent Assets $ 7600,000

TOTAL ASSETS $18,227,900

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable $ 955,000

Unearned Service Revenue 55,600

Wages Payable 200,000

Interest Payable 170,000
Total Current Liabilities $ 1,380,600

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Notes Payable $ 5,800,000

Total Noncurrent liabilities $ 5,800,000

Total Liabilities $ 7180,600

Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock $10,000,000

Retained Earnings 1,047,300
Total Stockholders’ Equity $11,047.300

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $18,227,900
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g. The closing entries for DS Wilson Company are presented next:

Date Account Titles and Explanation Ref. Debit Credit
Dec 31 Service Revenue 401 3,360,000
Income Summary 601 3,360,000
(To close revenue account)
31 Income Summary 601 2,262,700
Wage Expense 501 676,000
Utilities Expense 502 98,200
Selling Expense 503 42,500
Administrative Expense 504 160,000
Repairs Expense 505 30,000
Insurance Expense 506 11,000
Supplies Expense 507 615,000
Depreciation Expense—Equipment 510 400,000
Interest Expense 520 230,000
(To close expense accounts)
31 Income Summary 601 1,097.300
Retained Earnings 310 1,097,300
(To close income summary account)
31 Retained Earnings 310 50,000
Dividends 320 50,000

(To close dividends account)

h. The updated t-accounts, after closing entries (identified as CE), are as follows:

Jan 2
10

Feb 1
March 1
April 1
17

May 1
8

24
June 1
30

Aug 25
Sept 23
Oct 1
Nov 20
Dec 15
Dec 30

Cash 101

10,000,000
2,000,000
24,000
185,600
100,000

210,000
200,400
98,200
42,500
260,000

300,000
160,000
30,000
90,000
60,000

125,600
50,000

7,334,900

Mar 23
Apr 17

June 16
30

Accounts Receivable 102

2,730,000
210,000

560,000
300,000

2,780,000
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Feb 22
July 10
Nov 20

AJE

Jan 10

Feb 22
April 1
July 10

AJE

Jan 10

June 1

CE

March 23
June 16
AJE

CE

May 8

Supplies 103

900,000
155,000
60,000

615,000

500,000

Equipment 110

8,000,000

8,000,000

Accounts Payable 201

100,000

900,000

155,000

955,000

Wages Payable 203

200,000

200,000

Notes Payable 220

200,000

6,000,000

5,800,000

Retained Earnings 310

50,000

1,097,300

1,047.300

Service Revenue 401

2,730,000
560,000
70,000

3,360,000

3,360,000

Utilities Expense 502

98,200

98,200

98,200

CE

CE

Prepaid Insurance 104

Feb 1 24,000
AJE 11,000
13,000
Accumulated Depreciation—
Equipment 112
AJE 400,000
400,000
Unearned Service
Revenue 202
Dec 15 125,600
AJE 70,000
55,600
Interest Payable 210
AJE 170,000
170,000
Common Stock 301
Jan 2 10,000,000
10,000,000
Dividends 320
Dec 30 50,000
50,000 50,000
Wage Expense 501
March 1 185,600
May 1 200,400
Oct 1 90,000
AJE 200,000
676,000 676,000
Selling Expense 503
May 24 42,500
42,500 42,500

Continued
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Administrative Expense 504

Repairs Expense 505

Aug 25 160,000 Sept 23 30,000
160,000 160,000 CE 30,000 30,000 CE
Insurance Expense 506 Supplies Expense 507
AJE 11,000 AJE 615,000
11,000 11,000 CE 615,000 615,000 CE
Depreciation Expense— Interest Expense 520
Equipment 510 June 1 60,000
AJE 400,000 AJE 170,000
400,000 400000 CE 230,000 230,000 CE
Income Summary 601
CE 2,262,700 3,360,000 CE
CE 1,097,300 1,097300  Balance
i. We present the post-closing trial balance for DS Wilson Company here.
DS Wilson Company
Post-Closing Trial Balance
At December 31
Account Debit Credit
Cash $ 7334,900
Accounts Receivable 2,780,000
Supplies 500,000
Prepaid Insurance 13,000
Equipment 8,000,000
Accumulated Depreciation—Equipment $ 400,000
Accounts Payable 955,000
Unearned Service Revenue 55,600
Wages Payable 200,000
Interest Payable 170,000
Notes Payable 5,800,000
Common Stock 10,000,000
Retained Earnings 1,047,300
Totals $18,627900  $18,627900
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John Foristall

As executive vice president and chief financial officer of ShoeBuy, John Foristall
oversees all aspects of corporate finance, including accounting and risk man-
agement, as well as other key operational areas including human resources and
the company’s warehouse operations, which is pivotal for the online retailer.
Launched in 2000, ShoeBuy is the world’s largest, most diverse shoe, clothing, and

accessories shopping site, with billions of dollars of inventory available for sale.

1 How often does ShoeBuy create internal financial reports, and
how does management use them?

As with most mature and growing businesses operating in a
competitive landscape, ShoeBuy must understand its financial
trajectory on a monthly—if not daily—basis. We use many
daily and weekly reports and dashboards providing real-time
data on key performance indicators to manage the business. We
also create formal internal financial reports for management
use monthly, quarterly, and annually. Management reviews
these financials, accompanied by written commentaries, and
discusses them monthly with the senior management team.
Because we are a subsidiary of a public parent company, we
also participate in the quarterly and annual public filing process.

On a macro level, we use our reports to gauge the financial
performance and financial position of the company compared
to previous periods and to our expectations (i.e., plan/fore-
cast). These reports also drive accountability throughout the
organization, providing a means to measure departmental per-
formance. For example, at monthly financial reviews, the Mer-
chandising team addresses the revenue performance of specific
brands and footwear categories.

2 What are the most important adjusting entries made at the end
of the accounting cycle and why?

The most significant end-of-cycle adjustment for ShoeBuy is
an entry to estimate future customer returns. ShoeBuy provides
a great customer experience by offering free shipping, both
outbound and for returns. While ShoeBuy’s return rate is well
below the industry average, future returns can have a material
impact on results, because our calendar-year reporting period
coincides with our peak holiday season. Predicting January
returns on sales from December (our biggest sale month) is a key

component of ShoeBuy’s year-end reporting process. Accurately
estimating these returns requires historical data and trends—and
given that ShoeBuy was founded more than 15 years ago, man-
agement can estimate this with a high degree of precision.

3 How do transactions flow through your accounting system?

ShoeBuy’s key ecommerce transaction is the sale of product—
footwear and related apparel. Online customers initiate pur-
chase orders via ShoeBuy.com, triggering many entries as each
order flows through our proprietary order fulfillment platform.
We record the majority of our orders upon shipment and then
recognize revenue and book the receivable. ShoeBuy’s receiv-
ables are primarily from credit card providers that are paid
within three to five days. Some ShoeBuy products ship directly
from the footwear partner to the consumer (a drop-ship model),
so shipment also triggers a payable to our footwear partners
as well as an expense and a payable to various operational
partners, such as shipping and marketing providers.

4 Are any adjusting entries reversed and if so, why?

At the beginning of any accounting period, ShoeBuy records
and reverses certain entries made in the immediately preceding
accounting period. They are used in situations where revenue
or expenses were accrued in the preceding period to avoid dou-
ble counting in the current period. Examples include our pay-
roll accrual for unpaid wages and unshipped product ordered
in the prior period.

5 What controls are in place to enhance the quality of the financial
information generated by your accounting cycle?

First, we ensure proper segregation of duties and levels of review,
ensuring that the Controller and CFO review and approve all
journal entries and checks. We have very robust dashboards and
scorecards allowing for detailed variance analysis to quickly
alert us to results that differ from expectations. For example, we
track revenue in a very granular fashion by using dashboards
showing revenue by brand, by category, and even by marketing
channel (e.g., did the customer come directly to ShoeBuy, via
Google, or via an email promotion). We have standing meetings,
such as our Monthly Financial Reviews, to discuss results and
accountability with the senior management team. Last, ShoeBuy
has monthly and quarterly calls with our parent company to dis-
cuss financial results as well as accounting and control updates.

Discussion Questions

1. John Foristall indicates that ShoeBuy’s receivables are pri-
marily from credit card sales. Discuss how the use of credit
card sales impact cash flows relative to using open trade
accounts receivable.

2. ShoeBuy uses reversing entries for events such as accrued
payroll at year-end. How would the company’s accounting
be affected if reversing entries were not made for payroll?
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Summary by Learning Objectives

In the following, we summarize the main points by learning objective. Throughout the chapter,
we discuss the accounting and reporting of U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This table also highlights the
major similarities and differences between the standards.

0 Describe the accounting cycle.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

The accounting cycle describes the process by which
companies record business transactions in their books, which
they ultimately aggregate and summarize in the financial
Kstatements.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

@ Explain transaction analysis, including the use of the accounting equation.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

A transaction is an economic event that involves a change in an
asset, a liability, or stockholders’ equity.

The accounting equation assesses the effects of transactions on
assets, liabilities, or stockholders’ equity:

Assets = Liabilities + Stockholders’ Equity

The expanded accounting equation includes income statement
items and dividends:

Assets = Liabilities + Contributed Capital +
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income +
Beginning Retained Earnings — Dividends Declared +
Revenues and Gains — Expenses and Losses

A double-entry system is one in which all transactions affect at
@ast two accounts and the accounting equation always holds.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

@ lllustrate journalizing transactions, including determining whether to debit or credit accounts.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Journalizing a transaction involves preparing a journal entry.
The common format includes:
a. The date the transaction occurred in first column.

b. Accounts that are debited are listed first and positioned to the
left side.

c. Accounts that are credited are recorded next and indented to the
right.
d. A brief explanation below the entry.

An account is an individual record of increases and decreases
in specific asset, liability, and stockholders’ equity items.

The terms debit and credit mean left and right, respectively.
Assets increase with a debit and decrease with a credit.

Liability and equity accounts increase with a credit and
decrease with a debit.

Revenues and gains are increases in equity; these accounts will
increase with credits.

Expenses and losses decrease equity, so they increase with a
debit. Similarly, dividends decrease equity, so they increase
with debits.

The normal balance of an account refers to its typical account
Qalance—debit or credit.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

9 Explain the importance of and show how to post journal entries to the general ledger.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Posting describes the transferring of information contained in
journal entries to the individual ledger accounts.

The general ledger contains all accounts maintained by

the company—with each account reflecting its increases,
decreases, and balance—in a single location for management
analysis.

The general ledger has a column for the date, explanation,
reference, debit, credit, and balance. The reference is the
general journal page number where the original journal entry
occurred.

T-accounts are used to depict the account. They have three main
parts:
a. The account title
b. A left (debit) side
C A right (credit) side

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

@ Explain the importance of and illustrate the preparation of an unadjusted trial balance.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

A trial balance is a listing of the accounts and their ending debit
or credit balances at a point in time. The balance sheet accounts
are listed first (assets, liabilities, and equity), followed by
dividends and the income statement accounts (revenues, gains,
expenses, and losses).

The trial balance provides a check on the recording process by
ensuring the equality of debits and credits. The trial balance
does not prove the accuracy of the recording process and will
not reveal whether:

e A transaction is not journalized.

e A correct journal entry is not posted.

e An entry is posted twice.

e |ncorrect accounts are used.

e An entry is made using incorrect dollar amounts.

An unadjusted trial balance may not reflect all of the events and
circumstances of the company because the adjusting journal

entries have not been made at the time the unadjusted trial
Qalance is compiled.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

@ Discuss the need for adjusting journal entries and explain deferrals and accruals.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Companies record adjusting journal entries (AJEs) at the end of
each accounting period to ensure that the financial statements
are presented under the accrual basis of accounting.

Deferral AJEs occur when cash is received or paid before the
revenue or expense is recognized in the financial statements.

e A deferred expense occurs when a cash payment is made before
an expense should appropriately be recognized in the financial
statements under accrual basis accounting.

e A deferred revenue occurs when cash is received before revenue
should appropriately be recognized in the financial statements
under accrual basis accounting.

Accrual AJEs are created when the economic event that gives
rise to accrual basis revenue or expense occurs before the cash
is received or paid.

e Accrued revenues occur when control of a good or service has
passed to the customer, but cash has not yet been received.

e Accrued expenses occur when expenses have been incurred, but
Kcash has not yet been paid out.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

6 Explain the use of and illustrate the preparation of an adjusted trial balance.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

An adjusted trial balance reflects all of the events and

circumstances of the company after it makes the adjusting

journal entries to check that the amount of debits equals the
Qmount of credits.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Summary by Learning Objectives, continued

@ Describe the preparation of the financial statements from the adjusted trial balance.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

From the account balances in the adjusted trial balance, the
company can prepare financial statements.

e The income statement is prepared first, using the revenue, gains,
losses, and expense accounts.

e The resulting net income for the period, along with the equity accounts,
is used to prepare the statement of stockholders’ equity.

e The balance sheet is prepared by including all assets, liabilities, com-
mon stock, and the ending retained earnings balance obtained from
K the statement of stockholders’ equity.

» Differences in the income statement are illustrated in
Chapter 5. Differences in the balance sheet are shown in
Chapter 6.

J

temporary accounts.

@ Explain the difference between permanent and temporary accounts and demonstrate the process of closing

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

Income statement accounts and dividends are temporary accounts. These
accounts must be reduced to a zero balance at the end of each period.

Closing is the process of zeroing out temporary accounts. In
addition to all of the income statement accounts, dividends is also a
temporary account and must be closed.

Permanent accounts are on the balance sheet. Permanent accounts
are not closed at the end of the period.

Four entries are required to close the temporary accounts:

1. Close out revenue and gain accounts: Debit each revenue and gain account
and credit income summary for the total of the accounts debited.

2. Close out expense and loss accounts: Debit income summary for total
of expenses and losses, and credit each expense and loss account for
its balance.

3. Close out income summary account: Debit income summary and credit
retained earnings for the amount of net income; conversely, credit income
summary and debit retained earnings for the amount of any net loss.

4. Close out dividends account: Debit retained earnings and credit divi-
dends for the period.

The income summary account facilitates the closing process and is
QOt included in the financial statements.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

J

@ Explain the importance of and illustrate the preparation of a post-closing trial balance.

Summary

Similarities and Differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS

A post-closing trial balance is prepared after all closing entries have

been journalized and posted. The post-closing trial balance proves

the equality of the debits and credits. The post-closing trial balance

contains only permanent (balance sheet) accounts, because all

temporary accounts were closed out before preparation of the post-
Kclosing trial balance and will have zero balances.

Similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Go to http://www.pearson.com/mylab/accounting for the following Questions, Multiple-
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Questions

Q4-1. Describe the accounting cycle.

Q4-2. What is the accounting equation and what does it demonstrate?

Q4-3. What is equity? What are the three components of shareholders’ equity? Explain each component.
Q4-4. When will retained earnings contain a positive balance? Negative balance?

Q4-5. Will all transactions have a dual effect on the accounting equation? Explain.

Q4-6. What do the terms debit and credit mean?

Q4-7. What is meant by the term normal balance? Provide the normal balance for assets, liabilities, and stockhold-
ers’ equity.

Q4-8. Why is the general journal referred to as the “book of original entry”’? How are transactions presented in the
journal?

Q4-9. Are account balances found in the general ledger? Explain.
Q4-10. What is the purpose of an unadjusted trial balance?

Q4-11. Explain the difference between the accrual basis of accounting and the cash basis of accounting? Which basis
is acceptable under U.S. GAAP? Explain.

Q4-12. Under the accrual basis of accounting, when do companies record deferrals and accruals?
Q4-13. Why are adjusting journal entries made? When do companies make these entries?
Q4-14. What is a deferred revenue? When will the full amount of the deferred revenue be recorded?

Q4-15. What is the purpose of the adjusted trial balance? What items are included in the adjusted trial balance?

QOOPE 00 ©® OO0 de

@ Q4-16. Which statements can be prepared from the adjusted trial balance? What must be done before preparing the
financial statements?

®

Q4-17. What are closing entries? Describe the four closing entries and their effects.

Multiple-Choice Questions

In partnership with:

Becker CPA Exam Review multiple-choice questions are available in

% \ B E C K E R MyLab Accounting.

PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION®

e@ MC4-1. Jefferson, CPAs provides accounting services for a client at a flat contract rate of $10,000 a month. The terms
of the contract include a required payment on the 15th day of each month for the prior month’s accounting
services. Assuming Jefferson, CPAs posts journal entries each month end, what is (are) the journal entry
(entries) posted on December 31?

a. Cash 10,000
Service Revenue 10,000

b. Cash 10,000
Accounts Receivable 10,000

c. Accounts Receivable 5,000

Cash 10,000
Service Revenue 15,000

d. Cash 10,000
Accounts Receivable 10,000

Accounts Receivable 10,000
Service Revenue 10,000

© 2014 DeVry/Becker Educational Development Corp. All rights reserved.
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MC4-2.

MC4-3.

MC4-4.

MC4-5.

MC4-6.

Gates Accounting Services (GAS), a sole proprietorship, entered into a new 18-month office space contract
on September 15, Year 1, paying the full $36,000 rent contract to the real estate compan